# REGULATION OF VASCULAR CELLS - TLR LIGAND AND GP130 CYTOKINES

# THE REGULATION OF VASCULAR WALL CELLS BY A TLR LIGAND AND GP130 CYTOKINES

# BY: DAVID SCHNITTKER,

### H.B.SC.KIN.

A Thesis Submitted to the School of Graduate Studies in Partial Fulfilment of the Requirements for the Degree Master of Science in Medical Sciences (MSMS)

McMaster University © Copyright David Schnittker, August 2012.

McMaster University MASTER OF SCIENCE (2012) Hamilton, Ontario (Medical Sciences)

TITLE:	The Regulation of Vascular Wall Cells by a TLR Ligand and gp130 Cytokines	
AUTHOR:	David L.K. Schnittker, Hons.B.Sc.Kin. (McMaster University)	
SUPERVISOR:	Dr. Carl D. Richards	
NUMBER OF PAGES:	xii, 175	

#### ABSTRACT

Atherosclerosis is a disease affecting the blood vessels that is inflammatory in nature, and plays an important role in cardiovascular disease (CVD), one of the leading causes of morbidity and mortality worldwide. Oncostatin M (OSM), a member of the IL-6/gp130 cytokine family, has been implicated in atherosclerosis both in mouse models and in humans. OSM synergizes with other stimuli in various systems to regulate cells. Infectious pathogens as well as danger associated host molecules stimulate members of the innate immune system, including Toll-like Receptors (TLRs), to respond in a proinflammatory manner to cause cell activation and cytokine release. Experiments were performed to determine whether OSM and LPS (a TLR-4 ligand) synergize in regulation of vascular wall cells *in vitro*.

Upon stimulation of Aortic Adventitial Fibroblasts from mice (MAAFs) and humans (HAoAFs) as well as Human Aortic Smooth Muscle Cells (HAoSMCs) with LPS in combination with OSM, it was determined that there was a synergistic increase in IL-6 and VEGF levels in the cell supernatants as measured by ELISA compared to either treatment alone. MAAFs were also able to synergistically express KC upon stimulation with LPS and OSM, while in HAoAFs and HAoSMCs, LPS induced IL-8 levels were supressed by OSM. These effects were unique to OSM among gp130 cytokine members, as treatment of these cells with LPS in combination with LIF, IL-6, IL-31, or IL-11 had no marked effects compared to LPS alone. Furthermore, MCP-1 steady state mRNA

iii

levels were elevated 6 hours post stimulation with LPS and OSM compared to either treatment alone in HAoAFs and HAoSMCs.

While OSM did not appear to modulate TLR-4 expression, OSM treatment resulted in an increased phosphorylation signal in STAT-1,-3, and -5, as well as Akt in MAAFs and HAoAFs. In addition, combined LPS and OSM stimulation resulted in an increased phosphorylation signal of the MAPK p38 compared to either treatment alone. Furthermore, a neutralizing antibody to the OSMr- $\beta$  was able to inhibit HAoAF IL-6 responses to PBMC conditioned medium. Together, these findings indicate that OSM and LPS can synergize *in vitro* to induce the expression of inflammatory factors in vascular wall cells, emphasizing the potential role of OSM, TLR-4 ligands, and adventitial fibroblasts in vascular inflammation.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my deepest gratitude and love to my entire family, and in particular my Mother, Father, and Brother Mark, and to my friends for their support.

I would very much like to thank my supervisor Dr. Carl D. Richards for his support, mentorship, patience, enthusiasm, and encouragement. I would also like to thank my supervisory committee members Dr. Ali Ashkar, and Dr. Bernardo Trigatti for their mentorship and counsel.

I would like to thank all the members of the Richards lab, who made it fun to come to the lab everyday, including Sean Lauber, Steven Wong, Jess Guerette, Rebecca Rodrigues, Celine Yeung, Graeme Richards and Christine Demers.

# Contents

CHAPTER 1 – INTRODUCTION	1
Arterial Anatomy	1
Atherosclerosis	2
Innate Immunity and TLR-4	4
TLR-4 and Atherosclerosis	7
Fibroblasts	10
Cytokines and Chemokines Implicated in Atherosclerosis	12
OSM	13
Signal Transducers and Activators of Transcription	15
MAPK and PI3K Signaling	17
OSM and Inflammation	20
Interleukin-6	22
Aims and Hypotheses	26
CHAPTER 2 – MATERIALS & METHODS	27
Cell Culture	27
ELISAs	28
Soluble CD14 treatments	28
Cell lysates & Immunoblots	29
RNA purification and analysis by real-time quantitative PCR (Taqman)	31
Flow Cytometry	32
Neutralizing Antibody Experiments	33
Statistical Analysis	34
CHAPTER 3 RESULTS PART 1	36
Synergistic IL-6 induction by MAAFS in response to LPS and OSM	36
Synergistic KC induction by MAAFS in response to LPS and OSM	37
Synergistic VEGF induction by MAAFS in response to LPS and OSM	38
TLR-3 ligand does not induce IL-6 in MAAFs	39
Synergistic IL-6 induction by RAAFS in response to LPS and OSM	39

Synergistic IL-6 induction by HAoAFs in response to LPS and OSM
OSM acts to inhibit LPS mediated IL-8 induction in HAoAFs
Enhanced VEGF in HAoAF supernatants in response to LPS and OSM
RNA Analysis
IL-6 Expression
IL-8 Expression
VEGF Expression 45
MCP-1 Expression
Synergistic IL-6 induction by HAoSMCs in response to LPS and OSM
OSM Suppresses LPS induced IL-8 induction in HAoSMCs
Synergistic VEGF induction by HAoSMCs in response to LPS and OSM 48
RNA Analysis
IL-6 Expression 49
IL-8 Expression 50
VEGF Expression 50
MCP-1 Expression
RESULTS PART 2
HAoAF IL-6 Response to LPS and/or soluble CD14
TLR-4 Expression is Not Altered by OSM Treatment
HAoAF OSMr-β Expression Levels
HAoSMC OSMr-β Expression Levels
Immunoblots
MAAFs – STAT Phosphorylation
MAAFs – Akt Phosphorylation
MAAFs – MAPK phosphorylation
MAAFs – NF-κB phosphorylation
HAoAFs – STAT phosphorylation
HAoAFs – Akt phosphorylation
HAoAFs – MAPK phosphorylation

RESULTS PART 3
LPS Stimulated PBMCs Produce IFN- $\gamma$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, and OSM
Anti-OSM neutralizing antibody does not alter IL-6 in HAoAFs treated CM . 62
Anti-OSMr-β neutralizing antibody inhibits IL-6 production in HAoAFs treated with LPS stimulated PBMC supernatants
FIGURES
CHAPTER 4 - DISCUSSION 113
Interleukin-6116
Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor (VEGF) 120
KC and IL-8 124
MCP-1
TLR-4 Expression
OSMr-β Expression
Cell Signaling
Neutralizing Antibodies to OSM and OSMr-β136
SUMMARY AND CONCLUDING REMARKS

# LIST OF FIGURES AND TABLES

Figure 1	
Figure 2	
Figure 3	
Figure 4	
Figure 5	
Figure 6	
Figure 7	
Figure 8	
Figure 9	
Figure 10	
Figure 11	86
Figure 12	
Figure 13	
Figure 14	
Figure 15	
Figure 16	
Figure 17	
Figure 18	
Figure 19	
Figure 20	
Figure 21	
Figure 22	
Figure 23	
Figure 24	

#### LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

A2AR: Adenosine A2A receptor

ADAM: A disintegrin and metalloprotease

Ang II: Angiotensin II

AP-1: Activator protein-1

ApoE: Apolipoprotein E

bFGF: Basic fibroblastic growth factor

CBP: CREB binding protein

CD: Cluster of differentiation

CLC: Cardiotrophin-like cytokine

CM: Conditioned medium

CNTF: Ciliary neurotrophic factor

COX-2: Cyclooxygenase-2

CREB: cAMP response elementbinding

CT-1: Cardiotrophin-1

CVD: Cardiovascular disease

DC: Dendritic cell

DNA: Deoxyribonucleic acid

E2F: E2 factor

eIF-4E: Eukaryotic translation initiation factor 4E

ELISA: Enzyme Linked Immunosorbent Assay Elk-1: E twenty-six (ETS)-like transcription factor 1

ENA-78: Epithelial neutrophil activating peptide

ERK: Extracellular signal-regulated kinase

FBS: Fetal bovine serum

Gab1: Grb2-associating binder 1

GM-CSF: Granulocyte-macrophage colony stimulating factor

GPL: gp130-like chain

Grb2: Growth Factor Receptor-Bound 2

GRO: Growth related cytokine

HAoAF: Human aortic adventitial fibroblast

HAoSMC: Human aortic SMC

HDAC: Histone deacetylase

HIF: Hypoxia inducible factor-1

HRE: Hypoxia response element

HRP: Horse-radish peroxidase

HSP60: Heat shock protein

ICAM: Intra-cellular adhesion molecule

**IFN: Interferon** 

Ig: Immunoglobulin

IKK: IkB kinase

IκB: Inhibitory κB

IL: Interleukin

IRAK: Interleukin-1-receptorassociated kinase

IRF: Interferon regulatory factor 3

JAK: Janus kinase

JH: JAK homology

JNK: c-Jun N-terminal kinase

KC: Keratinocyte derived cytokine

kDa: Kilo Dalton

LBP: Lipopolysaccharide binding protein

LDL: Low density lipoprotein

LIF: Leukemia inhibitory factor

LPS: Lipopolysaccharide

MAAF: Mouse aortic adventitial fibroblast

MAPK: Mitogen Activated Protein Kinase

MAPKK: MAPK Kinase

MAPKKK: MAPKK Kinase

MCP-1: Monocyte chemotactic protein-1

M-CSF: Monocyte colony stimulating factor

MEF: Myocyte enhancer factor

MEK: MAPK/ERK kinase

MD-2: Myeloid differentiation protein-2

MIP: Macrophage Inflammatory Protein

MMP: Matrix metalloproteinase

mmLDL: Minimally modified LDL

MNK: MAPK-interacting kinases

mRNA: Messenger RNA

MSK: Mitogen- and stress-activated kinase

MyD88: Myeloid differentiation primary response gene 88

NcoA/SRC1: Steroid receptor coactivator 1

NF-κB: Nuclear factor κB

NK: Natural killer

OSM: Oncostatin M

PAMP: Pathogen associated molecular patterns

PBMC: Peripheral blood mononuclear cell

PDGF: Platelet derived growth factor

PI3K: phosphatidylinositol 3'-kinase

Poly I:C: polyriboinosinic:polyribocytidylic acid

PRR: Pattern recognition receptors

PTB: Phospho-tyrosine-binding

RAAF: Rat Aortic Adventitial Fibroblast

RNA: Ribonucleic acid

ROS: Reactive oxygen species

RSK: Ribosomal S6 kinases

SH2: Src Homology 2

Shc: Src homology and collagen

SHP-2: SH2 domain–containing protein tyrosine phosphatase–2

SMC: Smooth Muscle Cell

STAT: Signal transducers and activators of transcription

TAB: TAK-binding protein

TAK: Transforming growth factor- $\beta$ -activated kinase

TF: Tissue factor

TIR: Toll/Interleukin-1 receptor

TLR: Toll-like receptors

**TNF:** Tumor Necrosis Factor

TRAF3: TNF receptor-associated factor 3

TRIF: TIR-domain-containing adapter-inducing interferon- $\beta$ 

Tyk-2: Tyrosine kinase-2

VCAM: Vascular cell adhesion molecule

VEGF: Vascular endothelial growth factor

#### CHAPTER 1 – INTRODUCTION

Atherosclerosis is a disease affecting the blood vessels that is inflammatory in nature [1,15,46], and involves both the acquired and the innate immune systems [2]. Atherosclerosis can begin in childhood [3], but typically does not present clinically until mid to late adulthood. It manifests as fatty, calcified, necrotic deposits that line the inside of arteries. Atherosclerosis is a major cause of cardiovascular diseases (CVD) [15,16], which include strokes and heart attacks [4]. CVD is one of the leading causes of morbidity [5] and mortality [6] worldwide. It is estimated that in 2008 the combined direct and indirect costs of CVD in the United States alone was 298 billion dollars, higher than any other disease [4], while in Canada the cost was 21 billion dollars [7]. In 2008, CVD was responsible for 811 940 deaths in the United States [4], and 69,500 deaths in Canada, accounting for 29 % of all deaths [7]. Furthermore, it is estimated that one half of Americans over the age of 45 have calcification (from atherosclerosis) in their coronary arteries [4]. Due to the prevalence of the disease, the burden on the healthcare system, and as a result of the mortality associated with this disease, the processes involved in the progression of atherosclerosis merit investigation. The current understanding of this disease will be discussed.

#### Arterial Anatomy

An artery is composed of three layers, each separated by a thin layer of elastic lamina. Adjacent to the lumen of the artery lays the first arterial layer: the intima. The tunica intima is composed of a monolayer of endothelial cells, and is

in direct contact with the blood [8]. Endothelial cells have multiple physiological roles including acting as a protective barrier against insults to the arterial wall, releasing nitric oxide (a potent vasodilator) [9], releasing endothelin-1 [10] (a potent vasoconstrictor), and regulating extravasation of cells [10].

The tunica media, separated from the intima by the internal elastic lamina, contains smooth muscle cells (SMCs) that participate in vasoconstriction and vasodilation. The SMCs are organized in a lamellar structure, and interwoven between the cells is elastin-rich extracellular matrix [8]. In normal, healthy arteries, there is little change in the amount of extracellular matrix production or SMC proliferation in the tunica media [8].

Progressing further away from the lumen, the external elastic lamina separates the tunica media and the tunica adventitia. Mainly fibroblasts, as well as mast cells, collagen, and adipocytes reside in the adventitial layer [8,11]. Nerve endings and the vasa vasorum penetrate the adventitia [8], providing the artery with its own stimulation and blood supply respectively. Bone marrow derived cells such as dendritic cells and macrophages can also be found in all layers of the blood vessel wall, and patrol for cellular debris and noxious stimuli [12,13,14].

#### **Atherosclerosis**

Atherosclerosis is the inflammatory process whereby fatty plaques develop in large or medium sized arteries [15,16]. Traditional risk factors include tobacco use [17,18], total cholesterol [19], hypertension [20], obesity [21],

physical inactivity [21], and diabetes [21]. The classical view of the atherosclerotic mechanism will be briefly outlined.

Endothelial damage is often initiated at sites of non-laminar and turbulent blood flow, especially at bifurcations in the blood vessel [22]. Endothelial damage results in altered endothelial function. Other causes of endothelial damage and/or dysfunction may include: free radicals caused by smoking [23,24], oxidized low density lipoproteins (LDL) [25], hypertension [26], and infectious microorganisms [27,8,28]. The adhesiveness of the endothelium is augmented as a result of activation of endothelial cells, caused by a variety of stimuli. Leukocytes, in particular monocytes [29], T cells [30], and neutrophils [271], are able to adhere due to an increase in expression of leukocyte adhesion molecules such as VCAM, ICAM, and P and E selectins on the endothelium at lesion sites [31,32].

Once adhered to the endothelium, chemokines such as MCP-1, and IL-8 attract leukocytes into the intima by binding to their receptors [33,34,35]. The cytokine M-CSF (Monocyte Colony Stimulating Factor) is known to play a role in the transformation of monocytes into macrophages once inside the intima [36]. M-CSF and GM-CSF also promote macrophage survival and proliferation [37] within the lesion. Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) is released by macrophages and induces monocyte migration, the pro-coagulant molecule tissue factor (TF) release [38], and increases vascular permeability [39], thus increasing the ease of access for additional monocytes to enter the plaque. Macrophages within the plaque upregulate the number of scavenger receptors that they express

on their surface [40], with one stimulus for this upregulation being M-CSF [41]. Scavenger receptors on macrophages recognize and internalize oxidized LDL, causing the macrophages to develop into foam cells [42] (so named due to their foamy appearance under the microscope).

Eventually, certain cells within the plaque including some macrophages, SMCs, and neutrophils, undergo cell death, resulting in a lipid filled, necrotic, calcified core [43,44,45]. This inflammatory process stimulates proliferation of SMCs, which migrate and surround the lesion [41,15]. SMCs produce collagen, which forms a fibrous cap overlying the plaque, beneath which resides the necrotic and fatty tissue [15,46]. Should this fibrous cap be degraded (by factors such as MMPs released by activated macrophages) or abraded, then the prothrombotic elements within the plaque can come into contact with blood, causing aggregation of platelets and thrombus formation.

T cells may also have a role, infiltrating the intima by adhering to vascular adhesion molecules, and undergoing diapedesis upon recognizing chemoattractants [16]. T cells are present in atherosclerotic lesions during all of the stages of atherogenesis [15,41]. They may participate in plaque development and progression by releasing cytokines and stimulating macrophages to release MMPs, cytokines, and tissue factor [16].

#### **Innate Immunity and TLR-4**

Pattern Recognition Receptors (PRRs) are important members of the innate immune system that recognize pathogen associated molecular patterns

(PAMPs) as well as alarmins (endogenous molecules that signal cell damage) [47]. Toll-like receptors (TLRs) are a group of PRRs that bind conserved bacterial, viral, fungal, and parasite-derived molecular patterns, as well as some endogenous molecules [48,49]. TLRs are type I transmembrane proteins, whose name was derived from the *Drosophila* protein with which the mammalian form shares sequence similarities. The extracellular portions of the receptors contain leucine rich repeats, while the intracellular components share homology with the IL-1 receptor [48]. TLRs are essential receptors of the innate immune system which recognize and defend against early infection [49].

In humans, 10 TLRs have been characterized [48], each binding specific ligands. The expression of these molecules appears to be relatively low as Visintin *et al.* measured only a few thousand TLRs being expressed on monocytes, and a few hundred being expressed on immature dendritic cells (DCs) [50]. Numerous cell types have been shown to express TLRs however, including airway and intestinal epithelial cells, adipocytes, cardiac myocytes, B cells, mast cells, NK cells, regulatory T cells, neutrophils, basophils and endothelial cells [48,49].

The TLR-4 signalling pathway is well characterized, and this receptor has been shown to bind various ligands. One TLR ligand is lipopolysaccharide (LPS) [51], an exterior cell membrane component of gram negative bacteria [47]. Two additional molecules are necessary for a sensitive response to LPS [48]. Before TLR-4 binds LPS, lipopolysaccharide binding protein (LBP), a lipid transferase, can bind LPS and catalyzes its transfer to CD14 [51]. CD14 is found both bound

to cell membranes of myeloid lineage cells and in its soluble form in circulation [52]. After LPS is transferred to CD14, it is then transported to the TLR-4/MD-2 receptor complex [53]. MD-2 was shown by Shimazu *et al.* [54] to be physically associated with the extracellular domain of TLR-4, and necessary for TLR-4 signalling to occur. Once LPS is bound to the TLR-4/MD-2 receptor complex, intracellular signalling pathways are activated that result in cytokine, IFN, and chemokine production. Upon binding LPS, TLR-4 molecules aggregate on the cell surface [55,56]. This allows for the interaction of the intracellular 'Toll/Interleukin-1 receptor' (TIR) domains, recruiting adaptor molecules to the receptor [55].

There are two signalling pathways downstream of TLR-4, each involving different adaptor molecules containing TIR domains [57]. The first is the MyD88 dependent pathway, and the second is the TRIF dependent pathway. There are several comprehensive reviews on intracellular TLR-4 signaling (See Brikos *et al.* [58], Newton *et al.* [59]). Briefly, upon activation, MyD88 interacts with the death domain of IRAK-4, a serine/threonine kinase [60]. This results in the recruitment of ubiquitin protein ligases, which in turn recruit the kinase TAK-1 [62]. TAK-1 initiates two pathways, the first by activating the IKK complex. The IKK complex phosphorylates I $\kappa$ B- $\alpha$ , mediating its degradation, thereby exposing NF- $\kappa$ B's nuclear localisation sequence [61]. The second pathway initiated by TAK-1 is the MAPK pathway. TAK1 has been shown to phosphorylate members of the

MAPKK family, which then phosphorylate the MAPKs ERK 1/2, JNK, and p38 [62].

The TRIF dependent pathway activates NF- $\kappa$ B in a delayed manner compared to the MyD88 pathway [63]. A key signaling molecule downstream of TRIF is TNF receptor-associated factor 3 (TRAF3), which upon binding TRIF can cause the activation of Interferon regulatory factor 3 (IRF3) [64]. The TRIF signaling pathway is necessary for TLR-4 induced IFN production [64].TLR4 activation results in increased expression of numerous molecules implicated in inflammation, including IL-12, IL-6, MCP-1, IL-8 and TNF- $\alpha$  [59,232].

#### **TLR-4 and Atherosclerosis**

TLR-4 has been implicated in atherogenesis through its production of proinflammatory cytokines, chemokines, and interferons. Xu *et al.* [65] performed a study demonstrating by immunohistochemistry that aortic tissue from ApoE-/mice, but not control C57BL/6J mice, displayed TLR-4. This TLR-4 was expressed by plaque macrophages. Furthermore, on human atherosclerotic aortic tissue samples, the same phenomenon of TLR-4 expression by macrophages was observed [65]. In addition, TLR-4 mRNA expression by monocyte derived macrophages was increased *in vitro* in response to oxidized LDL [65]. As atherosclerotic plaques are laden with oxidized LDL [46], increased expression of TLR-4 provides a receptive environment for initiating and propagating an inflammatory response in the presence of an appropriate ligand. There is ample evidence that bacteria and viruses are found in atherosclerotic tissue

[27,8,66,28,28, 67, 68, 69,70], as are oxidized lipids [15], and thus could act as ligands to TLRs.

In another study, minimally modified LDL (mm-LDL) was shown to bind to CD14, resulting in TLR-4 mediated macrophage spreading and actin polymerization [71]. Macrophage spreading is known to result in increased oxidized LDL uptake by macrophages [71] and thus this study also connected TLR-4 function with a known part of the atherosclerotic process. Similarly, Walton *et al.* [72] demonstrated that IL-8 production (a chemokine involved in attracting neutrophils [73], and potentially monocytes [265]) was increased when mm-LDL was recognized by TLR-4 on aortic endothelial cells. Increased expression of bothTLR-4 and TLR-2 was also seen on cultured human aortic endothelial cells in response to treatment with P. Gingivalis [74], a bacterium which has been implicated in atherosclerosis.

Besides being upregulated on macrophages and endothelial cells, TLR-4 is also expressed by vascular smooth muscle cells [75]. Yang *et al.* [75] completed a study involving TLR-4 receptors on vascular SMCs. They first demonstrated that human aortic SMCs produce mRNA for CD14, MD-2, and TLR-4, and that the TLR-4 mRNA levels were comparable to those produced by human monocytes. They then demonstrated that when human aortic SMCs were treated with LPS *in vitro*, there was significant IL-6 and MCP-1 production, and this production was further increased when soluble CD14 was included in the treatment [75]. Furthermore, treatment of murine aortic SMCs with LPS and

CD14 *in vitro* caused phosphorylation of ERK1/2, activation of NF- $\kappa$ B, production of MCP-1, and increased production of TLR-2 mRNA [75]. The authors concluded that vascular SMCs may participate in the inflammatory process involved in atherosclerosis by releasing chemokines and cytokines that are regulated by TLR-4 [75].

There are also several direct links between TLR-4 signalling and the development of atherosclerosis. Studies have demonstrated that certain human subjects, whose response to LPS is blunted as a result of a TLR-4 polymorphism where aspartic acid at position 299 is replaced by a glycine, present with decreased atherosclerosis [76,77]. Animal models have also been used to determine the effect of TLR-4 on atherosclerosis. Michelsen *et al.* [78] used hyperlipidemic, atherosclerotic prone ApoE knockout mice that were also deficient in either TLR-4 or MyD88 to monitor the effects of TLR-4 signalling on atherosclerosis *in vivo*. They discovered that lesion size was markedly decreased in both the TLR-4 and MyD88 null mice, in spite of elevated cholesterol levels [78]. Circulating levels of MCP-1 in the serum of MyD88 and TLR-4 null mice, and IL-12 detected in the serum of MyD88 null mice were significantly reduced compared to the control ApoE KO mice [78].

A similar study also demonstrated that atherosclerosis was decreased in ApoE and MyD88 null mice compared to ApoE null mice alone [79]. The authors demonstrated using a DNA microarray that the levels of leukocyte attracting chemokines macrophage chemotactic protein-1 (MCP-1), MCP-2, MCP-3, Gro-

1/KC, macrophage inflammatory protein-1 $\beta$  (MIP-1 $\beta$ ), and MIP-1 $\gamma$  were much lower in MyD88 knockout mice than control mice [79]. These two studies indicate that TLR-4 and MyD88 signalling have a direct, pro-inflammatory role in the progression of atherosclerosis in mouse models.

#### **Fibroblasts**

As the evidence above suggests, there is a growing body of knowledge that links innate immunity (specifically TLR-4) and atherosclerosis. The presence of TLR-4 on endothelial cells [72], macrophages [71], and vascular SMCs [75] has been well characterized. Fibroblasts that are located in the vascular adventitia are vascular walls cells that have historically been ignored, but are beginning to be recognized for their potential role in vascular inflammation [80].

There is evidence to suggest that fibroblasts in general are mediators in inflammatory disease progression. Fibroblast activation occurs in numerous chronic inflammatory conditions such as venous ulcers, granulomas, hypertrophic scarring, and fibrosis of the lungs and kidneys [81]. This activation results in chemo-attraction of leukocytes and an inflammatory environment [81]. One study correlated adventitial cellular infiltration (a sign of inflammation) with the degree of atherosclerosis in the artery [82]. A study by Scott *et al.* [83] was carried out on a porcine model to investigate lesion formation in coronary arteries after injury caused by balloon angioplasty. Three days after vascular injury, adventitial cells showed significant proliferation, while intimal and medial cells were dormant. The authors concluded that on day seven after injury, the cells that had

accumulated in the neointima were adventitial cells [83]. Furthermore, the vascular lesion formation was putatively enhanced by the PDGF (a chemoattractant and mitogen for SMCs and fibroblasts) that was released from the fibroblasts in the adventitia [83].

Adventitial fibroblasts and medial SMCs have also been shown to produce reactive oxygen species (ROS) in rabbit aortas [84]. This implicates fibroblasts in atherosclerosis as ROS play two well known roles in atherosclerosis. First, ROS can oxidize LDL [85], which can result in its uptake by macrophages [42], and second, ROS can damage endothelial cells [25], which can result in leukocyte adhesion molecule expression [32]. Chemokine and cytokine production has also been demonstrated in adventitial fibroblasts, further suggesting their role in the inflammation occurring in vascular plaques. Tieu *et al.* [86] demonstrated by immunofluorescence that IL-6 and MCP-1 were present in the aortic adventitia in close proximity to fibroblasts upon subcutaneous infusion of mice with Angiotensin II. This infusion resulted in adventitial growth, macrophage recruitment, and aortic dissections, all of which were diminished in IL-6 null or CCR2 (the receptor for MCP-1) null mice [86].

*In vitro*, human aortic adventitial fibroblasts were co-cultured with either monocytes from a human leukemia monocytic cell line, or with primary human blood monocytes. In both cases, monocytes differentiated into macrophages, and IL-6 production was increased compared to when fibroblasts and monocytes were cultured separately [86]. MCP-1 and MMP-9 production were also increased in

these co-cultures, as were CD14 and CD11b expression by macrophages [86]. In two separate studies it was confirmed that in ApoE knockout mice, mMCP-1 mRNA was expressed in developing lesions by mesenchymal adventitial cells prior to mMCP-1 mRNA expression in the intima [87,88]. Expression of mMCP-1 was increased in both the adventitia and the intima as the lesion became more severe [88]. Furthermore, early proliferation of adventitial fibroblasts and collagen synthesis by these cells was observed [88]. These studies support the role of fibroblasts in the early stages of atherosclerosis [87,88].

Of particular importance to this thesis, Vink *et al.* [89] discovered that human adventitial fibroblasts express TLR-4, and that stimulation of these fibroblasts *in vitro* with LPS induced cytokine mRNA expression and NF- $\kappa$ B activation. Therefore, although traditionally neglected in the study of atherosclerosis, there is evidence to suggest that adventitial fibroblasts can perform a role in inflammation and the development of CVD.

#### **Cytokines and Chemokines Implicated in Atherosclerosis**

The advent of the ApoE -/- and LDLr -/- mice have provided valuable tools for studying atherosclerosis in mouse models *in vivo*. When these mice are fed a high fat and/or cholesterol diet, they are unable to efficiently clear circulating cholesterol. This results in the development of significant atherosclerotic plaques that resemble human plaques [90,91]. Crossing these mice with other strains of either transgenic or knockout (KO) mice has led to the discovery of numerous genes that play a role in atherosclerosis in these models.

MCP-1, which is a monocyte chemoattractant [277], was knocked out of mice that were then crossed with LDLr -/- mice. These double mutants presented with 83% less lipid accumulation in aortic plaques compared to LDLr -/- mice that were wild-type for the MCP-1 alleles [92]. TNF- $\alpha$  KO mice that were crossed with ApoE KO mice were found have 50% reduced lesion size compared to ApoE KO mice alone [93]. In addition, upon administering soluble TNF receptor to ApoE KO mice, there was found to be a 75% reduction in relative lesion size [93], implicating TNF- $\alpha$  in disease progression.

IL-1 is another pro-inflammatory cytokine that has been shown to induce cytokine and chemokine production, and increase the expression of leukocyte adhesion molecules on endothelial cells [94]. To determine the role of IL-1 in a model of atherosclerosis, ApoE KO mice were fed a high cholesterol diet, and the treatment group was administered the soluble IL-1-receptor. These mice presented with significantly smaller atherosclerotic lesions compared to control animals [95]. Similar studies have been performed with numerous other factors, including M-CSF [96], VEGF [97], and IFN- $\gamma$  [98]. These studies suggest that there are numerous factors that may be involved in atherosclerotic plaque progression. Although there are not currently OSM KO strains of mice available, OSM is another cytokine that has been implicated in the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis.

#### **OSM**

Oncostatin M (OSM) is a 28 kDa cytokine that is released primarily by macrophages and T lymphocytes [99,100]. Other cells of the immune system

including eosinophils [101], mast cells [102], dendritic cells [103], and neutrophils [104] are also capable of OSM production. The human gene encoding OSM is located on chromosome 22q12 [105], while the mouse OSM gene is located on chromosome 11 [106]. The protein consists of four main helices (termed A through D); two pairs of helices that are anti-parallel in nature [107].

Oncostatin M is a member of the gp130 family of cytokines that also includes leukemia inhibitory factor (LIF), IL-6, IL-11, IL-27, IL-31 cardiotrophin-1 (CT-1), cardiotrophin-2 (CT-2), ciliary neurotrophic factor (CNTF), and cardiotrophin-like cytokine (CLC) [108,109]. Gp130 cytokine family members engage receptor complexes that include the gp130 signal transduction sub-unit with the exception of IL-31 which uses the gp130-like (GPL) chain. The mechanism by which OSM initiates signaling first involves its site 2 epitope, which contains 4 essential residues located on the A and C helices of OSM [107] binding to the cell surface gp130 ( $\alpha$ ) chain with low affinity [111]. The OSM:gp130 heterodimer then associates in human cells with either the LIFr $\beta$ [110] or the OSMr $\beta$  [111]. The phenylalanine and lysine amino acid pair located at the N-terminal region of helix D of OSM interacts with either the LIFr $\beta$  or the OSMr<sup>β</sup>, thus forming either an OSM:gp130:LIFr<sup>β</sup> or an OSM:gp130:OSMr<sup>β</sup> complex [107]. Although in humans OSM can bind to the OSMRB and LIFRB, in mice OSM can only bind the OSMR $\beta$  [108].

Associated with the intracellular domains of the individual receptor subunits are Janus kinase (JAK) molecules [121]. Four JAKs have been identified:

Tyrosine kinase (Tyk 2), and JAKs 1-3. JAKs 1, 2 and Tyk2 are ubiquitously expressed, while JAK 3 is present primarily in hematopoietic lineages [121]. JAKs are composed of 7 JAK homology (JH) regions, where JH1 is the canonical tyrosine kinase domain located at the carboxy terminus, while the amino terminus (JH4-7) has been shown to be necessary for interacting with the intracellular domains of cell surface receptors [112]. JAKs associate with the membrane proximal box 1 and box 2 that are found on the gp130, the LIFr $\beta$ , and the OSMr $\beta$ subunits [112]. Box 1 is an eight amino-acid proline rich motif, and box 2 is a hydrophobic followed by positively charged amino acid cluster [113]. JAKs become activated (tyrosine phosphorylated [114,108,115]) upon receptor dimerization through trans or auto-phosphorylation [116,117]. Receptor dimerization occurs as a result of the receptor binding the OSM ligand. Upon activation, JAKs phosphorylate tyrosine residues on the cytoplasmic portion of the receptor, which act as docking sites for molecules that contain Src Homology 2 (SH2) domains [108,118,119]. OSM has been shown to activate STATs 1,3,5 [147], and 6 [120].

#### Signal Transducers and Activators of Transcription

Signal transducers and activators of transcription (STAT) molecules are a family of transcription factors that contain an SH2 domain at their C-termini and are known to act downstream of JAKs. Members of this family include STAT-1 ( $\alpha$ , and  $\beta$ , which occur as a result of differential splicing), STAT-2 [121], STAT-3, STAT-4, STAT-5a, STAT-5b, and STAT-6 [113]. STAT molecules are

ubiquitously expressed [113] with the exception of STAT-4, which is found primarily in the testis and in myeloid cells [122]. One of the functions of the SH2 domains on STATs is to mediate binding to phosphorylated tyrosine residues of the intracellular receptor motifs [118,123]. The association of a STAT molecule with the receptor allows JAK molecules to phosphorylate tyrosine residues on the STAT [124]. The STAT then dissociates from the receptor and homo- or heterodimerize with another phosphorylated STAT molecule. The SH2 domains on the STATs mediate the dimerization through recognition of the phosphorylated tyrosine motifs [125]. This dimerization is essential for DNA binding to occur [125].

The DNA binding domain of STATs is localized to amino acids 400 to 500 of the approximately 750-amino-acid-long proteins [126], and this sequence is highly conserved among the STATs [113]. Studies have demonstrated that STATs bind palindromic sequences of DNA with different numbers of base pair spacers. STAT 1 preferentially binds the sequence (5'-TTCN3GAA-3') with 3 base pair spacers [127], STAT 3 preferentially binds the sequence (5'-TTN4AA-3') with 4 base pair spacers [128], STAT-6 preferentially binds the sequence (5'-TTCN4GAA-3') with 4 base pair spacers [127], while the other STATs in general bind sequences with 5 base pair spacers (5'-TTN5AA-3') [128]. In addition STATs have been shown to interact with several non-STAT transcription factors including p48 [129], CREB [130], and c-Jun [131] which may increase the number of genes that STATs can transcribe [129]. Studies have also demonstrated that STAT molecules 1 [132], 3 [133], and 5 [132] can be phosphorylated on serine residues. Serine phosphorylation can alter nuclear localisation and increase stability of DNA binding [132,133].

#### MAPK and PI3K Signaling

OSM binding either of its receptors can also activate mitogen activated protein kinase (MAPK) signalling [134]. All eukaryotic cells are capable of MAPK signaling, and given this fact, it is not surprising that these kinases regulate various processes including metabolism, motility, survival, apoptosis, differentiation, and gene expression [135]. The best studied MAPKs include ERK 1/2, JNK (1, 2, and 3), and p38 ( $\alpha$ , $\beta$ , $\gamma$ , and  $\delta$  isoforms). Although activators of these kinases are numerous, generally ERK 1 and 2 are thought to be activated by growth signals and phorbol esters, while p38 and JNK are recruited in response to stressful stimuli such as radiation and cytokines [135]. The MAPKs are activated via phosphorylation of both a threonine and tyrosine residue situated in the activation loop of kinase subdomain VIII [135].

Following phosphorylation of tyrosine residues on the intracellular component of the receptor complex, the adaptor proteins 'SH2 domain–containing protein tyrosine phosphatase–2' (SHP-2) and 'Src homology and collagen' (Shc) proteins become activated. SHP-2 associates with phospho-tyrosine 759, the second tyrosine from the cell membrane of 6 tyrosine residues present on the gp130 chain, but does not bind to the OSMr  $\beta$  [136]. Shc was shown not to bind gp130, but to bind the OSMr $\beta$  on Tyr 861 via its phospho-tyrosine-binding (PTB)

domain [136]. The PTB domain of Shc binds both phosphorylated tyrosine residues and acidic phospholipids [137].

Once SHP-2 and Shc become phosphorylated, this can lead the activation of Ras, a small GTP binding protein [138]. Ras then activates one of the MAPKKK molecules. For ERK 1/2 signaling, Ras activates Raf at the cell membrane [139]. Raf, a serine/threonine MapKKK [139] then phosphorylates the dual functional serine/threonine and tyrosine MAPKKs MEK1 and MEK 2 [140], which then cause threonine and tyrosine phosphorylation of ERK 1/2 [141]. ERK has been shown to activate numerous molecules including membrane proteins (ex. Syc), scaffolding proteins, nuclear substrates (ex. Elk-1, *egr-1*, STAT3, c-Myc, MEF2, and c-Fos) [135,142,151], and various members of the 'MAPK-activated protein kinases' (MK) family including ribosomal S6 kinases (RSKs), mitogenand stress-activated kinases (MSKs), and the MAPK-interacting kinases (MNKs) [135].

C-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK) is another MAPK that is activated by OSM. JNKs 1, 2, and 3 can yield 46 and 54 kDa polypeptides based on differential splicing at the C-terminus, although currently the difference in action between the two splice variants is unknown [143]. There are numerous MAPKKK that have been shown to activate both p38 and JNK, although whether any of these are activated by gp130 cytokines is currently unclear. Examples include MEKK 1-4, ASK1, TAK1, TAO1/2, and MLK2 [135]. The MAPKKs that have been shown to dually phosphorylate JNK are MKKs 4 and 7, with MKK 4

phosphorylating the tyrosine residue, while MKK 7 phosphorylates the threonine residue [144].

Activation of the third MAPK p38 generally occurs as a result of cell stressors, and most stimuli that activate JNK also activate p38 [135]. p38 is dually threonine and tyrosine phosphorylated by MEK 3 and 6 [145]. Cells that have been shown to activate p38 in response to OSM include vascular smooth muscle cells [146], mouse lung fibroblasts [147], and human cardiac myocytes and fibroblasts [148]. JNK and p38 activation results in transcription of *c-fos* genes, which then hetero-dimerize with Jun proteins to form an AP-1 transcription factor [149], which regulates numerous processes including cellular differentiation, proliferation, survival, and death [150].

SHP-2 also plays a role in phosphatidylinositol 3'-kinase (PI3K) signaling. As mentioned previously, SHP-2 binds to Tyrosine 759 on gp130 and becomes phosphorylated. This provides a binding site for Grb2-associating binder 1 (Gab1) and Gab 2, which are 110 and 100 kDa adaptor/scaffold proteins respectively [151,152]. Gab 1 and 2 interact with the p85 subunit of PI3K [151]. PI3K induces the PIP2 to become PIP3 via the addition of a phosphate group, resulting in PDK1 localizing to the plasma membrane and activating Akt [153]. In addition, studies have shown that the complex of SHP-2:Gab1:PI3K can enhance ERK activation [152], indicating that the MAPK and PI3K pathways are not completely independent.

#### **OSM and Inflammation**

OSM was originally discovered in the supernatants of histiocytic lymphoma cells stimulated with the phorbol ester PMA [154]. Since then, several different stimuli have been shown to elicit OSM expression. Murine OSM mRNA is induced in response to STAT-5 activation by IL-2, IL-3, and Erythropoietin [155]. In humans, GM-CSF stimulation caused OSM mRNA and protein production in neutrophils via activation of STAT-5 [104,156]. Viral infections such as HIV have been shown to induce OSM production in humans [157,158], and OSM was expressed by macrophages upon stimulation with the complement component C5a [159]. Interestingly, LPS induced transcription and release of OSM protein in human neutrophils [104] and in human monocytes *in vitro* [103,160]. In addition, Suda *et al.* [103] performed a study which demonstrated that human peripheral blood monocyte derived dendritic cells, when stimulated with LPS produced a significant amount of OSM mRNA and protein.

The effects of OSM within the body are numerous and diverse. Depending on the context of its release, this cytokine can have various biological functions including roles in growth and development, tumour suppression, hematopoiesis, and inflammation [108]. This report focuses primarily on the inflammatory characteristics of OSM.

Like other members of the IL-6 family, Oncostatin M caused the release of acute phase proteins from hepatic cells [161], and septic shock patients had a ten fold increase in OSM production [162], implicating this cytokine in

inflammatory responses. Increased OSM expression has been implicated in inflammatory diseases such as rheumatoid arthritis, as its detection has been correlated with white blood cell infiltration into the synovium [163], and has also been shown to alter the expression of MMPs and TIMPs in various cell types [164,165].

In terms of its effects on vascular cells, OSM was shown to stimulate rabbit vascular SMC proliferation [166]. Wijelath et al. [167] demonstrated that treating bovine aortic endothelial cells with OSM resulted in basic fibroblastic growth factor (bFGF) production, as well as endothelial cell proliferation and migration. This suggests that angiogenesis after vascular injury could be mediated by OSM [167]. OSM also induced expression of leukocyte adhesion molecules such as P- and E-selectin, ICAM-1, and VCAM-1 on human umbilical vein endothelial cells [168]. In the same study, treating monolayered endothelial cells with OSM caused increased adhesion of polymorphonuclear cells and a ten fold increase in migration across the monolayer by these cells *in vitro* [168]. OSM stimulation did not result in IL-8 expression, but did result in the expression of other CXC chemokines: epithelial neutrophil activating peptide-78 (ENA-78), and growth related cytokine (GRO)  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  [168]. Interestingly, GRO  $\beta$ , the human homolog of murine MIP-1 $\alpha$  [169], is involved in vascular inflammation [170], and appears to be downstream of MyD88 signalling as well [79]. Brown et al. [171] demonstrated that OSM induced IL-6 mRNA and protein expression in human endothelial cells, and several other cell types have been shown to produce

IL-6 in response to OSM stimulation [172,173]. In addition, OSM synergised with TNF- $\alpha$  to augment IL-6 production in human endothelial cells still further [171]. Bernard *et al.* [174] treated aortic smooth muscle cells (SMCs) with OSM and demonstrated a concentration dependent increase of IL-6 production with increasing OSM stimulation.

Observations in the Richards' laboratory indicated that by immunohistochemistry, OSM was present in the vascular intima, media, and adventitia of atherosclerotic lesions in ApoE(-/-) mice (unpublished data). Furthermore, human plaque macrophages and SMCs were shown to express OSM by immunohistochemistry [175]. Thus the presence of OSM in atherosclerotic plaques and its ability to induce inflammation suggest that it may participate in the atherosclerotic process, however its role merits further investigation, especially in the context of other inflammatory stimuli.

#### Interleukin-6

Interleukin-6 (IL-6) is a member of the gp130 family, and like OSM, is a pleiotropic cytokine. It exerts effects on the nervous system, the endocrine system, the immune system, and also has roles in inflammation, hematopoiesis, and bone metabolism [151]. In humans the *IL*-6 gene is located on chromosome 7p21 [176], while in mice it is located on chromosome 5 [151]. A number of potential promoter sequences have been identified upstream of the *IL*-6 gene, including a c-fos serum-responsive element homolog, a nuclear factor for IL-6 expression (NF-IL6) binding site, a cyclic AMP-responsive element, an NF-kB

binding site, and an AP-1 binding site [151]. The protein structure is conserved among gp130 family members, and consists of four  $\alpha$ -helices arranged in pairs that are anti-parallel [177]. In addition, the IL-6 protein can be modified posttranscriptionally via serine phosphorylation [178], and it has two potential sites for N-linked glycosylation [179].

The classical IL-6 signalling mechanism is similar to that which occurs in OSM signalling. However, unlike OSM which first binds the gp130 chain, IL-6 binds to the IL-6-receptorα (IL-6r), which then heterodimerizes with a gp130 subunit [180,181]. Two of these IL-6/IL-6r/gp130 complexes associate, forming a functional hexameric IL-6 signalling complex [180]. The JAKs that associate with the cytoplasmic component of the gp130 subunits trans-phosphorylate one another, and the tyrosine docking sites on the gp130 subunits [151,42]. These sites are bound by molecules that contain SH2 domains [108,118,119]. In response to IL-6, STATs 1, 3 and 5 [182,183] bind to the docking sites, become phosphorylated by Jaks, and migrate to the nucleus where they initiate transcription (see 'Signal Transducers and Activators of Transcription' above). MAPK signaling is also activated by IL-6, and is mediated by SHP-2 binding to phospho-tyrosine 759 on the gp130 chain (see 'MAPK and PI3K Signaling' above).

The IL-6r is also found as a soluble protein (sIL-6r). The sIL-6r can be generated in one of two ways; it can be differentially spliced, resulting in a form of the IL-6r that lacks the trans-membrane and cytoplasmic domains [184], or the
IL-6r can undergo proteolytic cleavage by 'a disintegrin and metalloprotease' (ADAM) 10 and ADAM 17 [185]. Due to the fact that gp130 is a ubiquitously expressed protein, IL-6 can bind to the sIL-6r and activate cells that do not express membrane bound IL-6r in a mechanism termed 'trans-signaling' [186].

IL-6 has numerous physiological functions, one of which is participating in inflammatory responses. There is evidence to suggest that IL-6 plays a role in vascular inflammation. Angiotensin II (Ang II) induced vascular injury, inflammation and is believed to play a role in atherosclerosis [187]. Ang II induced IL-6 through activation of the NFkB transcription factor [188]. Data from Tieu et al. [86] demonstrated that IL-6 null mice showed significantly reduced rates of aortic dissections upon subcutaneous injection of Ang II compared with wild type mice. The localization of IL-6 production in the vascular wall of wildtype mice was greatest within the adventitial layer [86]. Furthermore, only wildtype and not IL-6 deficient murine macrophages were positive for phospho-STAT-3, indicating the role of IL-6 in macrophage activation in these models of vascular inflammation [86,42]. Upon co-culturing human aortic adventitial fibroblasts with peripheral blood monocytes, IL-6, MCP-1, and MMP-9 levels were detected [189]. In addition, these same peripheral blood monocytes were induced to differentiate into macrophages during the co-culture [86]. The authors concluded that the Ang II was mediating vascular inflammation and aortic dissections through the effects of IL-6 [86].

In a separate study, both ApoE deficient and wild type C57Bl/6 mice on high fat diets that were injected with IL-6 had a 1.9-5.1 fold increase in atherosclerotic lesion size over mice injected with saline solution [190]. Similarly, circulating IL-6 levels were found to correlate significantly with calcified aortic plaques in individuals with diabetes [191]. Importantly, IL-6 was discovered in atherosclerotic coronary artery samples [192]. IL-6 can also increase leukocyte adhesion molecules expression and chemokine production (specifically MCP-1 and IL-8) by human endothelial cells [193,194]. In cases of infection, IL-6 appears to play a role in up-regulating the procoagulant prothrombin molecules F1 and 2 (by-products in thrombin generation (indicating the presence of thrombin)) [195]. In summary, there is evidence to suggest that IL-6 can play a role in vascular inflammation.

# Aims and Hypotheses

**Overall Goal:** To determine whether gp130 cytokines can exacerbate TLR-activated inflammation in atherosclerosis.

**Hypothesis 1:** TLR-4 ligands regulate vascular wall cells and synergize with OSM in stimulating cells *in vitro*.

**AIM 1:** To assess cytokine and chemokine expression *in vitro* by *mouse* aortic adventitial fibroblasts (MAAFs) in response to TLR-4 ligand or OSM, alone and in combination.

**AIM 2:** To determine if *human* aortic adventitial fibroblasts (HAoAFs) are regulated by TLR ligands and synergize with OSM *in vitro* to produce pro-inflammatory cytokine and chemokine mRNA and protein.

**AIM 3)** To determine whether *human* aortic smooth muscle cells (HAoSMCs) are regulated by TLR ligands and synergize with OSM *in vitro* to produce proinflammatory cytokine and chemokine mRNA and protein.

**Hypothesis 2:** The mechanism of TLR-ligand/OSM synergy involves dependent up-regulation of TLRs or OSM receptors.

**AIM 4)** To determine whether the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines is associated with an increased expression of TLRs by OSM, or OSMr by TLR-ligands.

**AIM 5**) To determine whether the OSM-induced or the TLR-4-induced signalling pathways are amplified upon co-stimulation.

**Hypothesis 3:** OSM can modulate vascular wall cell activity in the presence of other physiologically relevant pro-inflammatory cytokines.

**AIM 6)** To determine whether the application of neutralizing antibodies to OSM or one of its receptors can modulate HAoAF cell activity upon stimulation with peripheral blood mononuclear cell (PBMC) conditioned medium.

### **CHAPTER 2 – MATERIALS & METHODS**

# Cell Culture

C57Bl/6 mouse aortic adventitial fibroblasts (MAAFs) were generated previously in the laboratory, and rat aortic adventitial fibroblasts were received as a generous gift from Dr. Hui Di Wang (Brock University). MAAFs were cultured in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium, containing 10% heat inactivated Fetal Bovine Serum (FBS), 1% Penicillin Streptomycin, 0.1% L-Glutamine, and 0.1% Fungizone (all from Life Technologies, Carlsbad, CA) at 37°C in 5% CO<sub>2</sub> conditions. Experiments were performed on cells between passages 5-12, and expanded 1:5 in T150 culture flasks (Becton Dickinson (BD) and Company, Franklin Lakes, NJ).

Human Aortic Adventitial Fibroblasts (HAoAFs) and Human Aortic Smooth Muscle Cells (HAoSMCs) were purchased from Lonza Group Ltd. (Basel, Switzerland), and were cultured in Stromal Cell Growth Medium or Smooth Muscle Growth Medium-2 (Lonza Group Ltd.) respectively according to the manufacturer's instructions in 5% FBS, at 37°C in 5% CO<sub>2</sub> conditions . Experiments were performed on cells between passages 3-8, and expanded 1:3 in T150 culture flasks (BD and Company). HAoAFs were primary cells that were isolated from a 19 year old female patient, and HAoSMCs were primary cells that were isolated from a 36 year old male patient. Both patients passed away from a cause other than vascular disease.

# **ELISAs**

For assessment to responses to stimuli, cells were seeded at 10 000 cells/cm<sup>2</sup> into 96 well plates. The cells were serum deprived in media containing 2% FBS for three hours prior to stimulation, and stimulated with media containing 2% FBS for 18 hours. Following this time point, the supernatants were removed and stored in the freezer (-20°C) for future use. Soluble CD14, and all TLR ligands used to stimulate cells were generous gifts from Dr. A. Ashkar (McMaster University). All gp130 cytokines used to stimulate cells were purchased from R&D Systems (Minneapolis, MN), and were recombinant proteins derived from E. coli.

ELISAs were performed using DuoSet kits purchased from R&D Systems and include mouse IL-6, MCP-1, KC, and VEGF, and human IL-6, IL-8, and VEGF kits. ELISAs were performed according to the manufacturer's instructions. The degree of colour change was measured using the Bio-Tek EL 800 (BioTek, Winooski, VT) plate reader at an optical density of 450 nm.

# Soluble CD14 treatments

HAoAFs were seeded at 10 000 cells/cm<sup>2</sup> into 96 well tissue culture plates (BD and Company). The cells were stimulated with increasing doses of LPS alone or with LPS in combination with 100 ng/mL of soluble CD14. Separately, HAoAFs were stimulated with increasing doses of soluble CD14 in combination with 1 ng/mL of LPS. To allow for association, soluble CD14 was incubated with the LPS for 1 hour at 37 °C prior to administration to cells. Cells were stimulated

for 18 hours, at which point the supernatants were collected, and assayed for IL-6 via ELISA.

#### Cell lysates & Immunoblots

Cells were seeded at 10 000 cells/cm<sup>2</sup> into 6 well tissue culture plates (BD and Company). The cells were serum deprived in media containing 2% FBS for three hours prior to stimulation, and stimulated with media containing 2% FBS. Cells were stimulated for either 20 minutes or four hours. Following these time points, the supernatants were removed and stored in the freezer  $(-20^{\circ}C)$  for future use (ELISAs). Cells were washed twice with cold 1x PBS. Whole cell lysates were generated using Radioimmunoprecipitation (RIPA) lysis buffer containing 1% Igepal CA-630, 0.5% Sodium Deoxycholate, 0.1% Sodium Dodecyl Sulfate (SDS) in PBS, and inhibitors 1mM Sodium Orthovanadate, 0.1 mg/mL Phenylmethylsulfonylflouride (PMSF), 5 µg/mL Aprotinin, and 1 mM dithiothreitol (DTT). Cell lysates were scraped off the bottom of the well using cell scrapers, and were then collected and incubated on ice for one hour. Cell lysates were then sheared using a 3 mL syringe and a 21 gauge needle, centrifuged at 12 000 rpm at 4°C for 10 minutes, and then stored at -80°C for future use.

A Bradford Assay was performed to determine the protein concentration in each sample, using BSA protein (Sigma Aldrich Corp, St. Louis, MO) as the standard. Bio-Rad Protein Assay Dye Reagent Concentrate (Bio Rad, Hercules, CA) was added to make 20% volume of each sample, and the optical density was

measured at a wavelength of 595 nm, with a reference of 0 nm as measured by a Safire plate reader (Tecan Group Ltd., Männedorf, Switzerland).

Based on values determined by the Bradford Assay, an equal amount of protein (15µg) from each sample was loaded onto either an 8 or 10% SDS-PAGE gel for electrophoresis using a standard protocol [196]. Proteins were transferred to a nitrocellulose membrane (Pall Corp., Port Washington, NY) by electrical transfer using a BioRad Mini-Protean II equipment (Bio Rad) using a standard protocol [197]. Membranes with transferred proteins were blocked using 1x Tris Buffer Saline (TBS) containing 0.15% Tween 20 (Sigma Aldrich Corp.) and 5% skim milk powder (Nestle Carnation, Vevey, Switzerland) for 1 hour at room temperature. The membranes were then probed while rocking overnight at  $4^{\circ}C$ using antibodies diluted to between 1:1000 and 1:3000 in either 5% BSA or 5% skim milk powder in 1x (TBS) containing 0.15% Tween 20. Antibodies for pSTAT-1, total STAT-1, pSTAT-3 (Tyr 705 and Ser 727), total STAT-3, pSTAT-5, p-p38, Total p38, p-SAPK/JNK, p-NFkB p65, total NFkB p65, pAkt, and Total Akt were purchased from Cell Signaling Technology (Danvers, MA). Antibodies for p-ERK 1/2, Total ERK 1/2, Total JNK, Total STAT-5, and Total Actin were purchased from Santa Cruz Biotechnology Inc.

The following day, membranes were washed three times for 8 min each with 1x TBS containing 0.15% Tween 20. They were then incubated at room temperature for one hour with a secondary antibody diluted to 1:2500 that was conjugated to horseradish peroxidase (either mouse anti-goat IgG-HRP, Goat anti-

rabbit IgG-HRP, or goat anti-mouse IgG-HRP, from Santa Cruz Biotechnology Inc.) Membranes were then washed two times for 8 minutes each at room temperature with 1x TBS containing 0.15% Tween 20, and two times for 8 minutes each at room temperature with 1x TBS. The membranes were then incubated with Pierce ECL 2 Western Blotting Kit (ThermoFisher Scientific, Waltham, MA) reagents according to manufacturer's instructions for 5 minutes, taken to the dark room, and exposed to CL-X Posure Film (ThermoFisher Scientific, Waltham, MA).

# RNA purification and analysis by real-time quantitative PCR (Taqman)

Cells were seeded at 10 000 cells/cm<sup>2</sup> into T75 flasks. The cells were serum deprived in media containing 2% FBS for three hours prior to stimulation, and stimulated with media containing 2% FBS. Following these time points, the supernatants were removed and stored in the freezer (-20°C) for future use (ELISAs). Pure Link RNA mini kit (Life Technologies, Carlsbad, CA) was used according to the manufacturer's instructions to isolate and purify the RNA. RNA was dissolved in 50  $\mu$ L of nuclease free water, and stored at -80°C for future use.

RNA concentration was determined by the NanoVue Spectrophotometer (GE Healthcare, Little Chalfont, UK). Genomic DNA was removed using the Ambion DNA-free kit (Life Technologies, Carlsbad, CA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. RNA was then reverse transcribed into cDNA using SuperScript II RT (Life Technologies), according to the manufacturer's instructions, and stored at -20°C until future use.

Expression of IL-6, IL-8, VEGF, MCP-1, TLR-4, and OSMr-β mRNA, as well as the house-keeping gene β-Actin mRNA was measured using predeveloped assay reagents purchased from Ambion (Life Technologies). TaqMan Universal Master Mix (Life Technologies), a mixture containing AmpliTaq Gold DNA polymerase, AmpErase uracil-N-glycosylase (UNG), dNTPs, a passive reference dye, and optimized buffer components was used as the source of the PCR reagents. 25 ng of cDNA was used for each Taqman reaction, and each sample was assayed in triplicate. The MicroAmp Optical 96 well reaction plates (purchased from Life Technologies) were then placed in a 7900HT Fast Real-Time PCR System (Life Technologies), which was operated by Sequence Detection System Software version 2.4 (Life Technologies). mRNA expression levels for each sample were normalized to B-Actin levels in that sample and expressed relative to control (media alone) values.

# Flow Cytometry

MAAF cells were seeded at 10 000 cells/cm<sup>2</sup> into 6 well plates. The cells were serum deprived in media containing 2% FBS for three hours prior to stimulation, and stimulated with media containing 2% FBS. The cells were stimulated for 2, 6, or 24 hours, and then were lifted off of the culture dish by incubating cells for 8 min. with 1 mM EDTA, and then pipetting them off of the plate. The cells were stained with either an isotype control rabbit IgG antibody or a rabbit anti-TLR-4 antibody (Santa Cruz Biotechnology Inc.) diluted 1:300 for 30 min at 4°C. The primary antibodies were washed off using FACS buffer (PBS

containing 0.3% BSA) and the cells were incubated with a FITC labelled goat anti-rabbit IgG antibody (Santa Cruz Biotechnology Inc.) for 30 minutes in the dark at 4°C. Data acquisition was performed using the BD LSR II flow cytometer (Becton Dickinson and Company), and data analysis was performed using FlowJo software (TreeStar Inc., Ashland, OR).

#### **Neutralizing Antibody Experiments**

Blood was taken from a healthy volunteer, and the peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) were isolated using the Ficoll-Hypaque method outlined by Fuss et al. [198] Briefly, the blood was placed in a 50 mL Falcon tube and mixed with an equal volume of room temperature PBS. The mixture was then centrifuged for 15 min at 200 x g at room temperature, and the supernatant suspension containing the platelet fraction was discarded. PBS was added to resuspend the pellet, and the Ficoll-Hypaque solution was dispensed underneath the leukocyte/red blood cell/PBS mixture (3 mL Ficoll-Hypaque per 10 mL blood/PBS mixture). The mixture was then centrifuged at 900 x g for 20 minutes at room temperature with no brake, and the mononuclear lymphocyte layer, which is the layer above the Ficoll-Hypaque, was then collected. The cells were then washed with PBS, plated, and stimulated with 100 ng/mL of LPS. The supernatants were collected after 24 hours and were analyzed by Luminex (Millipore Corporation, Billerica, MA) for cytokine levels.

These LPS stimulated PBMC supernatants (conditioned medium (CM)) were then used to stimulate HAoAFs. The HAoAFs were stimulated with various

dilutions of CM (from 1:200, to 1:12 800) for 6 hours, and the HAoAF supernatants were collected and stored at -20°C for future use. An IL-6 ELISA was performed on these supernatants as described above.

For the neutralizing antibody experiment, HAoAFs were treated with a 1:800 dilution of CM alone, with CM and a mouse IgG antibody (Sigma Aldrich), with CM and a mouse anti-OSM antibody (R&D Systems), or with CM and a mouse anti-OSMr- $\beta$  antibody (Amgen Inc., Thousand Oaks, CA). The mouse IgG and mouse anti-OSM antibodies were incubated with the supernatants for 2 hours at 37 °C prior to treatment of the HAoAFs. The other dose of mouse IgG, and the mouse anti-OSMr- $\beta$  antibody were incubated with the HAoAFs one hour prior to treatment of the HAoAFs. The other dose of mouse IgG, and the mouse anti-OSMr- $\beta$  antibody were incubated with the HAoAFs one hour prior to treatment of the HAoAFs with CM. After 6 hours, the HAoAF supernatants were collected, and were analyzed for IL-6 protein by ELISA.

### **Statistical Analysis**

All statistical tests were performed using GraphPad Prism 5 software (GraphPad Software Inc., San Diego, CA). A p value less than 0.05 was considered statistically significant. Two-Way Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) was used to determine significance between LPS alone compared to LPS combined with one of the gp130 cytokines for the ELISA data. One-Way ANOVA was used to determine significance for the mRNA data and the treatments of LPS or OSM alone data obtained via ELISA. In all cases, Bonferroni's post-test was applied. Where indicated, the effects of individual treatments alone were summed and this predicted additive effect was compared to the observed combined effects.

# CHAPTER 3 RESULTS PART 1

#### Synergistic IL-6 induction by MAAFS in response to LPS and OSM

To determine whether LPS and/or members of the gp130 cytokine family can regulate vascular wall cells *in vitro*, adventitial fibroblasts and smooth muscle cells from rodent and human aortic tissues have been analyzed. Experiments were undertaken using Mouse Aortic Adventitial Fibroblast (MAAF) cells that were cultured and then treated with increasing concentrations of OSM. The subsequent elevation of IL-6, a pro-inflammatory cytokine, was measured in the supernatants 18 hours post-stimulation by ELISA. Only at the highest concentration of OSM (10 ng/mL) was there detectable IL-6 elevated in the MAAF cell supernatants (Fig. 1a). MAAF cultures were then treated with increasing doses of LPS alone or in combination with a constant dose of OSM. The cells that were treated with LPS alone did not induce detectable IL-6 levels. However, there was a dose dependent IL-6 response when 0.5, and 5 ng/mL of OSM was added to the increasing concentrations of LPS (Fig. 1b).

Other members of the gp130 cytokine family were tested in combination with LPS to determine whether the observed effect was unique to OSM. When LIF or CT-1 was combined with LPS to treat the MAAF cells, there was a dose dependent response of IL-6 production (Fig. 1c,d). However the levels of IL-6 that were detected were lower than the LPS combined with OSM treatments, and were only detectable at higher concentrations of LPS stimulation. There was a slight, but statistically significant increase in IL-6 in the supernatants when IL-31

was combined with LPS (Fig. 1e), and only at the highest concentration of both LPS and IL-11 was there detectable IL-6 measured (116 pg/mL) (Fig. 1f). Therefore, OSM displayed the greatest synergy with LPS with regards to elevating IL-6 protein, while the other gp130 cytokines tested caused more moderate increases in IL-6 in the MAAF supernatants.

#### Synergistic KC induction by MAAFS in response to LPS and OSM

Keratinocyte derived cytokine (KC) is a neutrophil chemoattractant that was discovered to play a role in a model of atherosclerosis [199], and Lafontant et al. have shown that mouse fibroblasts produce KC upon stimulation with OSM [200]. The chemokine KC is not a direct homologue of human IL-8, however it, along with MIP-2, are thought to be functional homologues of this protein [201]. Thus KC expression by MAAFs was examined in vitro. It was observed that the MAAF supernatants contained elevated KC when treated with 1 and 10 ng/mL OSM in a dose dependent manner after 18 hours of stimulation (Fig. 2a). Similarly, when treated with 1, 10, and 100 ng/mL of LPS, the MAAFs demonstrated a dose dependent KC response. When the two treatments were combined, the KC response was more than additive (Fig. 2b) (p < 0.01 at 0.1, 1, 10, and 100 ng/mL LPS in combination with either 0.5 or 5 ng/mL OSM compared to LPS at that concentration alone). In comparison with OSM, the opposite trend resulted with either CT-1 or LIF co-stimulation, as they appeared to negatively impact KC levels when combined with LPS (Fig. 2c, d). IL-6, IL-11, nor IL-31 detectably impacted the KC levels compared with LPS alone (Fig. 2e, 2f, and 2g

respectively). Therefore, of the gp-130 cytokines that were studied in these assays, OSM was uniquely able to act synergistically with LPS to cause increased levels of detectable KC in MAAF supernatants.

#### Synergistic VEGF induction by MAAFS in response to LPS and OSM

As published in a recent paper by Demyanets *et al.* [146], vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) is induced by OSM in vascular SMCs. VEGF, which is a major inducer of angiogenesis, may contribute to atherosclerotic plaque destabilization and rupture, as newly formed vessels are prone to rupturing [175]. VEGF induction was thus examined *in vitro* in response to LPS and gp130 cytokines.

Upon stimulation of MAAF cells with increasing doses of OSM, there was no VEGF detected in the cell supernatants by ELISA (data not shown). Similarly, when the cells were stimulated with increasing doses of LPS, there was no detectable VEGF in the supernatants (Fig. 3), as the limit of detection of the ELISA is 15 pg/mL, and all values were below this level. Upon stimulation with a combination of LPS and 5 ng/mL OSM, there was statistically significant elevation detected (p<0.0001) at 0.1, 1, 10 and 100 ng/mL LPS. Supernatants from cells treated with LPS in combination with LIF, IL-6, IL-31, or IL-11 that were assayed for mVEGF contained levels that were below the limit of detection of the ELISA (data not shown). VEGF protein levels in the supernatants of MAAF cells stimulated with LPS and OSM were not as high as were detected in

the IL-6 and KC assays, however as was seen in those two assays, VEGF levels were synergistically elevated compared to LPS or OSM treatments in isolation.

#### TLR-3 ligand does not induce IL-6 in MAAFs

After observing synergistic responses by MAAF cells to the TLR-4 ligand LPS in combination with OSM, it was of interest to determine whether a similar effect was observed upon activation of another TLR, TLR-3. TLR-3 has traditionally been considered to be located intracellularly, however a study has shown that on human fibroblasts and epithelial cells, it can also be located on the cell surface [202]. TLR-3 recognizes double stranded viral RNA, as well as the synthetic analog polyriboinosinic:polyribocytidylic acid (poly I:C) [203]. The TLR-3 ligand poly I:C was used to stimulate MAAFs alone or in combination with 0.5 ng/mL OSM. Poly I:C stimulation alone, or in combination with OSM resulted in no detectable IL-6 measured by ELISA after 18 hours of stimulation (Fig. 4).

### Synergistic IL-6 induction by RAAFS in response to LPS and OSM

To determine whether the results seen in mouse cells were reproducible in Rat Aortic Adventitial Fibroblasts (RAAFs), RAAFs were cultured *in vitro* and the cells were stimulated with increasing concentrations of LPS with or without mOSM. TLR-4 ligand administration in the absence of mOSM did not induce IL-6 elevation in RAAF cell supernatants, even at concentrations of 100 ng/mL (Fig. 5b). Increasing doses of mOSM alone similarly did not cause detectable induction of IL-6 (Fig. 5a). However, upon stimulation with LPS and 0.5 ng/mL mOSM, RAAF cell supernatant IL-6 levels became detectable at 0.1 ng/mL of LPS and reached a peak production of 910 pg/mL when stimulated with 100 ng/mL of LPS (Fig. 5b)(p < 0.0001 compared to LPS alone at 100ng/mL).

RAAF cells were also challenged with the synthetic TLR-3 ligand poly I:C. Poly I:C elicited no detectable IL-6 response from RAAF cells alone, or in combination with 0.5 ng/mL of mOSM (Fig. 5d). These results in the RAAFs are consistent with the MAAF response to poly I:C (Fig. 4), as neither cell type demonstrated an IL-6 response to TLR-3 ligand challenge.

### Synergistic IL-6 induction by HAoAFs in response to LPS and OSM

After observing similar trends in both mouse and rat vascular fibroblasts with regards to IL-6 production, it was of interest to determine whether human aortic adventitial fibroblasts (HAoAFs) were regulated by a TLR-4 ligand and gp130 cytokines *in vitro* to produce pro-inflammatory cytokine and chemokine mRNA and protein. Primary HAoAFs were purchased from Lonza Bio. These cells were isolated from a 19 year old female patient that passed away from a cause other than vascular disease.

Eighteen hours post treatment, elevated human IL-6 was detected in supernatants of HAoAFs that were stimulated with 1 and 10 ng/mL of OSM (Fig. 6a). IL-6 was detected in a dose dependent manner upon stimulation with 1, 10, and 100 ng/mL of LPS (Fig. 6b and 6c). When increasing doses of LPS were combined with a constant dose of 0.1, 0.5 (Fig. 6b), or 5 ng/mL OSM (Fig. 6c), there were augmented IL-6 levels in the HAoAF supernatants compared to either

treatment alone. The IL-6 levels measured when 0.1 or 0.5 ng/mL OSM (Fig. 6b) were used to treat the cells alone were added to the IL-6 levels measured when each concentration of LPS alone was used to treat the cells, and these values (estimated additive effect) were compared statistically to the observed combined effect of either LPS plus 0.1 or 0.5 ng/mL OSM respectively. The observed IL-6 levels when LPS was administered at 10 and 100 ng/mL in combination with 0.1 or 0.5 ng/mL OSM were significantly higher (p < 0.0001) than the estimated additive levels. The observed combined effect was significantly higher at 0.1 ng/mL (p < 0.01), and 1, 10, and 100 ng/mL (p < 0.0001) LPS and 5 ng/mL OSM compared to the estimated additive effect.

To compare these results with other gp130 cytokine activity, HAoAFs were stimulated with LPS in combination with 5 ng/mL of LIF, IL-31, or IL-11. Stimulation with LIF alone resulted in no significant IL-6 elevation compared to control (Fig. 6d). When LIF was combined with LPS, there was no difference in IL-6 measured compared to LPS alone (Fig. 6d). Unaccompanied, neither IL-31 nor IL-11 treatments resulted in detectable IL-6 protein in the supernatants (Fig. 6e and 6f)). When IL-31 or IL-11 was combined with increasing doses of LPS, IL-6 was detected in higher concentrations than when the cells were treated with LPS alone (Fig 6e and 6f). While the maximum concentration reached with 5ng/mL IL-31 and LPS treatment was ~17000 pg/mL IL-6, and the IL-11 and LPS treatment was ~15000 pg/mL IL-6, the maximum concentration reached with the OSM + LPS treatment was ~37000 pg/mL IL-6. Thus, of the gp130 cytokines

examined for IL-6 expression, OSM was able to induce the most potent response when combined with the TLR-4 ligand LPS.

#### OSM acts to inhibit LPS mediated IL-8 induction in HAoAFs

Since IL-8 may be implicated in atherosclerosis [263,264], the *in vitro* IL-8 response of HAoAF cells to LPS and gp130 cytokines was determined. These cells were stimulated for 18 hours, and the supernatants were analyzed for IL-8. Increasing doses of OSM alone did not result in detectable IL-8 in the supernatants of HAoAF cells (Fig. 7a). LPS alone was able to significantly induce IL-8 that was detectable in the supernatants in a dose dependent manner (Fig. 7b). Interestingly, when combined with 0.5 or 5 ng/mL OSM, there was a suppression of IL-8 that was detected in the supernatants (Fig. 7b). When LPS was combined with LIF, IL-6, IL-31 or IL-11 there was no marked difference in IL-8 levels induced by the HAoAFs compared to LPS alone (Fig. 7c,d,e, and f respectively).

### Enhanced VEGF in HAoAF supernatants in response to LPS and OSM

As shown in Figure 2b, MAAF cells responded to LPS and OSM by synergistically inducing VEGF elevation. To determine the effects of LPS and the gp130 cytokines in the human fibroblasts, HAoAFs were stimulated for 18 hours and their supernatants were analyzed by ELISA for VEGF. OSM alone at 1 and 10 ng/mL was able to induce significant (p < 0.0001) VEGF levels in the supernatants compared to control (Fig. 8a). LPS alone at 10 and 100 ng/mL was able to induce VEGF expression (p < 0.05) compared to control. When LPS and OSM were combined, there were enhanced levels of VEGF that were detected in the supernatants (Fig. 8 b). When the estimated additive levels obtained by combining the effects observed after treating the cells with LPS alone or OSM alone were compared with the observed effects of the combined treatment, there was statistically significant synergy seen at the dose of 10 ng/mL LPS and 5 ng/mL OSM (p < 0.05). None of the other gp130 cytokines tested (LIF, IL-6, IL-31, IL-11) in isolation induced detectable VEGF expression by the HAoAFs (Fig. 8 c, d, e, f), and only at the highest dose of LPS was IL-6 capable of causing augmented VEGF expression in the combination compared to LPS alone (p < 0.05) (Fig. 8d).

# **RNA Analysis**

In order to determine the levels of steady state mRNA expression as well as to test some novel end-points that were not measured by ELISA, HAoAF RNA expression was analyzed by quantitative RT-PCR.  $\beta$ -Actin was used as the reference marker, and all values were normalized to the results obtained for the 'media' treatment (given a value of 1). In addition, the supernatants from both the 2 and 6 hour treated cells were collected and analyzed for IL-6 using an ELISA (Fig. 13)

# **IL-6** Expression

When analyzed by ELISA, both the 2 hour and 6 hour supernatants of cells stimulated with LPS and OSM in combination showed synergistically elevated IL-6 protein levels (Fig. 10 a and b respectively), compared to either treatment alone, which coincides with the previous ELISA data (Fig. 6 b and c), and confirms that the cells were responding in a similar manner to the treatments. The RNA data indicates that at 2 hours post stimulation, there was an 18 fold induction of IL-6 RNA levels in LPS stimulated cells compared to media alone. In addition, 5 ng/mL of OSM alone was able to induce a 4 fold increase in IL-6 RNA, while the lower dose of OSM had no effect compared to control (Fig. 12a). When LPS was combined with 0.5 ng/mL OSM, there was no change in IL-6 RNA expression compared to LPS alone, while when combined with 5 ng/mL OSM, there was only a 9 fold induction of IL-6 RNA. This seems to be contrary to the ELISA data performed on the supernatants from these samples.

At the 6 hour time point, the ELISA and RNA data appeared to be more congruent. LPS alone was able to induce a 21 fold increase in IL-6 RNA expression compared to control, while the combined treatments resulted in 38 and 29 fold inductions of IL-6 RNA when LPS was combined with the lower and higher dose of OSM respectively compared to control (Fig. 9e). The observed RNA expression levels of LPS combined with 0.5 ng/mL OSM was higher than the estimated additive effect of LPS and 0.5 ng/mL OSM based on their induction of IL-6 RNA alone, while there was not a significant difference between the theoretical and observed IL-6 RNA levels with the LPS and 5 ng/mL OSM treatment .

### **IL-8** Expression

IL-8 protein expression in HAoAF cell supernatants was analyzed by ELISA which indicated that OSM resulted in suppression of LPS induced IL-8 (Fig. 7b). At both 2 (Fig. 9b) and 6 hours (Fig. 9f), LPS markedly increased the expression of IL-8 RNA levels (72 and 66 fold increases respectively compared to media). When OSM alone was applied to the cells, there was no difference in terms of RNA expression levels compared to control. There was a dose dependent inhibition of IL-8 RNA expression levels by the HAoAF cells at both time points when OSM and LPS were combined. The RNA data at 2 and 6 hours corroborates the protein expression data observed 18 hours post stimulation.

### **VEGF** Expression

Demyanets *et al.* [146] demonstrated that Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor (VEGF) is induced by OSM in vascular SMCs. To the best of our knowledge, the same has not been demonstrated in vascular adventitial fibroblasts. The RNA data here suggests that by 2 hours, HAoAFs expressed a 3 fold increase in VEGF mRNA levels when stimulated with 5 ng/mL OSM (Fig. 9c). By 6 hours, there was a 3, and 5 fold increase in VEGF mRNA expression levels when cells were stimulated with 0.5 or 5 ng/mL OSM respectively, compared to media alone (Fig. 9g). The RNA and protein (ELISA) data seem to indicate that a potent stimulator of angiogenesis can be induced in the adventitial fibroblasts if OSM is present. At neither time point was there synergistic expression of VEGF RNA when LPS was combined with OSM despite there being elevated levels of protein when analyzed via ELISA at 18 hours (Fig. 8b).

# **MCP-1** Expression

As described in the introduction, the role of MCP-1 in atherosclerosis has been well characterized, and it is known to be central in monocyte recruitment to the plaque [277,278]. It was tested whether MCP-1 mRNA expression levels were being up-regulated in the HAoAFs. A 2 hour stimulation of HAoAFs with LPS resulted in a 15 fold increase in MCP-1 RNA levels, and with 0.5 or 5 ng/mL OSM resulted in a 3 and 10 fold increase respectively compared to control levels (Fig. 9d). The combined treatments at 2 hours were not additive. At 6 hours however, the combined treatment resulted in a marked increase in MCP-1 mRNA levels above LPS or OSM expression alone, with the combined treatments reaching 66 (LPS + 0.5 ng/mL OSM) and 68 (LPS + 5 ng/mL OSM) fold the expression of CCL2 mRNA levels compared to media alone (Fig. 9 h).

### Synergistic IL-6 induction by HAoSMCs in response to LPS and OSM

It is currently accepted that during development of atherosclerotic lesions, vascular smooth muscle cells migrate into the vascular intima, proliferate, and are involved in forming part of the fibrous cap that protrudes into the lumen of the artery [15]. It was thus of interest to assess whether these cells can be regulated by OSM, and/or the TLR-4 ligand LPS. Primary Human Aortic Smooth Muscle Cells (HAoSMCs) were purchased from Lonza Bio. These cells were isolated from a 36 year old male patient that passed away from a cause other than vascular disease. In order to detect the inflammatory proteins secreted by these cells, HAoSMCs

were cultured *in vitro*, were stimulated for 18 hours, and then the supernatants were analyzed via ELISA.

When HAoSMCs were stimulated with OSM, there was a dose dependent response of IL-6 detected in the supernatants at OSM concentrations of  $0.1 \text{ (p} < 100 \text{ cm}^{-3})$ 0.01 vs. control), 1, and 10 ng/mL (p < 0.0001 vs. control) (Fig. 11a). Upon stimulation with LPS only, a dose dependent IL-6 response was measured that was observable at 1 ng/mL of LPS and was maximal at 10 ng/mL LPS (p < p0.0001 vs. control) (Fig. 11 b and c). When a constant dose of 5 ng/mL OSM was included in the treatment of cells being stimulated with LPS, there was a synergistic IL-6 response (Fig. 11c) For instance, OSM alone at 5 ng/mL resulted in detection of ~9 900 pg/mL of IL-6, LPS at 1 ng/mL resulted in detection of ~7 000 pg/mL of IL-6, while the 5 ng/mL OSM combined with 1 ng/mL LPS resulted in ~23 000 pg/mL IL-6 that was detected, significantly greater than the ~17 000 pg/mL that might have been predicted had the responses been additive (p < 0.01). In addition, this synergistic response with LPS was also observed using low doses of OSM (50 and 100 pg/mL) (Fig. 11b). HAoSMCs were also stimulated with LIF or IL-31 in conjunction with increasing doses of LPS (Fig. 11 d and e), however IL-6 levels that were detected in the supernatants did not vary from the levels that were detected in cells stimulated with LPS alone. Upon stimulation with the combination of LPS and IL-11 (Fig. 11f) there appeared to be a suppression of IL-6 production that was detectable in the supernatants. Thus, of the gp130 cytokines assayed, OSM was unique in its ability to induce IL-6 that

was detectable in these cells alone, and in its ability to synergize with LPS in induction of IL-6 levels.

#### **OSM Suppresses LPS induced IL-8 induction in HAoSMCs**

OSM synergized with LPS in the MAAFs to induce expression of the mouse functional homolog of IL-8 (KC) (Fig. 2b), while OSM suppressed HAoAF IL-8 expression in combination with LPS compared to LPS alone (Fig. 7b). IL-8 levels were also analyzed in the HAoSMC supernatants by ELISA after 18 hours of stimulation. LPS independently caused a dose dependent increase in HAoSMC IL-8 response (Fig. 12b), while treatment with OSM alone resulted in no IL-8 detection (Fig. 12a). Similar to the human fibroblast cells, instead of augmentation, there was a dose dependent suppression of IL-8 levels when OSM was combined with LPS (Fig. 12b). There was no significant effect on IL-8 expression when LIF or IL-6 was combined with LPS compared to LPS alone (Fig. 12 c, d). Upon stimulation of HAoSMC with the highest dose (100 ng/mL) of LPS and either dose of IL-31, there was a significant increase in IL-8 expression (p < 0.01) (Fig. 12 e). There is a trend towards suppression of IL-8 upon stimulation of HAoSMC with IL-11 in combination with LPS (Fig. 12 f).

#### Synergistic VEGF induction by HAoSMCs in response to LPS and OSM

In both MAAFs and HAoAFs, the combined treatment of LPS with OSM resulted in synergistic VEGF protein expression. To test whether the same phenomenon occurred in vascular wall smooth muscle cells, HAoSMCs were cultured, and treated for 18 hours, at which point the supernatants were collected

for analysis by ELISA for VEGF. As shown previously [146], OSM induced VEGF in HAoSMC supernatants (Fig. 13a). LPS treatment alone did not induce VEGF to a significant degree in these cells (Fig. 13b). The combined treatment of increasing doses of LPS and a constant dose of either 0.5 or 5 ng/mL of OSM resulted in dose dependent synergistic VEGF detection (Fig. 13b). When a constant dose of 0.5 or 5 ng/mL of LIF, IL-6, IL-31, or IL-11 combined with LPS were assessed, there was no alteration in VEGF detection levels in the supernatants (Fig. 13c,d,e, and f respectively). Thus, among the gp130 cytokines tested, only OSM was able to synergize with LPS, and induce VEGF production in the HAoSMCs.

# **RNA Analysis**

In order to assess the mRNA steady levels and their correlation to protein levels that were measured by ELISA, mRNA was isolated from the HAoSMCs. *In vitro*, HAoSMCs were cultured, and then treated for either 6 or 18 hours with different concentrations of LPS and/or OSM as indicated in Figure 14. All values were expressed relative to  $\beta$ -Actin, and were normalized to control.

# **IL-6** Expression

At both 6 and 18 hours post stimulation, 10 ng/mL LPS, 0.5 ng/mL OSM, and 5 ng/mL OSM treated HAoSMCs expressed increased levels of IL-6 steady state mRNA compared to control treated cells (Fig. 14 a, e). When LPS was combined with 0.5 or 5 ng/mL OSM 6 hours post treatment there was a 17.6 and a 34.8 fold induction of IL-6 mRNA respectively compared to control treated cells (Fig. 14a). When LPS was combined with 0.5 or 5 ng/mL OSM 18 hours post treatment there was an 18 and a 27 fold induction of IL-6 mRNA respectively compared to control treated cells (Fig. 14e). At both time points the estimated additive effect on IL-6 RNA expression (obtained by summing the effects of LPS alone and OSM alone) was markedly lower than the observed combined effect at both the low and the high doses of OSM.

### **IL-8** Expression

The expression of IL-8 RNA in the HAoSMCs corroborates the protein data obtained by ELISA both in terms of the effects of LPS alone, and the effects observed after LPS is combined with OSM. At both 6 and 18 hours (Fig. 14 b and f) LPS induced significant increases in IL-8 mRNA expression compared to control levels. At both time points when 5 ng/mL OSM was combined with LPS to treat the cells, there was a marked decrease in IL-8 RNA expression compared to control levels.

### **VEGF** Expression

VEGF ELISA performed on supernatants from HAoSMCs determined that LPS was unable to induce significant VEGF that was detectable (Fig. 13b). mRNA steady state levels of VEGF were similarly not enhanced above control levels at 6 and 18 hours (Fig. 14 c, g). The low and high doses of OSM treatment at 6 hours resulted in a 2.5 and a 2.8 fold induction respectively of VEGF mRNA compared to control (Fig. 14 c), and at 18 hours resulted in a 2.4 and 9.4 fold induction respectively of VEGF mRNA compared to control (Fig. 14 g). At the 18 hour time point both the low and high dose of OSM when combined with LPS resulted in increased VEGF mRNA expression compared to either treatment alone (Fig. 14 g), while at the 6 hour time point only the lower dose of OSM when combined with LPS resulted in increased VEGF steady state mRNA expression compared to either treatment alone (Fig. 14 c).

#### **MCP-1** Expression

Upon measurement of steady state mRNA levels in HAoAFs at 6 hours there were augmented levels of MCP-1 in the cells treated with LPS combined with OSM compared to control levels (Fig. 9 h). MCP-1 transcript expression was also measured in HAoSMCs both at 6 and 18 hours post stimulation (Fig. 14 d, h). At 6 hours post stimulation, LPS alone induced a 5 fold induction of MCP-1 RNA compared to control, while the low and high dose of OSM resulted in a 4 and 8.6 fold increase respectively compared to control levels (Fig. 14 d). The combined LPS and OSM treatment resulted in MCP-1 transcript levels 11.5 and 17.4 fold higher than control levels, and higher than the predicted additive combined effect. At 18 hours post stimulation, the treatments of LPS or OSM alone resulted in increased MCP-1 mRNA expression compared to control, while only the low dose of OSM when combined with LPS resulted in an augmentation of MCP-1 transcript expression compared to the treatments alone (Fig. 14 h).

# **RESULTS PART 2**

After determining in MAAF, HAoAF, and HAoSMC cell cultures that the combined treatment of LPS with OSM was able to induce synergistic effects in certain endpoints, potential mechanisms involved in mediating these effects were of interest. OSM has been shown in other systems to synergize with molecules by increasing the expression of that molecule's receptor. For example in mouse lung fibroblasts OSM is able to synergize with IL-4 and IL-13 to produce eotaxin by markedly elevating the IL-4Ralhpa and the IL-13Ralpha1 [204]. Thus initial experiments were performed to determine whether increased levels of a TLR-4 associated receptor component could reproduce effects seen with the combination treatment of LPS and OSM.

#### HAoAF IL-6 Response to LPS and/or soluble CD14

CD14 is found in both membrane bound and soluble forms and can associate with the TLR-4 receptor [205]. Soluble CD14 has been demonstrated to enhance LPS signaling [206,207]. Thus experiments were undertaken to determine if soluble CD14 enhanced LPS signalling *in vitro* in HAoAFs. The fibroblasts were stimulated with LPS alone or with LPS in combination with 100 ng/mL of soluble CD14 for 18 hours, at which point the supernatants were assayed for IL-6 by ELISA. LPS challenge alone resulted in a dose dependent augmentation of IL-6 as observed previously (Fig 6b and c), while the addition of soluble CD14 to LPS treatment did not have a marked effect on IL-6 expression compared to LPS alone (Fig. 15a). HAoAFs were also challenged with a constant

dose (1 ng/mL) of LPS in combination with increasing doses of soluble CD14 (Fig. 15e). The increasing concentrations of soluble CD14 did not cause detectable increases in IL-6 levels. Soluble CD14 did not appear to be a rate limiting step in the production of IL-6 in these cells.

#### TLR-4 Expression is Not Altered by OSM Treatment

Flow cytometry was used to test whether OSM altered TLR-4 expression levels on MAAFs. MAAFs were stimulated for 2, 6, or 24 hours, and then stained with either a TLR-4 antibody or an isotype control antibody, and the mean fluorescence of the cells was measured. Of note, the difference in fluorescence between the isotype control group and the treatment groups is quite small (Fig. 16 a), indicating either a high amount of non-specific binding, a lack of specificity of the antibody for TLR-4, or a low amount of TLR-4 expression on the cells. At 2 and 6 hours post treatment, there was no increase in TLR-4 expression on the cells treated with OSM compared to control cells. At 24 hours post-stimulation, there appeared to be a slight increase in the expression of TLR-4 on the surface of the MAAFs compared to media alone, however it did not reach statistical significance.

Since the TLR-4 staining by flow cytometry on the MAAFs was not robust, examining mRNA levels was used as an alternative approach for the human cells. HAoAFs were cultured *in vitro* and then treated for either 2 or 6 hours with different concentrations of LPS and/or OSM as indicated in Figure 16 b) and c). At 2 hours post treatment there was a slight decrease in TLR-4 mRNA levels in all samples that were treated with OSM (Fig. 16 a). At this same time point LPS alone did not alter TLR-4 RNA levels compared to control (Fig. 16b). When HAoAFs were stimulated for 6 hours with LPS alone, there was a 2.3 fold increase in TLR-4 mRNA expression relative to media alone (Fig. 16 c). When HAoAFs were stimulated for 6 hours with OSM alone or in combination with LPS, TLR-4 transcripts were expressed at equivalent levels to when the cells received media alone (Fig. 16c). Therefore in HAoAFs, TLR-4 steady state mRNA is not augmented when the cells are stimulated for 2 or 6 hours with OSM.

Analysis of TLR-4 mRNA expression was also performed on the HAoSMCs at one time point that was the same as the HAoAFs (6 hrs post stimulation, Fig. 16 d), and at a later time point (18 hrs post stimulation, Fig. 16 e) as it was possible that TLR-4 transcript levels were increasing later than 6 hours. There was a 1.8 fold increase in TLR-4 mRNA levels in LPS treated cells compared to control at the 6 hour time point (Fig. 16 d), while at 18 hours there was no change in LPS treated cell TLR-4 mRNA levels compared to control (Fig. 16 e). At neither time point did OSM alone effect TLR-4 mRNA levels (Fig. 16 d and e), and at the 18 hour time point, 5 ng/mL OSM combined with LPS seemed to cause a 2 fold decrease in TLR-4 receptor levels. At the time points that were assessed, HAoSMCs did not increase TLR-4 steady state mRNA levels compared to levels measured in control treated cells.

# HAoAF OSMr-β Expression Levels

The results for experiments on either the TLR-4 itself or the associated receptor component CD14 indicated that it was unlikely that their up-regulation was responsible for the effects observed with the combined stimulation of the vascular wall cells with LPS and OSM. Another mechanism possibly mediating these effects could be that LPS is increasing the expression of one of the OSM receptor components, thus increasing the ability of the cells to respond to OSM. Human monocytes have been shown to increase the expression of OSMr- $\beta$  in response to LPS treatment [208].

To test this hypothesis, HAoAFs were stimulated for 2 or 6 hours with LPS, OSM, or LPS and OSM, and the OSMr- $\beta$  RNA levels were analyzed using RT-qPCR (Fig. 17 a and b). The results indicated that LPS induced a 1.8 fold increase in OSMr- $\beta$  transcript levels at 2 hours (Fig. 17 a) compared to cells treated with media alone. There was no increase in OSMr- $\beta$  RNA levels when HAoAFs were stimulated with 0.5 ng/mL OSM for 2 hours, while the combined treatment of LPS and 0.5 ng/mL OSM resulted in a 1.9 fold increase in OSMr- $\beta$  RNA levels compared to control treated cells (Fig. 17a). However, when 5 ng/mL OSM was combined with LPS, there was no increase in OSMr- $\beta$  mRNA levels compared to control treated cells at 2 hours (Fig. 17a).

OSMr- $\beta$  transcript levels increased 1.7 and 3 fold compared to control when treated with 0.5 or 5 ng/mL OSM respectively at 6 hours (Fig. 17b). While LPS alone was able to induce a 2.2 fold increase in OSMr- $\beta$  transcript levels

compared to control levels at 6 hours, this effect was not additive with the effect of OSM alone in the combined LPS and OSM treatments (Fig. 17b).

#### HAoSMC OSMr-β Expression Levels

The levels of OSMr- $\beta$  mRNA expression were also measured in the HAoSMCs for the purpose of detecting changes in these levels post stimulation (Fig. 17 c and d). 6 hours following treatment LPS caused a 1.5 fold induction of the OSMr- $\beta$  transcript levels compared to control levels (Fig. 17 c). The cells treated with LPS + 5 ng/mL OSM had a 2 fold higher induction of OSMr- $\beta$  mRNA compared to 5 ng/mL OSM alone (3.5 vs. 1.7), while there was no difference in mRNA levels with the combined treatment of 0.5 ng/mL OSM and LPS compared with 0.5 ng/mL OSM alone (Fig. 17 c).

18 hours post stimulation the effect of LPS alone on OSMr- $\beta$  mRNA levels disappeared (Fig. 17 d). Despite this, OSMr- $\beta$  mRNA levels were elevated following treatment with LPS and 0.5 ng/mL OSM compared to 0.5 ng/mL OSM alone (3 fold vs. 1.7 fold). Once again this effect was only seen at one dose of the combined treatment, as there was no augmentation in RNA levels when 5 ng/mL OSM is compared to the combined LPS and 5 ng/mL OSM treated samples. After measuring the mRNA expression levels in HAoAFs and HAoSMCs, there did appear to be a slight increase in OSMr- $\beta$  levels following LPS treatment in three out of the four time points tested.

# **Immunoblots**

Another possible mechanism by which synergy could occur is amplification of signaling pathways within the cell upon co-stimulation. In order to elucidate the signaling pathways that were being activated, known downstream effectors of either LPS and/or OSM signalling were analyzed by Western blotting for phosphorylation. MAAF cells were cultured and then stimulated for 20 minutes (Fig. 18) or 4 hours (Fig. 19) with media (control), LPS alone, two different doses of OSM alone, or LPS in combination with the different doses of OSM.

# MAAFs – STAT Phosphorylation

Following stimulation for 20 minutes, STAT-1 and STAT-5 appeared to be phosphorylated by OSM alone at 5 ng/mL, or in combination with LPS, however the there was no observable increase in the combined treatment compared to OSM alone (Fig. 18). STAT-3 has two different phosphorylation sites. When phosphorylated at Tyr 705, STAT-3 dimerizes, translocates to the nucleus, and binds to DNA [209]. Activation of the MAPK and mTOR pathways seems to induce phosphorylation at Ser 727, and maximizes transcription [210]. MAAF cells that were treated with OSM alone or in combination with LPS, but not with LPS alone, demonstrated a marked increase in the STAT-3 phosphorylation signal at both Tyr 705, and Ser 727 that was present at both 20 minutes and 4 hours (Fig. 18 and 19). This signal was not augmented when LPS was added.

# MAAFs – Akt Phosphorylation

OSM has also been shown to induce phosphorylation of Akt Ser 473 in mouse lung fibroblasts [211]. When MAAF cell lysates were probed for phosphorylated Akt Ser 473 following stimulation with OSM alone for 20 minutes, there was dose dependent phosphorylation signal detected. The combination of OSM and LPS resulted in no change in signal intensity compared to OSM alone (Fig. 18). There was no detectable regulation of this pathway by any treatment by 4 hours (Fig. 19).

#### MAAFs – MAPK phosphorylation

Both LPS and OSM have been shown to activate MAP Kinase signaling pathways [62,134], and thus the phosphorylation signal of p38, ERK, and JNK were assessed. MAAFs treated with LPS in combination with OSM resulted in a small but detectable increase in the p38 phosphorylation signal observed at Threonine 180/Tyrosine 182 compared to either LPS or OSM treatments alone (Fig. 18). The p38 phosphorylation signal also appeared to increases as the dose of OSM that was administered increased.

Antibodies to detect the phosphorylation of ERK 1/2 were also used to probe the MAAF lysates. There was not a consistent increase in the detected ERK 1/2 phosphorylation signal following the combined LPS and OSM stimulation compared to either treatment alone after 20 minutes or 4 hours.

In examining the phosphorylated JNK signal by western blot, neither LPS, nor OSM at 0.5 ng/mL resulted in phosphorylation of JNK at 20 min, while 5

ng/mL OSM resulted in a moderate amount of phosphorylation (Fig. 18). When LPS was combined with 0.5 or 5 ng/mL OSM, there was a dose dependent increase in the detectable JNK phosphorylation signal compared to either treatment alone.

# MAAFs – NF-*kB* phosphorylation

A known member of the TLR-4 signalling cascade is NF- $\kappa$ B. RelA (p65) is a component of this molecule that acts with p50 to induce transcription once I $\kappa$ B has been phosphorylated. Once inside the nucleus, p65 can be phosphorylated at several sites. Phosphorylation of NF- $\kappa$ B p65 at Ser 536 increases transcriptional activity, and decreases affinity of I $\kappa$ B-alpha for NF- $\kappa$ B [212]. To determine whether the MAAF cells were activating this pathway, MAAF lysates were probed for phosphorylated p65 at Serine 536, and for total p65 (Fig. 18 and 19). LPS stimulation alone or in combination with OSM induced phosphorylation of this motif at 20 minutes (Fig. 18) but not at 4 hours (Fig. 19). At 20 minutes, OSM treatment alone did not induce a phosphorylation signal at this site. At the 4 hour time-point, there was an increase in total p65 upon stimulation with OSM, and so despite the slightly darker bands that resulted from probing for phosphop65 Ser 536 in OSM treated cells, this could be attributed to an increase in total p65.

### HAoAFs – STAT phosphorylation

To determine if human cells responded similarly, HAoAF cells were cultured and then stimulated for 20 minutes or 4 hours with media (control), LPS
alone, two different doses of OSM alone, or LPS in combination with the different doses of OSM (Fig. 20 and 21).

OSM was able to stimulate phosphorylation of STATs 1, 3, and 5 alone, and in combination with LPS after 20 minutes (Fig. 20). There was no increase in the phosphorylation signals detected above that achieved with OSM alone at these sites when LPS and OSM were combined. Of the STATs probed, only phosphorylation of STAT-3 at Tyrosine 705 was increased by OSM at 4 hours post stimulation (Fig. 21). The only STAT molecule that was phosphorylated by LPS alone was STAT-3 at Serine 727. This is not surprising, as MAPK activation causes phosphorylation at this site, and LPS caused phosphorylation of ERK1/2 after 20 min.

### HAoAFs – Akt phosphorylation

Similar to the MAAFs, OSM was able to stimulate phosphorylation of Akt at Serine 473 after 20 min, with no additional phosphorylation observable when LPS was combined with OSM (Fig. 20).

### HAoAFs – MAPK phosphorylation

In terms of the MAP Kinases, at 20 minutes post stimulation there was no phosphorylation of p38 with LPS alone or 0.5 ng/mL OSM alone. When LPS was combined with 0.5 ng/mL OSM, there was phosphorylation that was detectable (Fig. 20). 5 ng/mL OSM alone did produce a signal, however that signal was amplified when combined with LPS (Fig. 20). Therefore, as was seen with

60

MAAFs, it appears that when LPS is combined with OSM to treat the HAoAFs, there is an amplified p38 signal.

ERK 1/2 phosphorylation levels were regulated in a dose dependent manner by OSM, and were also regulated by LPS treatment, however the effects of the combined treatment was not greater than either treatment alone (Fig. 20). JNK phosphorylation signal was also regulated in a dose dependent manner by OSM, however there was no regulation of phosphorylation by LPS, and the combined treatment did not alter levels of phosphorylation detected compared to OSM alone (Fig. 20). In addition, neither JNK nor ERK 1/2 phosphorylation were detected at the 4 hour time point following stimulation (Fig. 21). Therefore, although there was an amplification of the JNK signal with the combined LPS and OSM treatment in the MAAFs, this was not detected in HAoAF cells.

The final protein that was probed for phosphorylation was NF $\kappa$ B p65 at Serine 536. As expected, and as was observed in the MAAFs, LPS treatment alone, or in combination with OSM resulted in increased phosphorylation at this site compared to control. OSM treatment had no effect relative to control, and did not amplify the signal when combined with LPS (Fig. 20).

In conclusion, of all the proteins that were probed for phosphorylation in the HAoAFs, only the p38 signal was amplified upon co-stimulation, which correlated with the synergistic cytokine response that was observed upon stimulation of the HAoAFs with LPS combined with OSM.

61

## **RESULTS PART 3**

There are numerous cytokines that have been implicated in atherosclerosis development and progression, and in reality many are present at the same time within the atherosclerotic lesion. The results described thus far have been focusing mostly on Oncostatin M, a single cytokine. Tests were thus completed to determine whether inhibiting OSM among a milieu of cytokines is effective in modulating HAoAF activity. Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) were isolated from a normal healthy volunteer, plated, and stimulated with 100 ng/mL of LPS. The supernatants were collected after 24 hours and frozen for future use.

### LPS Stimulated PBMCs Produce IFN-y, IL-1β, IL-6, and OSM

Analysis of the contents of the LPS stimulated PBMC supernatants (Conditioned Medium (CM)) indicated that there were significant levels of (approximate concentrations): IFN- $\gamma$  (300 pg/mL), IL-1 $\beta$  (2300 pg/mL), IL-6 (2900 pg/mL), and OSM (2200 pg/mL) (Fig. 22). In comparison, cultures of PBMCs that were unstimulated did not induce levels of detectable inflammatory molecules (Fig. 22). These LPS stimulated PBMC supernatants provided a milieu of proinflammatory cytokines including OSM.

#### Anti-OSM neutralizing antibody does not alter IL-6 in HAoAFs treated CM

As illustrated in Fig. 23, treatment of HAoAFs with PBMC CM resulted in a robust IL-6 response that was dose dependent as measured by ELISA.

In order to determine the role that OSM was playing in terms of HAoAF cell IL-6 expression, neutralizing antibodies to either the OSM ligand, or the OSM receptor component OSMr- $\beta$  were employed. As a control, 1 ng/mL recombinant OSM was used to stimulate the cells alone, or in combination with a 1:1000 molar ratio of OSM to anti-OSM neutralizing antibody, or mouse IgG control antibody (6.8 µg/mL of antibody) (Fig. 24a). This dose of neutralizing antibody resulted in an 80% reduction in recombinant OSM induced IL-6 levels compared to the mouse IgG antibody (Fig. 24a). A dilution of 1:800 of the PBMC CM was chosen for use with antibodies based on the dilution test (Fig. 23), and therefore the concentration of OSM in the CM was diluted from 2200 pg/mL to 3 pg/mL (and the IL-6 in the CM from 3000 pg/mL to 4 pg/mL). The amount of antibody that was added was in a 1:100 molar ratio of OSM ligand: neutralizing or control antibody (1.9 ng/mL of antibody). There was no detectable IL-6 inhibition when the anti-OSM neutralizing antibody was added to the PBMC CM compared to the IgG control antibody (Fig. 24a). This experiment was repeated, and the same results were observed.

# Anti-OSMr-β neutralizing antibody inhibits IL-6 production in HAoAFs treated with LPS stimulated PBMC supernatants

To determine whether a neutralizing antibody to one of the OSM receptor components could inhibit OSM mediated IL-6 levels in HAoAF supernatants, an anti-OSMr- $\beta$  neutralizing antibody was tested. To determine whether the effects of recombinant OSM could be inhibited, recombinant OSM and the anti-OSMr- $\beta$  neutralizing antibody were administered at the same concentrations as described above (1 ng/mL OSM and 6.8  $\mu$ g/mL of antibody). The OSMr- $\beta$  neutralizing antibody inhibited IL-6 production 45% compared to mouse IgG levels in cells stimulated with recombinant OSM (Fig. 24b). Using ten times less antibody than was used to inhibit the recombinant OSM, 681 ng/mL of anti-OSMr- $\beta$  Ab inhibited IL-6 production by HAoAFs stimulated with PBMC CM by 42% compared to HAoAFs treated with CM and an equivalent dose of mouse IgG control antibody (1 800 pg/mL vs. 3 100 pg/mL) (Fig. 24b). This experiment was repeated, and similar results were observed.

## **FIGURES**

**Fig. 1** – MAAF cells were treated for 18 hours, and the supernatants were analyzed by ELISA for IL-6. a) MAAFs were treated with increasing doses of OSM. b) - f) MAAFs were treated with increasing doses of LPS alone or with 0.5, or 5 ng/mL b) OSM, c) LIF, d) CT-1, e) IL-31 or f) IL-11. Note: The limit of detection of the ELISA is 15 pg/mL. Statistical significance: \*,  $p \le 0.05$ , \*\*,  $p \le$ 0.01, a) compared to control, b)-f) compared to LPS alone at that concentration.





**Fig. 2** – MAAF cells were treated for 18 hours, and the supernatants were analyzed by ELISA for KC. a) MAAFs were treated with increasing doses of OSM. b)–g) MAAFs were treated with increasing doses of LPS alone or with 0.5, or 5 ng/mL: b) OSM, c) LIF, d) CT-1, e) IL-6, f) IL-11, or g) IL-31. Statistical significance: \*,  $p \le 0.05$ , \*\*,  $p \le 0.01$ , a) compared to control, b)-g) compared to LPS alone at that concentration.

b)

20000











0 0.01 0.1

→ LPS + 0.5 ng/mL mIL-6 → LPS + 5 ng/mL mIL-6

- LPS Only

10 100

1

LPS Administered (ng/mL)

MAAF: LPS +/- IL-31

0 0.01 0.1 1 10 100 LPS Administered (ng/mL)





MAAF: LPS +/- OSM



5000





**Fig. 3** – MAAF cells were treated for 18 hours, and the supernatants were analyzed by ELISA for VEGF. MAAFs were treated with increasing doses of LPS alone or with 0.5, or 5 ng/mL OSM. Statistical significance: \*,  $p \le 0.05$ , \*\*,  $p \le$ 0.01, compared to LPS alone at that concentration. Note: The limit of detection of the ELISA is 15 pg/mL. MAAFs were also treated with increasing doses of OSM alone, or LPS with 0.5, or 5 ng/mL of LIF, IL-6, IL-31, or IL-11, and none of the VEGF values were above the limit of detection of the ELISA (data not shown).



Figure 3

**Fig. 4** – MAAF cells were treated for 18 hours, and the supernatants were analyzed by ELISA for IL-6. MAAFs were treated with increasing doses of TLR-3 ligand Poly I:C alone, or with 0.5 ng/mL OSM. Note: The limit of detection of the ELISA is 15 pg/mL.



Figure 4

**Fig. 5** – RAAF cells were treated for 18 hours, and the supernatants were analyzed by ELISA for IL-6. a) RAAFs were treated with increasing doses of OSM. b) RAAFs were treated with increasing doses of LPS alone or with 0.5 ng/mL OSM. c) RAAFs were treated with increasing doses of Poly I:C alone or with 0.5 ng/mL OSM. Note: The limit of detection of the ELISA is 125 pg/mL. Statistical significance: \*,  $p \le 0.05$ , \*\*,  $p \le 0.01$ , compared to LPS alone at that concentration. a)



b)



C)



Figure 5

**Fig. 6** – Human Aortic Adventitial Fibroblasts (HAoAFs) were treated for 18 hours, and the supernatants were analyzed by ELISA for IL-6. a) HAoAFs were treated with increasing doses of OSM. b)-f) HAoAFs were treated with increasing doses of LPS alone or with b) 0.1, or 0.5 ng/mL OSM, c) 5 ng/mL OSM, d) 5 ng/mL LIF, e) 5 ng/mL IL-31, or f) 5 ng/mL IL-11. Statistical significance: \*, p  $\leq$ 0.05, \*\*, p $\leq$  0.01, a) compared to control, b)-f) compared to LPS alone at that concentration.



Figure 6

**Fig. 7** – Human Aortic Adventitial Fibroblasts (HAoAFs) were treated for 18 hours, and the supernatants were analyzed by ELISA for IL-8. a) HAoAFs were treated with increasing doses of OSM. b)-f) HAoAFs were treated with increasing doses of LPS alone or with 0.5, or 5 ng/mL b) OSM, c) LIF, d) IL-6, e) IL-31, or f) IL-11. Statistical significance: \*,  $p \le 0.05$ , \*\*,  $p \le 0.01$ , a) compared to control, b)-f) compared to LPS alone at that concentration.



Figure 7

**Fig. 8** – Human Aortic Adventitial Fibroblasts (HAoAFs) were treated for 18 hours, and the supernatants were analyzed by ELISA for VEGF. a) HAoAFs were treated with increasing doses of OSM. b)-f) HAoAFs were treated with increasing doses of LPS alone or with 5 ng/mL b) OSM, c) LIF, d) IL-6, e) IL-31, or f) IL-11. Note: The limit of detection of the ELISA is 30 pg/mL. Statistical significance: \*,  $p \le 0.05$ , \*\*,  $p \le 0.01$ , a) compared to control, b)-f) compared to LPS alone at that concentration.



Figure 8

**Fig. 9** – HAoAF cells were stimulated for 2 hours [ a)-d) ] or 6 hours [ e)-h) ] with the treatments listed and then were lysed. The RNA was extracted, and RTqPCR was performed to quantify the RNA. Statistical significance: \*,  $p \le 0.05$ , \*\*,  $p \le 0.01$ .







Figure 9

**Fig. 10** – Supernatants of HAoAF cells that were treated for a) 2 hours or b) 6 hours for RNA quantification were collected and analyzed by ELISA for IL-6. Statistical significance: \*,  $p \le 0.05$ , \*\*,  $p \le 0.01$ .



Figure 10

**Fig. 11** – HAoSMCs were treated for 18 hours, and the supernatants were collected and analyzed by ELISA for IL-6. a) HAoSMCs were treated with increasing doses of OSM. b) HAoSMCs were treated with increasing doses of LPS alone or with 0.05, or 0.1 ng/mL OSM. c) – f) HAoSMCs were treated with increasing doses of LPS alone or with 0.5 ng/mL c) OSM, d) LIF, e) IL-31, or f) IL-11. Statistical significance: \*,  $p \le 0.05$ , \*\*,  $p \le 0.01$ , a) compared to control, b)-f) compared to LPS alone at that concentration.



Figure 11

**Fig. 12** – HAoSMCs were treated for 18 hours, and the supernatants were collected and analyzed by ELISA for IL-8. HAoSMCs were treated with increasing doses of a) OSM alone, or HAoSMCs were treated with increasing doses of LPS alone or with 0.5, or 5 ng/mL b) OSM, c) LIF, d) IL-6, e) IL-31, or f) IL-11. Statistical significance: \*,  $p \le 0.05$ , \*\*,  $p \le 0.01$ , a) compared to control, b)-f) compared to LPS alone at that concentration.



Figure 12

**Fig. 13** – HAoSMCs were treated for 18 hours, and the supernatants were collected and analyzed by ELISA for VEGF. HAoSMCs were treated with increasing doses of a) OSM alone, or HAoSMCs were treated with increasing doses of LPS alone or with 0.5, or 5 ng/mL b) OSM, c) LIF, d) IL-6, e) IL-31, or f) IL-11. Note: the limit of detection of the ELISA is 30 pg/mL. Statistical significance: \*,  $p \le 0.05$ , \*\*,  $p \le 0.01$ , a) compared to control, b)-f) compared to LPS alone at that concentration.



Figure 13

**Fig. 14** – HAoSMCs were stimulated for 6 hours [a)-d) ] or 18 hours [e)-h) ] with the treatments listed and then were lysed. The RNA was extracted, and RTqPCR was performed to quantify the RNA. Statistical significance: \*,  $p \le 0.05$ , \*\*,  $p \le 0.01$ . a)

\*\*

6 hr

HAoSMC Relative Expression of IL-6





Figure 14

92

**Fig. 15** – a) HAoAFs were treated with increasing doses of LPS alone or with 100 ng/mL soluble CD14 b) HAoAFs were treated with a constant dose of LPS (1ng/mL) alone or in combination with increasing doses of soluble CD14. Supernatants were collected after 18 hours and analyzed by ELISA for IL-6.



Figure 15

**Fig 16** – a) MAAFs were treated for 2, 6, or 24 hours with either media (control) or 5 ng/mL of OSM. At the designated time point cells were lifted from the culture dish using 1mM EDTA in PBS. At each time point, the samples were stained with a FITC labelled TLR-4 or isotype control antibody. Mean fluorescence of the samples was measured using flow cytometry. b)-e) HAoAF cells were stimulated for b) 2 or c) 6 hours, and HAoSMCs were stimulated for d) 6 or e) 18 hours with the treatments listed and then were lysed. The RNA was extracted, and RT-qPCR was performed to quantify the RNA. Statistical significance: \*,  $p \le 0.05$ , \*\*,  $p \le 0.01$ .
















HAoSMC Relative Expression of TLR-4



Figure 16

e)

**Fig 17** – HAoAF cells were stimulated for a) 2 or b) 6 hours, and HAoSMCs were stimulated for c) 6 or d) 18 hours with the treatments listed and then were lysed. The RNA was extracted, and RT-qPCR was performed to quantify the RNA. Statistical significance: \*,  $p \le 0.05$ , \*\*,  $p \le 0.01$ .



6 hr



HAOSMC Relative Expression of OSMr β



18 hr





c)

**Fig. 18** – Mouse Aortic Adventitial Fibroblasts (MAAFs) were treated for 20 minutes with media (control), LPS (10 ng/mL), OSM (either 0.5 or 5 ng/mL), or a combination of LPS (10 ng/mL) and OSM (either 0.5 or 5 ng/mL), at which point cells were collected and lysed. Lysates were transferred to a nitrocellulose membrane after separation using SDS-PAGE, and probed with the antibodies listed.

# Master's Thesis – D. Schnittker

pSTAT-1 (Tyr 701)				eren i		10-10	pJNK (Thr 183/ Tyr 185)	pAkt (Ser 473)														
STAT-1	-	-		-	-	-	JNK							Akt								
pSTAT-3 (Tyr 705)				-		-	pERK 1/2		-	-	-	-	-									
pSTAT-3 (Ser 727)	-		-			-	(1yr 187, 204)	2.22				diam'		nNE-rBn65	-	-				-		
STAT-3	-	-	-	-		÷	ERK 1/2	ERK 1/2 (Ser 536)														
pSTAT-5 (Tyr 694)				-	-	1	р-р38 (Thr 180/ Тут 182)												-			
STAT-5		-		H	E		p38	Actin											•			
LPS (10 ng/mL)	-	+	-	-	+	+		-	+	-	-	+	+		-	+	-	-	+	+		
OSM (0.5 ng/mL)	-	-	+	-	+	-		-	-	+	-	+	-		-	-	+	-	+	-		
OSM (5 ng/mL)	-	-	-	+	-	+		-	-	-	+	-	+		-	-	-	+	-	+		

Figure 18

**Fig. 19** – Mouse Aortic Adventitial Fibroblasts (MAAFs) were treated for 4 hours with media (control), LPS (10 ng/mL), OSM (either 0.5 or 5 ng/mL), or a combination of LPS (10 ng/mL) and OSM (either 0.5 or 5 ng/mL), at which point cells were collected and lysed. Lysates were transferred to a nitrocellulose membrane after separation using SDS-PAGE, and probed with the antibodies listed.



Figure 19

**Fig. 20** – Human Aortic Adventitial Fibroblasts (HAoAFs) were treated for 20 minutes with media (control), LPS (10 ng/mL), OSM (either 0.5 or 5 ng/mL), or a combination of LPS (10 ng/mL) and OSM (either 0.5 or 5 ng/mL), at which point cells were collected and lysed. Lysates were transferred to a nitrocellulose membrane after separation using SDS-PAGE, and probed with the antibodies listed.



Figure 20

**Fig. 21** – Human Aortic Adventitial Fibroblasts (HAoAFs) were treated for 4 hours with media (control), LPS (10 ng/mL), OSM (either 0.5 or 5 ng/mL), or a combination of LPS (10 ng/mL) and OSM (either 0.5 or 5 ng/mL), at which point cells were collected and lysed. Lysates were transferred to a nitrocellulose membrane after separation using SDS-PAGE, and probed with the antibodies listed.



Figure 21

**Fig 22** – PBMCs from a healthy volunteer were isolated, plated, and stimulated with media (control) or 100 ng/mL LPS. Supernatants were collected after 24 hours, and IFN- $\gamma$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , or IL-6 levels were measured by MSD multiplex ELISA. OSM levels were measured by ELISA.



**LPS Stimulated PBMCs** 

Figure 22

**Fig. 23** – Human Aortic Adventitial Fibroblasts (HAoAFs) were treated with dilutions of LPS stimulated PBMC conditioned medium (CM). After stimulation for 6 hours, the HAoAF supernatants were collected, and were analyzed for IL-6 protein by ELISA. Statistical significance: \*,  $p \le 0.05$ , \*\*,  $p \le 0.01$  as compared to control.



Figure 23

**Fig. 24** – **a**) Human Aortic Adventitial Fibroblasts (HAoAFs) were treated with supernatants from 24 hour LPS stimulated peripheral blood mononuclear cells (CM) alone, with CM and a mouse IgG antibody, or with CM and an anti-OSM antibody. The antibodies were incubated with the CM for 2 hours at 37 °C prior to treatment of the HAoAFs. After 6 hours, the HAoAF supernatants were collected, and were analyzed for IL-6 protein by ELISA. **b**) HAoAFs were treated with CM alone, with CM and a mouse IgG antibody, or with CM and an anti-OSM receptor- $\beta$  antibody. The antibodies were incubated with the HAoAFs 1 hour prior to treatment. After 6 hours the HAoAF supernatants were collected and were analyzed for IL-6 protein by ELISA.

a)







## **CHAPTER 4 - DISCUSSION**

Infiltration of inflammatory cells into the vessel wall is a hallmark of atherosclerosis. The earliest lesion is composed of macrophages, some of which contain lipid droplets [213]. Leukocyte adhesion molecules are upregulated on endothelial cells both on the luminal side of the artery and on the vessels that infiltrate the adventitia (vasa vasorum) in areas where these lesions develop [214]. In addition, leukocyte chemo-attractant molecules such as the CC, and CXC chemokines are released by cells within the vessel wall [215]. This results in a further influx of monocytes into the vessel. Inflammatory molecules such as TNF $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, IFN $\gamma$ , and lipid oxidation products propagate the inflammatory response [16]. Proteases such as MMPs are released, which have the capacity to degrade the fibrous cap and expose the pro-coagulant contents of the plaque to the lumen of the artery [216].

As described above, atherosclerosis is an inflammatory process, and investigations have attempted to characterize stimuli that have the potential to initiate inflammatory responses in the vasculature. Infectious pathogens as well as danger associated host molecules stimulate the innate immune system to respond in a nonspecific, pro-inflammatory manner to cause cell activation and cytokine and chemokine release. Toll-like Receptors (TLRs) are involved in this response, and are receptors that bind specific exogenous and endogenous molecules [146]. TLR-4 is a well characterized member of this family that binds various ligands including the bacterial component LPS, and the endogenous molecules heat shock protein 60 (HSP60), fibrinogen, heparan sulfate, fibronectins, and oxidized LDL [217,149]. TLR-4 signals through NF-κB as well as the MAPK family to induce the expression of inflammatory molecules including IL-6 [75,89,225,227,228], and TNFα [218] in numerous cell types, and IL-12 primarily in phagocytes and lymphocytes [219]. TLR-4 has been studied with respect to its potential role in atherosclerosis. It is expressed on various cells within the atherosclerotic plaque [65,75], and when knocked out of ApoE -/- mice, there is a protective effect in terms of atherosclerotic lesion development [78]. Most studies examine TLRs with respect to innate immune cells such as macrophages or natural killer cells. There has been less emphasis on understanding the TLR responses of vessel wall cells of the aorta including smooth muscle cells (SMCs) and adventitial fibroblasts. The effects of TLR-4 signaling in these cells merits further investigation, especially in the context of other inflammatory stimuli.

OSM is a member of the gp130 cytokine family that has also been implicated in chronic inflammatory diseases. OSM is expressed, and participates in disease processes of the lungs of idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis [220] and asthmatic patients [221], and the joints of individuals with rheumatoid arthritis [163]. There is also evidence that one of the roles of OSM in the local tissue inflammatory response is to amplify the effects of other mediators of inflammation. Specifically, OSM in combination with TNF $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\alpha$  or with IL-17 was shown to cause synergistic breakdown of cartilage in explant models [222,223,224]. In addition, OSM combined with IL-1 *in vivo* to mediate joint

destruction in mice [225]. In human airway smooth muscle cells, the synergistic actions of OSM with IL-1 $\beta$  resulted in increased MCP-1, VEGF, and IL-6 [240]. Also in lung tissue, however this time in fibroblasts, OSM synergized with IL-4 in inducing eotaxin elevation [120]. As a result, OSM has been shown to not only elevate the levels of inflammatory factors alone, but evidence suggests that it can synergize with various mediators of inflammation. Various cell types express OSM including macrophages [226], T cells [99], eosinophils [101], dendritic cells [103] and neutrophils [104]. Thus inflammatory responses in local tissues that are infiltrated by such cells could show an increased load of OSM.

OSM has also been implicated in atherosclerosis. It has been detected both in human [175] and mouse (Richards, C.D., unpublished) atherosclerotic plaques. As detected by immunostaining, OSM localizes to macrophages, which can be detected in all layers of the vessel, as well as SMCs [175]. Endothelial cells have been shown to increase their expression of leukocyte adhesion molecules ICAM-1, VCAM-1, P-, and E-selectin upon stimulation with OSM [168], as well as endothelial cell proliferation and migration [167]. The presence of OSM in plaques, its ability to enhance leukocyte recruitment through expression of cell adhesion molecules and chemotactic factors, and its capacity to enhance the levels of pro-inflammatory molecules in connective tissue cells serve as evidence that it may play a role in the atherosclerotic process. This, combined with its ability to amplify inflammation in the context of other inflammatory mediators led to the

goal of this thesis work: to characterize the effects of OSM and LPS in vascular wall cells of the aorta, a well established site of atherosclerosis.

### Interleukin-6

OSM has been shown to elevate levels of IL-6, another member of the gp130 cytokine family, in numerous cell types including endothelial cells [171], astrocytes [172], peritoneal mesothelial cells [173], lung fibroblasts [211], and human aortic smooth muscle cells [174]. In the current study, the results of Bernard *et al.* [174] were reproduced, as OSM was able to elevate levels of IL-6 in HAoSMC supernatants in a dose dependent manner (Fig. 11a). In addition, MAAFs and HAoAFs were shown to elevate levels of IL-6 in response to OSM (Fig. 1 a and 6 a). The mRNA steady state levels of IL-6 were increased in the HAoAF cells as well at 2 and 6 hours in response to OSM (Fig. 9 a and e). To the best of our knowledge, this is the first time that aortic adventitial fibroblasts, either in mice or in humans, have been shown to express IL-6 in response to OSM.

LPS has also been shown to induce IL-6 in various cells including alveolar macrophages [227], lung fibroblasts [227], blood monocytes [225,227], umbilical vein endothelial cells [228], coronary artery smooth muscle cells [75], and IL-6 mRNA in human aortic adventitial fibroblasts [89]. LPS induced production of IL-6 has been shown to be mediated by the transcription factors NF-IL-6, NF- $\kappa$ B, and AP-1 [229]. Figures 6 and 11 indicate that IL-6 levels were elevated in HAoAF and HAoSMC supernatants respectively in a dose dependent manner

upon stimulation with LPS. In terms of steady state RNA levels that were detected, stimulation of HAoAFs and HAoSMCs with LPS resulted in elevated levels of IL-6 RNA compared to control values at two different time points (Fig. 9 a and e, 14 a and e).

Intriguingly, when LPS was used in combination with OSM to stimulate aortic adventitial fibroblasts from three different species (mouse, rat, and humans), there was a synergistic elevation of IL-6 that was detected in the supernatants (Fig. 1b, 5b, 6 b and c). This effect was also observed in HAoSMCs (Fig. 11 b and c). It can be inferred that in the human cells OSM was mediating its effects through the gp130:OSMr- $\beta$  complex and not the gp130:LIFr- $\beta$  complex, as LIF only signals through the gp130:LIFr- $\beta$  complex and did not produce the same effects as OSM (Fig. 6 d, 11 d). A recent study demonstrated that IL-6 was synergistically enhanced in astrocytes in response to TNF $\alpha$  and a  $\beta$ 2-adrenergic receptor agonist 'isoproterenol' [230]. This synergistic response was shown to be mediated by NF- $\kappa$ B, cAMP response element-binding (CREB) protein, and CREB binding protein (CBP) transcription factors [230]. TNF $\alpha$  alone activated NF- $\kappa$ B, and isoproterenol alone activated CREB binding to the IL-6 promoter respectively [230]. When the two treatments were combined, there was a synergistic increase in CBP that was bound to the IL-6 promoter [230]. CBP is a cofactor that binds numerous transcription factors including CREB, NF-KB, AP-1, and E2F, and can enhance transcription in numerous ways including acting as a link between transcription factors and transcription machinery, recruiting acetyl transferases to

the region, or acting as an acetyl transferase itself (reviewed in by Shiama [231]). CBP has been shown in numerous studies to mediate synergistic transcription. One such study demonstrated CBP induced synergy between NF-κB and STAT-1, activated by TNF $\alpha$  and IFN- $\gamma$  respectively, to increase transcription of CXCL9 (MIG)[232]. The elevated CBP binding the target promoter region in both of the studies discussed was shown to be correlated with an increase of RNA polymerase II binding to the promoter of the gene being transcribed (IL-6 [230] or MIG [232]). In the results presented in this report, LPS alone resulted in an increased phosphorylation signal of NF-kB p65, while OSM alone resulted in an increased phosphorylation signal of STAT-1 (Fig. 18 and 20). Furthermore, CBP has been shown to bind transcription factors including the AP-1 components c-fos and c-jun which can be activated by the MAPK pathway [231], and AP-1 has been demonstrated to be required for certain stimuli to cause IL-6 transcription [233]. The immunoblots performed in the current study (Fig. 18 and 20) indicate that there is a phosphorylation signal detected for the MAPK pathways implying activation of these pathways. Furthermore, there is a slight but detectable increase in the phosphorylated p38 signal in MAAFs and HAoAFs with the combined LPS and OSM treatment above either treatment alone. It is thus possible that CBP is enhancing transcription mediated by NF-κB in combination with either STAT-1 or one of the transcription factors downstream of the MAPK pathway, resulting in the IL-6 synergy observed in the vascular wall cells presented in this report. To further support this, one study demonstrated that LPS mediated IL-6 induction

was almost completely abrogated when the promoter region for NF-κB was mutated, indicating that LPS alone relies primarily on one transcription factor to induce IL-6 [233]. Should a second stimulus (OSM in this case) activate a different transcription factor to bind the promoter, this could enhance co-factor binding, thus increasing transcription.

The increased levels of IL-6 detected in the supernatants of the adventitial fibroblasts and SMCs could have important implications for atherosclerosis. Mice prone to atherosclerosis that have been injected with IL-6 have larger lesions compared to control animals [190]. Furthermore these mice express increased plasma levels of the pro-inflammatory TNF $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$ , and have elevated levels of fibrinogen [190]. In a separate study, ApoE deficient mice infected with P. gingivalis showed increased levels of serum IL-6, and IL-6 levels correlated both with infection and with lesion size [234]. IL-6 has been shown to increase the expression of monocyte chemoattractants in endothelial cells [193,194], which could recruit monocytes to the vessel wall. If OSM and TLR-4 activation synergistically enhance IL-6 levels *in vivo* as they do *in vitro*, this could be a biologically relevant pathway mediating vascular inflammation. It should be noted that the role of IL-6 in atherosclerosis requires further investigation, as LDLr -/- mice crossed with IL-6 -/- mice experienced only modest decreases in lesion size compared to LDLr -/- mice alone [235].

## Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor (VEGF)

There are 4 human VEGF proteins (VEGF A-D), with VEGF A (from now on 'VEGF') being the best characterized. VEGF was originally given the name 'vascular permeability factor' due to its ability to rapidly increase the permeability of microvasculature upon release from tumors [39]. It was later found to be a mitogen for endothelial cells [236], and to induce angiogenesis [237]. The VEGF gene is located on human chromosome 6p12, and has 8 exons separated by 7 introns [238]. VEGF is able to bind two receptors: VEGFr-1 and VEGFr-2, both of which are present on vascular endothelial cells (VEGFr-2 is also present on lymphatic endothelial cells) [238], while VEGFr-1 is present on mononuclear leukocytes [239].

OSM has been shown to induce VEGF expression in human airway smooth muscle cells [240], and in coronary and aortic smooth muscle cells of atherosclerotic patients [146]. The latter finding that OSM induces elevated levels of VEGF in HAoSMC supernatants was reproduced here (Fig. 13a). However to the best of our knowledge the data presented in this report is the first time HAoAFs have been shown to elevate expression of VEGF in response to OSM or LPS alone, at the protein (Fig. 8 a) or mRNA levels (Fig. 9 c and g). It can be inferred that in the human cells OSM was mediating its effects through the gp130:OSMr- $\beta$  complex and not the gp130:LIFr- $\beta$  complex, as LIF only signals through the gp130:LIFr- $\beta$  complex and did not produce the same effects observed with OSM (Fig. 8 c, 13 c).

Interestingly, it was demonstrated that macrophages were unable to produce detectable levels of VEGF upon stimulation with LPS alone, however in combination with adenosine A2A receptor (A2AR) agonists was able to synergistically enhance the expression of VEGF [241]. The hypoxia response element (HRE) of the VEGF promoter, which is the binding site for the transcription factor hypoxia inducible factor-1 (HIF-1), was found to be necessary for the synergistic response [241]. This transcription factor is composed of two proteins that form a dimer: HIF-1 $\alpha$  and HIF-1 $\beta$ , and while HIF-1 $\beta$  is stably expressed, HIF-1 $\alpha$  is extremely unstable at normal oxygen levels [241]. Several growth factors and hormones have been shown to increase HIF-1 $\alpha$  steady state expression, and Ramanathan *et al.* [241] demonstrated that the macrophages increased transcription of HIF-1 $\alpha$  in response to LPS. This increase in HIF-1 $\alpha$ mRNA was dependent on NF-kB acitivation. NF-kB was found to have an increased phosphorylation signal in the findings presented here in response to LPS (Fig. 18 and 20) suggesting activation of NF- $\kappa$ B. It is thus possible that this same mechanism was mediating the synergistic VEGF response observed in MAAFs (Fig. 3 b), HAoAFs (Fig. 8b), and HAoSMCs (Fig. 13 b) when LPS was combined with OSM, as LPS alone did not elevate VEGF in the supernatants of either MAAFs or HAoSMCs, OSM did elevate VEGF levels, and in combination there was a synergistic response.

Despite the fact that elevated levels of VEGF protein were detected in response to the combined treatment of LPS and OSM in all three cell types, the

mRNA data for both HAoAFs and HAoSMCs did not indicate an increase in steady state VEGF mRNA levels with the combined treatment compared to the treatments alone (Fig. 9 c and g, 14 c and g). One possible explanation for the incongruence between the mRNA and ELISA data is that the time points chosen may not have been optimal for detecting augmented VEGF RNA in the combined treatment compared to the treatments alone. In a time course experiment performed by Martin *et al.* [242] where mouse endothelial cell VEGF mRNA was measured at various time points post stimulation with IL-8, maximal VEGF mRNA was expressed at 12 hours post stimulation compared to control.

Alternatively, it is possible that events post-transcription were responsible for an increase in the protein detected, without increases in mRNA levels. For example, the phosphorylated form of the eukaryotic initiation factor eIF-4E has been shown to have 3-4 fold higher affinity for the 7-methylguanosine-containing cap structure of mRNA than the non-phosphorylated form [243], which can result in increased protein synthesis [244]. eIF-4E phosphorylation by LPS could explain why despite not having elevated steady state mRNA levels, there were increased levels of VEGF protein detected in the supernatants, as the VEGF mRNA induced by OSM could be translated more efficiently. However it is unknown if this mechanism is likely to occur, as LPS has been shown to increase the binding of eIF-4E to 4E-BP-1, forming an inactive complex, which results in decreased protein synthesis [245].

There is evidence to suggest that VEGF could play a role in the development of atherosclerosis. It has been shown to increase the permeability of endothelial cells [39], which could facilitate monocyte entry into the vessel wall. Supporting this, VEGF can induce monocyte chemotaxis *in vitro* [38]. VEGF has also been detected in atherosclerotic plaques, but not in normal arteries, and was found to localize to endothelial cells, macrophages, and SMCs, and within microvessels of advanced lesions [246]. Mice deficient in ApoE and ApoB100 that were treated with low doses of VEGF were shown to have larger lesions that contained more macrophages compared to control mice [247].

One of the roles of VEGF is in promoting angiogenesis [236,237]. Intimal capillaries have been shown to have higher levels of leukocyte adhesion molecules VCAM-1, ICAM-1 and E-selectin than are present at the artery surface [248], which would have the potential to mediate increased extravasation of monocytes into the vessel wall. Furthermore, enhanced vasa vasorum was found in plaque regions, but not in areas of healthy vessels, and administration of an inhibitor of angiogenesis reduced the plaque size and vasa vasorum of Apo-E deficient mice [249]. Moreover, the presence of microvessels co-localized with VEGF within the plaque, and these vessels have been correlated with plaque instability and ischemic symptoms [250]. The findings presented in this report that LPS and OSM can synergize to enhance VEGF levels in the supernatants of MAAFs, HAoAFs, and HAoSMCs suggest that this is another mechanism by which these two factors could influence inflammation in the vascular wall.

## KC and IL-8

Keratinocyte-derived cytokine (KC) was originally discovered to be released by 3T3 cells in response to PDGF [251] and has been found to be a potent neutrophil chemoattractant [252,253]. KC is a member of the murine CXC chemokine family and like other members of this family, it is located on mouse chromosome 5 [201]. Increased levels of KC have been shown to be expressed in response to both OSM and LPS. KC has been shown to be expressed by murine macrophages [254], and porcine [255] and murine [256] endothelial cells in response to LPS. OSM stimulation of murine cardiac fibroblasts resulted in KC expression by these cells [200]. The findings presented in this report indicate that LPS alone increased KC levels significantly, while the higher doses of OSM alone also elevated the levels of KC in MAAF supernatants (Fig. 2 a and b).

In the mouse, KC has been implicated in atherosclerosis. In one study the authors transplanted bone marrow from KC receptor CXCr-2 deficient or CXCr-2 competent mice into LDLr -/- mice, and both groups received a high fat diet for 16 weeks. The lesions of the CXCr-2 competent mice were significantly larger after this time period, and while KC was found in the lesions of both groups of mice, CXCr-2 was only found in the lesions of CXCr-2 competent mice [257]. In an *ex vivo* model of hypertension, KC was one of the mediators of monocyte adhesion to murine carotid arteries [199]. These studies suggest a role for both the KC ligand and its receptor in mouse models of atherosclerosis. The combined treatment of MAAF cells with LPS and OSM resulted in synergistically elevated

levels of KC, which was a unique property of OSM compared to the other gp130 cytokines tested (Fig. 2). Should these two stimulants be present in the murine vascular wall, it is possible that they could participate in atherosclerosis in mice through elevation of KC.

In terms of KC gene expression, several potential transcription sites have been located at the 5' end of the KC gene, and mutation of two  $\kappa$ B binding sites significantly inhibited KC expression in response to LPS stimulation [258]. Both of these sites were shown to bind NF- $\kappa$ B proteins p50, p65, and c-Rel [258]. As observed in the findings presented in this report (Fig. 18), the phosphorylation signal of p65 was elevated in response to LPS, and so it is possible that p65 was mediating transcription of KC in this system as well. OSM mediated KC expression was shown in cardiac fibroblasts to be dependent on the PI3K/Akt pathway [200]. OSM was able to increase the phosphorylated Akt signal detected in MAAFs (Fig. 18), suggesting that this pathway may be necessary for the OSM induced elevation in KC detected in the supernatants. Therefore it is also possible that the combined activation of the NF- $\kappa$ B pathway and the Akt pathway that were activated separately by LPS and OSM respectively, were mediating the synergistic elevation in KC detected when the two treatments were combined.

There are numerous similarities between KC and murine MIP-2. These chemokines have amino acid sequences that were shown to be 63% similar [259], and they were shown to bind the same receptor, CXCr-2 [253]. MIP-2 was released by macrophages in response to endotoxin, and was shown to be a potent

chemoattractant for PMNCs [260]. The closest human protein that was associated with MIP-2 was that of human growth regulated oncogene (Gro), and they were 62.5% identical [260]. KC was shown to have a closely related amino acid sequence to the human Gro cytokine as well, as the sequences exhibit 65.6% similarity [260]. In addition, KC and MIP-2 were shown to respectively have 41 and 36% similarity to the human IL-8 amino acid sequence [259]. There appears to be a consensus in the literature that human IL-8 does not have a direct homolog in mice. However, there is uncertainty in the field as to whether KC and/or MIP-2 is/are the *functional* homolog(s) of IL-8 or Gro.

IL-8 is a member of the CXC chemokine family, and has a well established role as a neutrophil chemo-attractant [73]. It is expressed as a 77 and 72 amino acid long protein in non-immune and immune cells respectively. IL-8 signals through either CXCr-1 or CXCr-2, two G-protein coupled cell surface receptors. While CXCr-1 is able to bind IL-8 and granulocyte chemotactic protein-2, CXCr-2 can bind numerous CXC chemokines such as IL-8, neutrophil activating peptide, granulocyte chemotactic protein-2, and the growth-related oncogenes (GRO $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ , and  $\gamma$ )(reviewed by Waugh and Wilson [261]). The transcription factors NF-IL-6 and the p65 component of NF- $\kappa$ B have been shown to be important in mediating hIL-8 gene expression [262].

In terms of atherosclerosis, foam cells have been shown to express high levels of IL-8 [263], and IL-8 has been found inside human coronary atherectomy tissues [264]. IL-8 is able to induce vascular smooth muscle cell proliferation [264], and has been demonstrated *in vitro* to cause monocyte adhesion to endothelial cells, suggesting a role in monocyte recruitment [265]. However the role of IL-8 in atherosclerosis is not entirely clear, as it has been demonstrated that IL-8 was able to decrease VCAM-1 expression on endothelial cells in an *in vitro* model mimicking athero-prone blood flow [266], which would result in decreased monocyte recruitment. In addition, IL-1 $\beta$  induced NF- $\kappa$ B activity and p38 phosphorylation was inhibited by IL-8 [266]. Thus although the role of IL-8 in atherosclerosis is not completely defined, it appears to participate in the process in a pro-inflammatory manner. The results described in this report that demonstrate IL-8 to be supressed in human vascular wall cells in response to LPS combined with OSM compared to LPS alone, suggest that if these results are representative of what occurs in the atherosclerotic plaque, OSM may have diverse inflammatory roles within the vessel wall.

The inhibition of IL-8 levels that were detected when OSM was combined with LPS to treat cells appears to be occurring prior to translation of the IL-8 transcript, as IL-8 mRNA steady state levels are lower in HAoAFs (Fig. 9 b and f) and HAoSMCs (Fig. 14 b and f) in response to the combined treatment compared to LPS stimulated levels alone. One study has demonstrated that the IL-8 that was induced upon exposure of airway epithelial cells to TNF $\alpha$  was suppressed in response to glucocorticoid receptor upregulation. This upregulation of the receptor resulted in decreased histone H4 acetylation at the IL-8 promoter region [267]. This in turn would increase the attraction between the histone and DNA,

inhibiting transcription. OSM has indirectly been shown to activate histone deacetylases (HDACs), as treatment of cartilage samples in vitro with HDAC inhibitors decreased the OSM mediated cartilage proteoglycan and collagen proteolysis and MMP upregulation [268]. OSM causing decreased histone H4 acetylation by activating HDACs is a possible mechanism that could explain why IL-8 levels were supressed with the combined LPS and OSM treatment. In another study, OSM inhibited the expression of IL-8 that was induced when human lung or synovial fibroblasts were stimulated with IL-1 [269]. This occurred concurrently with an enhancement in IL-6 levels that were observed with the IL-1 and OSM combined treatment [269]. It was postulated that OSM stimulation of cells could affect the AUUUA motif of the IL-8 mRNA which has been demonstrated to confer instability in the 3' untranslated region [269,270]. However it was also noted that this motif is expressed on the IL-6 transcript as well, and therefore how OSM would affect this motif of one transcript but not the other is unclear [269]. Another study demonstrated that OSM was also able to supress IL-8 that was induced by IL-1 in human peritoneal mesothelial cells, while at the same time synergizing with IL-1 to cause the elevation of IL-6 and MCP-1 [173]. The authors suggested that OSM may inhibit neutrophil recruitment while at the same time attracting mononuclear leukocytes to sites of inflammation [173]. This observation may apply to atherosclerosis, as historically neutrophils have not been detected in developing lesions, although recently this view has come into question (reviewed by Soehnlein [271]).

It is interesting to note that besides being a leukocyte chemo-attractant, IL-8 also participates in angiogenesis [264, 272]. Data in this report indicates that while OSM is able to induce one potent angiogenic factor (VEGF) both in protein and mRNA expression alone and in combination with LPS, it markedly inhibits another angiogenic factor (IL-8) that is induced by LPS.

The fact that OSM supresses IL-8 expression in HAoSMCs and in HAoAFs but not KC in MAAFs may be explained by the fact that KC and IL-8 are not direct homologs, and despite sharing some functional characteristics, appear to differ significantly in others. It would be interesting to determine the role of OSM on MIP-2 levels in the MAAF supernatants, as if MIP-2 is supressed, this may contribute to the evidence that MIP-2 is more of a functional homolog of hIL-8 than KC.

#### <u>MCP-1</u>

MCP-1 is a member of the CC chemokine family, and is 13 kDa in size. MCP-1 binds to the CCR2 receptor, and the N-terminal region of the protein is necessary for this to occur [273]. MCP-1 was first isolated from murine embryonic fibroblasts [251], and shortly after in human tumours [274]. It is released by numerous cell types, and is best known as a potent monocyte chemoattractant, but also recruits T cells and dendritic cells to sites of tissue damage and infection (reviewed by Yadav *et al.* [275]).

The discovery that MCP-1 was present in human atherosclerotic plaques [276], that monocytes/macrophages were present in atherosclerotic plaques [276],

and that MCP-1 caused monocyte/macrophage chemoattraction and extravasation [277] led to hypothesis that MCP-1 was involved in the atherosclerotic process. Mice that were LDLr -/- were crossed with mice that were MCP-1 -/-, and these mice presented with 83% less lipid accumulation in aortic plaques compared to LDLr -/- mice that were wild-type for the MCP-1 alleles [278]. Furthermore, mice on high fat diets that were deficient in the ApoE gene and the MCP-1 receptor CCR2 gene had significantly fewer macrophages in the aorta and markedly smaller lesions than control ApoE deficient mice [279]. These and other studies indicate that MCP-1 plays a central role in the atherosclerotic process [16].

MCP-1 is induced in several cell types including human peritoneal mesothelial cells [173], human airway smooth muscle cells [240], and osteosarcoma cells [280] in response to OSM. The mRNA data presented in this report is based on samples from one experiment at each time point listed. Despite this, an effect observed in multiple cell types at multiple doses at multiple time points allows trends to be observed and conclusions to be drawn. The steady state MCP-1 mRNA levels were elevated in response to OSM alone in HAoAFs (Fig. 9 d and h) and HAoSMCs (Fig. 14 d and f). In addition, in both HAoAFs and HAoSMCs at the 6 hour time point, LPS in combination with OSM caused a marked elevation of MCP-1 steady state mRNA levels compared to either of the treatments alone (Fig. 9 h and 14 d). In an osteosarcoma cell line, through the use of inhibitors it was demonstrated that OSM induced MCP-1 through AP-1 that was activated by STAT-3, and ERK 1/2 [280]. The findings of the current report show that OSM was able to induce STAT-3 and ERK 1/2 phosphorylation after 20 minutes in HAoAF cells (Fig. 20). Although specific inhibitors of intracellular signaling molecules were not used on the HAoAFs, it is possible that both STAT-3 and ERK 1/2 participate in the elevated detection of MCP-1 RNA in this system as well.

These findings provide further evidence that TLR-4 activation in the presence of OSM in vascular wall cells could participate in an inflammatory process such as atherosclerosis. The findings that in the presence of LPS and OSM, MAAFs and HAoAFs synergistically increased IL-6 and VEGF detected in the supernatants, and elevated levels of steady state MCP-1 mRNA in the HAoAFs, provide support for the idea that fibroblasts of the adventitia are capable of participating in inflammatory responses. These observations, as well the work done by others [83,84,86,88,89] suggest that the role of the adventitia should be closely examined in relation to the development of atherosclerosis.

### **TLR-4 Expression**

After determining in MAAFs, HAoAFs, and HAoSMCs that the combined treatment of LPS with OSM was able to induce synergistic effects in certain endpoints, potential mechanisms involved in mediating these effects were of interest. It was originally hypothesized that OSM was increasing the expression of one of the TLR-4 receptor components, as OSM has been shown in other systems to synergize with molecules by increasing the expression of that molecule's receptor. For example in mouse lung fibroblasts OSM is able to synergize with
IL-4 and IL-13 to produce eotaxin by markedly elevating the IL-4Ralhpa and the IL-13Ralpha1 [204]. Furthermore in human airway smooth muscle cells, OSM synergized with IL-1β to augment VEGF levels *in vitro* by increasing the expression of the IL-1receptor [240]. Thus experiments were first performed to determine whether increased levels of the TLR-4 associated receptor component CD14 could reproduce effects seen with the combination treatment of LPS and OSM. As illustrated in figure 15, stimulating cells with sCD14 in combination with LPS did not enhance the levels of IL-6 detected in the supernatants compared to LPS alone. Thus soluble CD14 did not appear to be a rate limiting step in the production of IL-6 in these cells. It is possible that lipopolysaccharide binding protein (LBP) is required in conjunction with soluble CD14 to mediate IL-6 increases, and it is also possible that there is sufficient soluble CD14 in the serum [207] (included in the media) to induce maximal LPS/CD14/TLR-4 signalling.

The results of these experiments indicate that even if OSM was causing upregulation of CD14, it is unlikely to be resulting in the observed IL-6 synergy as increasing the levels of sCD14 available to the HAoAFs had little effect on IL-6 detected in the supernatants. The next question that was of interest was whether TLR-4 itself was being upregulated when the cells were stimulated with OSM.

In MAAF cells it was determined by flow cytometry that at several time points post stimulation, OSM did not cause a detectable increase TLR-4 expression on the cell surface (Fig. 16 a) . Similarly, in the HAoAFs and HAoSMCs, OSM did not cause increases in steady state levels of TLR-4 mRNA

compared to control levels (Fig 21 b-e). To summarize the TLR-4 expression experiments, results in all three cell types suggest that at the indicated time points OSM is not causing detectable increases in TLR-4 expression. It is therefore unlikely that an increase in TLR-4 upon treatment with OSM is causing the synergistic pro-inflammatory cytokine responses observed upon treatment of these cells with OSM and LPS.

#### **OSMr-**β Expression

The results for experiments on either the TLR-4 itself or the associated receptor component CD14 indicated that it was unlikely that their up-regulation was responsible for the effects observed with the combined stimulation of the vascular wall cells with LPS and OSM. It was hypothesized that alternatively, LPS could be increasing the expression of one of the OSM receptor components, thus increasing the ability of the cells to respond to OSM.

LPS was able to increase OSMr- $\beta$  mRNA steady state levels approximately 2 fold compared to control levels in three out of the four time points analyzed, however OSM treatment also resulted in an increase in the OSMr- $\beta$  mRNA steady state levels, and these effects in general were not additive with the combined treatment (Fig. 17). It has been demonstrated in human monocytes that stimulation with LPS can result in the increased expression of OSMr- $\beta$  [208]. Due to the results discussed, and as LPS has been shown previously to increase OSMr- $\beta$  RNA levels [208] it remains a possibility that the

synergy observed with some of the endpoints is mediated by LPS increasing the expression of the OSMr.

### **Cell Signaling**

In addition to measuring the expression levels of receptors, the phosphorylation signals of various proteins downstream of either the LPS or the OSM signaling pathways were analyzed. There are several different mechanisms by which the combined LPS and OSM treatment could result in the synergistic response that was observed in some endpoints. First of all, it is possible that one ligand binding its receptor activates one (or more) transcription factor(s) that bind to a promoter for the gene in question. Should the other ligand, upon binding its receptor, cause the activation of a different transcription factor which can bind the same or a close-by region of the promoter that was the target of the first ligand, increased transcription could occur. As described above, it is possible that a cofactor such as CBP can link the two transcription factors together and stabilize them on the promoter [230]. Another example of this principle was demonstrated when TNF- $\alpha$  was applied to endothelial cells. Stimulation with TNF- $\alpha$  resulted in activation of p38 and NF- $\kappa$ B, and when a plasmid containing p300 (a co-factor similar to CBP) was transfected into endothelial cells stimulated with TNF- $\alpha$ , there was increased transcription of MCP-1. However upon application of a p38 inhibitor, the p300 enhanced induction of MCP-1 in these cells was completely abrogated, indicating that co-factors can enhance transcription, but may require activation of two distinct pathways [281]. Furthermore, cooperating transcription

factors can recruit more RNA Polymerase II to the promoter site [230], increasing transcription compared to either ligand alone. Assuming that the detection of a phosphorylation signal means that a given pathway is activated, there were several pathways that were activated by only one of the ligands in the immunoblots presented in this report (Fig. 18 and 20). LPS induced NF-κB p65 phosphorylation in MAAFs and HAoAFS, while OSM induced STATs 1, 3, and 5 phosphorylation. Although CBP has been shown to bind NF-κB and STAT-1, it is possible that another co-factor is able to bind a different STAT and NF-κB. For example, the 'steroid receptor coactivator 1', (NcoA/SRC1) has been demonstrated to bind STAT-3 and increase its transcriptional capabilities [282], and separately has been shown to enhance the transcriptional capabilities of NF-κB [283], AP-1 [284], and STAT-6 [285]. Thus co-factors acting on transcription factors activated by either LPS or OSM could be mediating the synergistic response.

Apart from acting as a bridge between the transcription factor and the transcription machinery, some co-factors act as histone acetyltransferases. This allows increased access to the DNA, and thus increased transcription. Both NcoA/SRC1 [282] and CBP [230] have acetyltransferase capabilities. Activation of one pathway by one ligand (example NF-κB by LPS) may result in acetyltransferase activation, which could allow members of a separate pathway activated by the other ligand (example: STAT-3 by OSM) to more efficiently carry out transcription. The alternative is also possible: one of the stimulants

could decrease the activity of a histone de-acetylase (HDAC). LPS has been shown to modulate histone de-acetylase activity in macrophages [286]. If this decrease in HDAC by LPS occurred in the MAAFs, HAoAFs, and HAoSMCs, the OSM stimulated transcription factors could transcribe their target gene with increased efficiency. This increased transcription by the OSM stimulated transcription factor when LPS is also used to treat the cells compared to when OSM alone is applied could explain the synergistic protein detection in the supernatants.

Alternatively, the convergence of shared signaling pathways activated by both LPS and OSM could result in increased phosphorylation of a kinase or transcription factor compared to either treatment alone. This could result in increased activity of this molecule, resulting in increased transcription. In the current report, there was a slight but detectable increase in the signal detected for the phosphorylation of p-38 in both HAoAFs and MAAFs. This correlated with the synergistic protein production in several endpoints that were detected by ELISA. In addition, p38 or one of its downstream targets has been shown to mediate IL-6 [287], MCP-1 [288], and VEGF [289] induction. Thus there are several possible mechanisms which could explain how the synergistic protein response was occurring.

#### Neutralizing Antibodies to OSM and OSMr-β

Both endogenous and exogenous TLR-4 ligands have been found inside the adventitia of atherosclerotic arteries [292,296]. In addition, PBMCs can

infiltrate into the adventitia through the vasa vasorum. It was of interest to determine whether the cytokine milieu that resulted from LPS stimulated PBMCs (conditioned medium (CM)) could regulate cytokine levels in the supernatants of human aortic adventitial fibroblasts. It was determined that several proinflammatory molecules including IFN- $\gamma$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, and OSM were present in the CM, but not in control medium (Fig. 22). Upon treatment of HAoAFs with dilutions of the CM there was a strong dose dependent response of IL-6 detected in the supernatants (Fig. 23). This can be attributed to the IL-6 that originated from the HAoAFs as opposed to IL-6 that was already present in the CM, as dilutions of CM to 1 in 400 would have only contained approximately 8 pg/mL of IL-6, while approximately 10 ng/mL was detected in the supernatants upon stimulation with the CM. This finding illustrates the potential role of adventitial fibroblasts in inflammatory responses. These fibroblasts have the capacity in vitro to actively participate in an inflammatory response to a physiologically relevant mixture of cytokines, and in this system are not passive bystanders.

As OSM was present in tandem with several other pro-inflammatory molecules in the CM, tests were completed to determine whether inhibiting OSM among a milieu of cytokines was effective in modulating HAoAF activity. Interestingly, application of the anti-OSMr- $\beta$  antibody in combination with the CM caused a 42% reduction in the IL-6 levels that were detected in the HAoAF supernatants (Fig. 24 b). The anti-OSM antibody was not able to produce the same results (Fig. 24 a). A possible explanation for this difference is that OSM

produced by cells that secrete it naturally can be glycosylated [290], while the neutralizing antibodies specific to OSM are developed to bind to recombinant, non-glycosylated OSM. This glycosylation could hide epitopes necessary for antibody binding, either directly, or by causing an altered conformation of the protein.

Given that other studies have indicated that OSM could synergize with IL-1 $\beta$  in different systems [223,240], and as IL-1 $\beta$  was one of the molecules detected in the CM, it is possible that OSM in this system was synergizing with LPS and IL-1 $\beta$  to produce IL-6. If this were the case, it should not be surprising that neutralizing the activation of the OSMr- $\beta$  signaling pathway would decrease the IL-6 levels detected in the supernatants. It should be noted that these experiments were repeated twice, both showing similar results. However the results still must be interpreted with caution as the CM was obtained from one volunteer's PBMCs, and experiments were performed on one individual's HAoAFs. Based on these experiments, the possibility remains that OSM, even in the context of other proinflammatory cytokines, has the capacity to significantly effect the regulation of HAoAFs.

## SUMMARY AND CONCLUDING REMARKS

TLR-4 has been shown be expressed in various sites in the atherosclerotic plaque, including the adventitia. In addition, immunofluorescent staining and immunoblotting found TLR-4 to be present on HAoAFs [89]. TLR-4 activation has been suggested to be a link between either pathogen based or endogenous inflammation and atherosclerosis [65,89,291]. There is evidence that the adventitia plays a role in this TLR-4 mediated inflammation. In vivo studies have shown that a luminal injury can result in the accumulation of fibronectin in the media and adventitia [292], and that these same splice variants of fibronectin can stimulate TLR-4 activation [293]. Another endogenous molecule that can activate TLR-4 is HSP60 [294], which has been shown to be present in the intima and media, and on macrophages of atherosclerotic plaques, while not in control arteries [295]. In addition, C. Pneumoniae, a gram negative bacterium that expresses LPS, has been detected in the adventitia of atherosclerotic lesions, and is typically found inside macrophages in this site [296]. Infected macrophages may localize to the artery and enter the wall by way of the vasa vasorum [296], or through the luminal side of the artery. There are therefore numerous potential TLR-4 ligands that have been shown to be present in atherosclerotic plaques.

The findings that HAoSMCs and HAoAFs can respond to the TLR-4 ligand LPS to increase detectable levels of IL-6, MCP-1 and IL-8 [75,89,297] have been reproduced and presented in this report. In addition, the findings that vascular SMCs can elevate levels of detectable IL-6 and VEGF in response to

OSM alone have also been reproduced [174,146]. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first time that OSM alone has been shown to induce MCP-1steady state mRNA expression in HAoSMCs or HAoAFs. Furthermore, the synergistic induction of IL-6 and VEGF levels in HAoAF, HAoSMC, and MAAF cell supernatants, and MCP-1 mRNA levels in HAoAFs and HAoSMCs in response to LPS in combination with OSM are, to the best of our knowledge, novel findings, as is the suppression of LPS induced IL-8 levels by OSM in the human vascular wall cells assayed. It was determined that these effects were not correlated with an increase in TLR-4 expression in response to OSM at the time points measured, but that they did correlate with an increased phosphorylation signal of the MAPK p38 in response to the combined LPS and OSM treatment compared to either treatment alone. Moreover, a neutralizing antibody to the OSMr- $\beta$  was able to inhibit HAoAF IL-6 responses to PBMC conditioned medium. Together, these findings indicate that OSM and LPS can synergize in vitro to induce the production of inflammatory factors in vascular wall cells, helping to characterize the potential role of OSM, TLR-4 ligands, and adventitial fibroblasts in vascular inflammation.

Based on the current literature and results described here, a model of exacerbation of atherosclerosis could be as follows: The TLR-4 ligands within the plaque can induce the expression of chemotactic factors (for example MCP-1 [75,194]), and leukocyte adhesion molecules (for example P-selectin [298]) by vascular wall cells. Monocytes are thus attracted to these sites, enter the arterial

wall, increase their expression of scavenger receptors, and uptake ox-LDL [15,16]. Macrophage activation results in pro-inflammatory cytokine such as IL-1, TNF $\alpha$ , and OSM production [103], which in turn amplify the inflammatory response. Cells throughout the arterial wall to respond to the TLR-4 ligands, OSM, and other pro-inflammatory factors by: releasing cytokines such as IL-6 (described in this report, and [75,227,228]); releasing chemoattractants such as MCP-1 to recruit monocytes to the lesion (described here and [75]); upregulating the expression of leukocyte adhesion molecules [168,298] which also serves to recruit additional inflammatory cells to the site of inflammation; expressing growth factors such as VEGF which can increase the permeability of the endothelium [39], vascularize, and disrupt the plaque (described here and [175,146,246]); and releasing MMPs which, in the later stages of the disease, can degrade the fibrous cap [86,164,216].

Upon release from infiltrating leukocytes, the role of OSM in this model could be to activate endothelial cells [171], SMCs, and adventitial fibroblasts to express pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines alone, and synergistically with other stimuli present within the vascular wall. Moreover OSM could induce the expression of leukocyte adhesion molecules [168], MMPs [164], and procoagulant factors [299].

To test the overall function of OSM *in vivo*, transgenic mice could be developed that over-express OSM in a mouse model of atherosclerosis. Alternatively, the activity of OSM could be neutralized, either through

administration of a neutralizing antibody, or gene targeting could be employed to create double knock out ApoE and OSM deficient strains of mice, as ApoE deficient mice are inherently prone to atherosclerotic lesions.

# **References**

- <sup>1</sup> Hansson, G.K. (2005). Inflammation, atherosclerosis, and coronary artery disease. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *352*(16), 1685-95.
- <sup>2</sup> Curtiss LK, Kubo N, Schiller NK, Boisvert WA. (2000). Participation of innate and acquired immunity in atherosclerosis. *Immunol Res.*, 21(2-3), 167-76.
- <sup>3</sup> Napoli C, D'Armiento FP, Mancini FP, Postiglione A, Witztum JL, Palumbo G, *et al.* (1997). Fatty streak formation occurs in human fetal aortas and is greatly enhanced by maternal hypercholesterolemia. Intimal accumulation of low density lipoprotein and its oxidation precede monocyte recruitment into early atherosclerotic lesions. *J Clin Invest.*, *100*(11), 2680-90.
- <sup>4</sup> Roger VL, Go AS, Lloyd-Jones DM, Benjamin EJ, Berry JD, Borden WB, *et al.* (2012). Heart disease and stroke statistics--2012 update: a report from the American Heart Association. *Circulation*, *125*(1), e2-e220.
- <sup>5</sup> World Health Organization.(2004). Global Burden of Disease: 2004 update. Retrieved from http://www.who.int/healthinfo/global\_burden\_disease/GBD\_report\_2004u pdate\_part4.pdf
- <sup>6</sup> World Health Organization. (2008). The top 10 causes of death (fact sheet number 310). Retrieved from http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs310\_2008.pdf
- <sup>7</sup> Statistics Canada. (Released 2011). Mortality, Summary List of Causes 2008. Retrieved from http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/84f0209x/84f0209x2008000-eng.htm
- Fazio, G., Giovino, M., Gullotti, A., Bacarella, D., Novo, G., Novo, S. (2009). Atherosclerosis, inflammation and Chlamydia pneumoniae. *World Journal of Cardiology*, 1(1), 31-40.
- <sup>9</sup> Palmer, R.M., Ashton, D.S., Moncada, S. (1988). Vascular endothelial cells synthesize nitric oxide from L-arginine. *Nature*, 333(6174):664-6.

- <sup>10</sup> Cines, D.B., Pollak, E.S., Buck, C.A., Loscalzo, J., Zimmerman, G.A., McEver, R.P., *et al.* (1998). Endothelial cells in physiology and in the pathophysiology of vascular disorders. *Blood*, 91(10), 3527-61.
- <sup>11</sup> Buschman, H.P., Deinum, G., Motz, J.T., Fitzmaurice, M., Kramer, J.R., van der Laarse, A., *et al.* (2001). Raman microspectroscopy of human coronary atherosclerosis: biochemical assessment of cellular and extracellular morphologic structures in situ. *Cardiovascular Pathology*, *10*(2), 69-82.
- <sup>12</sup> Jongstra-Bilen J, Haidari M, Zhu SN, Chen M, Guha D, Cybulsky MI. (2006). Low-grade chronic inflammation in regions of the normal mouse arterial intima predisposed to atherosclerosis. *J Exp Med.*, 203(9), 2073-83.
- <sup>13</sup> Auffray C, Fogg D, Garfa M, Elain G, Join-Lambert O, Kayal S, *et al.* (2007). Monitoring of blood vessels and tissues by a population of monocytes with patrolling behavior. *Science*, *317*(5838), 666-70.
- <sup>14</sup> Cros J, Cagnard N, Woollard K, Patey N, Zhang SY, Senechal B, *et al.* (2010). Human CD14dim monocytes patrol and sense nucleic acids and viruses via TLR7 and TLR8 receptors. *Immunity*, *33*(3), 375-86.
- <sup>15</sup> Ross, R. (1999). Atherosclerosis An Inflammatory Disease. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *340*, 115-126.
- <sup>16</sup> Libby, P. (2002). Inflammation in Atherosclerosis. *Nature*, 420, 868-874.
- <sup>17</sup> Bolinder, G., Alfredsson, L., Englund, A., de Faire, U. (1994). Smokeless tobacco use and increased cardiovascular mortality among Swedish construction workers. *American Journal of Public Health*, 84(3), 399-404.
- <sup>18</sup> Howard, G., Wagenknecht, L.E., Burke, G.L., Diez-Roux, A., Evans, G.W., McGovern, P., *et al.* (1998). Cigarette smoking and progression of atherosclerosis: The Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities (ARIC) Study. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 279(2), 119-24.
- <sup>19</sup> Stamler, J., Wentworth, D., Neaton, J.D. (1986). Is the relationship between serum cholesterol and risk of premature death from coronary heart disease continuous and graded? Findings in 356,222 primary

screenees of the Multiple Risk Factor Intervention Trial (MRFIT). *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 256, 2823–2828.

- <sup>20</sup> Arnett, D.K., Tyroler, H.A., Burke, G., Hutchinson, R., Howard, G., Heiss, G. (1996). Hypertension and subclinical carotid artery atherosclerosis in blacks and whites. The Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities Study. ARIC Investigators. *Archives of Internal Medicine*, 156(17), 1983-9.
- <sup>21</sup> Folsom, A.R., Eckfeldt, J.H., Weitzman, S., Ma, J., Chambless, L.E., Barnes, R.W., *et al.* (1996). Relation of carotid artery wall thickness to diabetes mellitus, fasting glucose and insulin, body size, and physical activity. Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities (ARIC) Study Investigators. *Stroke*, 25(1), 66-73.
- <sup>22</sup> McMillan, D.E. (1985). Blood flow and the localization of atherosclerotic plaques. *Stroke*, *16*, 582-7.
- <sup>23</sup> Zeiher, A.M, Schächinger, V., Minners, J. (1995). Long-term Cigarette Smoking Impairs Endothelium-Dependent Coronary Arterial Vasodilator Function. *Circulation*, 92, 1094-1100.
- Morrow, J.D., Frei, B., Longmire, A.W., Gaziano, J.M., Lynch, S.M.,
  Shyr, Y. (1995). Increase in Circulating Products of Lipid Peroxidation (F2-Isoprostanes) in Smokers Smoking as a Cause of Oxidative Damage. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 332(18), 1198-203.
- <sup>25</sup> Berliner, J.A., Heinecke, J.W. (1996). The role of oxidized lipoproteins in atherogenesis. *Free Radical Biology & Medicine*, 20(5),707-27.
- Panza, J.A., Quyyumi, A.A., Brush, J.E. Jr, Epstein, S.E. (1990).
  Abnormal Endothelium-Dependent Vascular Relaxation in Patients with Essential Hypertension. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 323(1), 22-7.
- Alviar, C.L., Echeverri, J.G., Jaramillo, N.I., Figueroa, C.J., Cordova, J.P., Korniyenko, A., *et al.* (2011). Infectious atherosclerosis: Is the hypothesis still alive? A clinically based approach to the dilemma. *Medical Hypotheses*, [Epub ahead of print].

- <sup>28</sup> Tabas, I. (2005). Consequences and therapeutic implications of macrophage apoptosis in atherosclerosis: the importance of lesion stage and phagocytic efficiency. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, 25(11), 2255-64.
- <sup>29</sup> Dansky HM, Barlow CB, Lominska C, Sikes JL, Kao C, Weinsaft J, *et al.* (2001). Adhesion of monocytes to arterial endothelium and initiation of atherosclerosis are critically dependent on vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 gene dosage. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.*, 21(10), 1662-7.
- <sup>30</sup> Zhou X, Stemme S, Hansson GK. (1996). Evidence for a local immune response in atherosclerosis. CD4+ T cells infiltrate lesions of apolipoprotein-E-deficient mice. *Am J Pathol.*, *149*(2), 359-66.
- <sup>31</sup> Nageh, M.F., Sandberg, E.T., Marotti, K.R., Lin, A.H., Melchior, E.P., Bullard, D.C., *et al.* (1997). Deficiency of inflammatory cell adhesion molecules protects against atherosclerosis in mice. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, *17*(8), 1517-1520.
- <sup>32</sup> Davies, M.J., Gordon, J.L., Gearing, A.J., Pigott, R., Woolf, N., Katz, D., *et al.* (1993). The expression of the adhesion molecules ICAM-1, VCAM-1, PECAM, and E-selectin in human atherosclerosis. *The Journal of Pathology*, *171*(3), 223-9.
- <sup>33</sup> Gerszten, R.E., Garcia-Zepeda, E.A., Lim, Y.C., Yoshida, M., Ding, H.A., Gimbrone Jr., M.A., *et al.* (1999). MCP-1 and IL-8 trigger firm adhesion of monocytes to vascular endothelium under flow conditions. *Nature*, *398*(6729), 718-23.
- <sup>34</sup> Boisvert, W.A., Curtiss, L.K., Terkeltaub, R.A. (2000). Interleukin-8 and its receptor CXCR2 in atherosclerosis. *Immunologic Research*, *21*(2-3), 129-37.
- <sup>35</sup> Frostegård J, Ulfgren AK, Nyberg P, Hedin U, Swedenborg J, Andersson U, *et al.* (1999). Cytokine expression in advanced human atherosclerotic plaques: dominance of pro-inflammatory (Th1) and macrophage-stimulating cytokines. *Atherosclerosis*, *145*(1), 33-43.
- <sup>36</sup> de Villiers, W.J., Smith, J.D., Miyata, M., Dansky, H.M., Darley, E., Gordon, S. (1998). Macrophage phenotype in mice deficient in both

macrophage-colony-stimulating factor (op) and apolipoprotein E. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology, 18*(4) 631-40.

- <sup>37</sup> Metcalf, D. (1989). The molecular control of cell division, differentiation commitment and maturation in haemopoietic cells. *Nature*, *339*(6219), 27-30.
- <sup>38</sup> Clauss M, Gerlach M, Gerlach H, Brett J, Wang F, Familletti PC, *et al.* (1990). Vascular permeability factor: a tumor-derived polypeptide that induces endothelial cell and monocyte procoagulant activity, and promotes monocyte migration. *J Exp Med.*, *172*(6), 1535-45.
- <sup>39</sup> Senger DR, Galli SJ, Dvorak AM, Perruzzi CA, Harvey VS, Dvorak HF. (1983). Tumor cells secrete a vascular permeability factor that promotes accumulation of ascites fluid. *Science*, *219*(4587), 983-5.
- <sup>40</sup> Murphy, J.E., Tedbury, P.R., Homer-Vanniasinkam, S., Walker, J.H., Ponnambalam, S. (2005). Biochemistry and cell biology of mammalian scavenger receptors. *Atherosclerosis*, *182*(1), 1-15.
- <sup>41</sup> de Villiers, W.J., Fraser, I.P., Hughes, D.A., Doyle, A.G., Gordon, S. (1994). Macrophage-colony-stimulating factor selectively enhances macrophage scavenger receptor expression and function. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*, *180*(2), 705-9.
- <sup>42</sup> Brasier, A.R. (2010). The nuclear factor-kappaB-interleukin-6 signalling pathway mediating vascular inflammation. Cardiovascular Research, 86(2), 211-8.
- <sup>43</sup> Tabas, I. (2005). Consequences and therapeutic implications of macrophage apoptosis in atherosclerosis: the importance of lesion stage and phagocytic efficiency. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology*, 25(11), 2255-64.
- <sup>44</sup> Clarke MC, Littlewood TD, Figg N, Maguire JJ, Davenport AP, Goddard M, *et al.* (2008). Chronic apoptosis of vascular smooth muscle cells accelerates atherosclerosis and promotes calcification and medial degeneration. *Circ Res.*, *102*(12), 1529-38.

- <sup>45</sup> Zernecke A, Bot I, Djalali-Talab Y, Shagdarsuren E, Bidzhekov K, Meiler S, *et al.* (2008). Protective role of CXC receptor 4/CXC ligand 12 unveils the importance of neutrophils in atherosclerosis. *Circ Res.*, *102*(2), 209-17.
- <sup>46</sup> Libby, P., Ridker, P., Maseri, A. (2002). Inflammation and Atherosclerosis. *Circulation*, *105*, 1135-1143.
- <sup>47</sup> Bianchi ME. (2007). DAMPs, PAMPs and alarmins: all we need to know about danger. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*, *81*(1):1-5.
- <sup>48</sup> Akira, S., Takeda, K., Kaisho, T. (2001). Toll-like receptors: critical proteins linking innate and acquired immunity. *Nature Immunology*, 2(8), 675-80.
- <sup>49</sup> Pandey, S., Agrawal, D.K. (2006). Immunobiology of Toll-like receptors: Emerging trends. *Immunology and Cell Biology*, 84(4), 333-41.
- <sup>50</sup> Visintin, A., Mazzoni, A., Spitzer, J.H., Wyllie, D.H., Dower, S.K., Segal, D.M. (2001). Regulation of Toll-like receptors in human monocytes and dendritic cells. *Journal of Immunology*, *166*(1), 249-55.
- <sup>51</sup> Tobias, P.S., Soldau, K., Gegner, J.A., Mintz, D., Ulevitch, R.J. (1995). Lipopolysaccharide binding protein-mediated complexation of lipopolysaccharide with soluble CD14. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 270(18), 10482-8.
- <sup>52</sup> Frey, E.A., Miller, D.S., Jahr, T.G., Sundan, A., Bazil, V., Espevik, T., *et al.* (1992). Soluble CD14 participates in the response of cells to lipopolysaccharide. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*, *176*(6), 1665-71.
- <sup>53</sup> da Silva Correia, J., Soldau, K., Christen, U., Tobias, P.S., Ulevitch, R.J. (2001). Lipopolysaccharide is in close proximity to each of the proteins in its membrane receptor complex. transfer from CD14 to TLR4 and MD-2. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 276(24), 21129-35.
- <sup>54</sup> Shimazu, R., Akashi, S., Ogata, H., Nagai, Y., Fukudome, K., Miyake, K., *et al.* (1999). MD-2, a molecule that confers lipopolysaccharide

responsiveness on Toll-like receptor 4. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*, *189*(11), 1777-82.

- <sup>55</sup> Visintin, A., Latz, E., Monks, B.G., Espevik, T., Golenbock, D.T. (2003). Lysines 128 and 132 enable lipopolysaccharide binding to MD-2, leading to Toll-like receptor-4 aggregation and signal transduction. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 278(48), 48313-20.
- <sup>56</sup> Saitoh, S., Akashi, S., Yamada, T., Tanimura, N., Kobayashi, M., Konno, K., *et al.* (2004). Lipid A antagonist, lipid IVa, is distinct from lipid A in interaction with Toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4)-MD-2 and ligand-induced TLR4 oligomerization. *International Immunology*, *16*(7), 961-9.
- <sup>57</sup> Kenny, E.F., O'Neill, L.A. (2008). Signalling adaptors used by Toll-like receptors: an update. *Cytokine*, *43*(3), 342-9.
- <sup>58</sup> Brikos, C., O'Neill, L.A. (2008). Signalling of toll-like receptors. *Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology*, *183*, 21-50.
- <sup>59</sup> Newton K, Dixit VM. (2012). Signaling in innate immunity and inflammation. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol.*, *4*(3), pii: a006049.
- <sup>60</sup> Lin SC, Lo YC, Wu H. (2010). Helical assembly in the MyD88-IRAK4-IRAK2 complex in TLR/IL-1R signalling. *Nature*, *465*(7300), 885-90.
- <sup>61</sup> Kanarek N, London N, Schueler-Furman O, Ben-Neriah Y. (2010). Ubiquitination and degradation of the inhibitors of NF-kappaB. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol.*, 2(2), a000166.
- <sup>62</sup> Tseng PH, Matsuzawa A, Zhang W, Mino T, Vignali DA, Karin M. (2010). Different modes of ubiquitination of the adaptor TRAF3 selectively activate the expression of type I interferons and proinflammatory cytokines. *Nat Immunol.*, *11*(1), 70-5.
- <sup>63</sup> Yamamoto, M., Sato, S., Hemmi, H., Sanjo, H., Uematsu, S., Kaisho, T., *et al.* (2002). Essential role for TIRAP in activation of the signalling cascade shared by TLR2 and TLR4. *Nature*, *420*(6913), 324-9.
- <sup>64</sup> Yamamoto M, Sato S, Mori K, Hoshino K, Takeuchi O, Takeda K, *et al.* (2002). Cutting edge: a novel Toll/IL-1 receptor domain-containing

adapter that preferentially activates the IFN-beta promoter in the Toll-like receptor signaling. *J Immunol.*, *169*(12), 6668-72.

- <sup>65</sup> Xu, X.H., Shah, P.K., Faure, E., Equils, O., Thomas, L., Fishbein, M.C., *et al.* (2001) Toll-like receptor-4 is expressed by macrophages in murine and human lipid-rich atherosclerotic plaques and upregulated by oxidized LDL. *Circulation*, *104*(25), 3103-8.
- <sup>66</sup> Zamorano, J., García-Tejada, J., Suárez, A., Culebras, E., Castañón, J., Moreno, R., *et al.* (2006). Chlamydia pneumoniae in the atherosclerotic plaques of patients with unstable angina undergoing coronary artery bypass grafting: does it have prognostic implications? International Journal of Cardiology, 90(2-3):297-302.
- <sup>67</sup> Bozzette, S.A., Ake, C.F., Tam, H.K., Chang, S.W., Louis, T.A. (2003). Cardiovascular and cerebrovascular events in patients treated for human immunodeficiency virus infection. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, *348*(8), 702-10.
- <sup>68</sup> Haidari, M., Wyde, P.R., Litovsky, S., Vela, D., Ali, M., Casscells, S.W., *et al.* (2010). Influenza virus directly infects, inflames, and resides in the arteries of atherosclerotic and normal mice. *Atherosclerosis*, 208(1), 90-6.
- <sup>69</sup> Aceti, A., Are, R., Sabino, G., Fenu, L., Pasquazzi, C., Quaranta, G., *et al.* (2004). Helicobacter pylori active infection in patients with acute coronary heart disease. *The Journal of Infection*, *49*(1), 8-12.
- Momiyama, Y., Ohmori, R., Taniguchi, H., Nakamura, H., Ohsuzu, F.
  (2004). Association of Mycoplasma pneumoniae infection with coronary artery disease and its interaction with chlamydial infection.
  *Atherosclerosis*, 176(1), 139-44.
- <sup>71</sup> Miller, Y.I., Viriyakosol, S., Binder, C.J., Feramisco, J.R., Kirkland, T.N., Witztum, J.L. (2003). Minimally modified LDL binds to CD14, induces macrophage spreading via TLR4/MD-2, and inhibits phagocytosis of apoptotic cells. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 278(3), 1561-8.
- Walton, K.A., Hsieh, X., Gharavi, N., Wang, S., Wang, G., Yeh, M., *et al.* (2003). Receptors involved in the oxidized 1-palmitoyl-2-arachidonoyl-sn-

glycero-3-phosphorylcholine-mediated synthesis of interleukin-8. A role for Toll-like receptor 4 and a glycosylphosphatidylinositol-anchored protein. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 278(32), 29661-6.

<sup>73</sup> Yoshimura T, Matsushima K, Tanaka S, Robinson EA, Appella E, Oppenheim JJ, *et al.* (1987). Purification of a human monocyte-derived neutrophil chemotactic factor that has peptide sequence similarity to other host defense cytokines. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.*, 84(24), 9233-7.

- <sup>74</sup> Gibson, F.C. 3rd, Hong, C., Chou, H.H., Yumoto, H., Chen, J., Lien, E., *et al.* (2004). Innate immune recognition of invasive bacteria accelerates atherosclerosis in apolipoprotein E-deficient mice. *Circulation*, *109*(22), 2801-6.
- Yang, X., Coriolan, D., Murthy, V., Schultz, K., Golenbock, D.T., Beasley, D. (2005). Proinflammatory phenotype of vascular smooth muscle cells: role of efficient Toll-like receptor 4 signaling. *American Journal of Physiology. Heart and Circulatory Physiology*, 289(3), H1069-76.
- <sup>76</sup> Arbour, N.C., Lorenz, E., Schutte, B.C., Zabner, J., Kline, J.N., Jones, M., *et al.* (2000). TLR4 mutations are associated with endotoxin hyporesponsiveness in humans. *Nature Genetics*, 25(2), 187-91.
- <sup>77</sup> Kiechl, S., Lorenz, E., Reindl, M., Wiedermann, C.J., Oberhollenzer, F., Bonora, E., *et al.* (2002). Toll-like receptor 4 polymorphisms and atherogenesis. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, *347*(3), 185-92.
- <sup>78</sup> Michelsen, K.S., Wong, M.H., Shah, P.K., Zhang, W., Yano, J., Doherty, T.M., *et al.* (2004). Lack of Toll-like receptor 4 or myeloid differentiation factor 88 reduces atherosclerosis and alters plaque phenotype in mice deficient in apolipoprotein E. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Science of the United States of America, 101*(29), 10679-84.
- <sup>79</sup> Björkbacka, H., Kunjathoor, V.V., Moore, K.J., Koehn, S., Ordija, C.M., Lee, M.A., *et al.* (2004). Reduced atherosclerosis in MyD88-null mice links elevated serum cholesterol levels to activation of innate immunity signaling pathways. *Nature Medicine*, 10(4), 416-21.
- <sup>80</sup> Enzerink A, Vaheri A. (2011). Fibroblast activation in vascular inflammation. *J Thromb Haemost.*, *9*(4), 619-26.

- Enzerink, A., Vaheri, A. (2011). Fibroblast activation in vascular inflammation. Journal of Thrombosis and Haemostasis, doi: 10.1111/j.1538-7836.2011.04209.x. [Epub ahead of print]
- Schwartz, C.J., Mitchell, J.R. (1962). Cellular infiltration of the human arterial adventitia associated with atheromatous plaques. *Circulation*, 26, 73-8.
- <sup>83</sup> Scott, N.A., Cipolla, G.D., Ross, C.E., Dunn, B., Martin, F.H., Simonet, L., *et al.* (1996). Identification of a potential role for the adventitia in vascular lesion formation after balloon overstretch injury of porcine coronary arteries. *Circulation*, *93*(12), 2178-87.
- Pagano, P.J., Ito, Y., Tornheim, K., Gallop, P.M., Tauber, A.I., Cohen,
  R.A. (1995). An NADPH oxidase superoxide-generating system in the
  rabbit aorta. *American Journal of Physiology*, 268(6 Pt 2):H2274-80.
- <sup>85</sup> Darley-Usmar, V.M., Hogg, N., O'Leary, V.J., Wilson, M.T., Moncada, S. (1992). The simultaneous generation of superoxide and nitric oxide can initiate lipid peroxidation in human low density lipoprotein. *Free Radical Research Communications*, *17*(1), 9-20.
- <sup>86</sup> Tieu, B.C., Lee, C., Sun, H., Lejeune, W., Recinos, A. 3rd, Ju, X., *et al.* (2009). An adventitial IL-6/MCP1 amplification loop accelerates macrophage-mediated vascular inflammation leading to aortic dissection in mice. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, *119*(12), 3637-51.
- <sup>87</sup> Rayner, K., Van Eersel, S., Groot, P.H., Reape, T.J. (2000). Localisation of mRNA for JE/MCP-1 and its receptor CCR2 in atherosclerotic lesions of the ApoE knockout mouse. *Journal of Vascular Research*, *37*(2), 93-102.
- Xu, F., Ji, J., Li, L., Chen, R., Hu, W.C. (2007). Adventitial fibroblasts are activated in the early stages of atherosclerosis in the apolipoprotein E knockout mouse. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 352(3), 681-8.

- <sup>89</sup> Vink A, Schoneveld AH, van der Meer JJ, van Middelaar BJ, Sluijter JP, Smeets MB, *et al.* (2002). In vivo evidence for a role of toll-like receptor 4 in the development of intimal lesions. *Circulation*, *106*(15), 1985-90.
- <sup>90</sup> Zhang SH, Reddick RL, Piedrahita JA, Maeda N. (1992). Spontaneous hypercholesterolemia and arterial lesions in mice lacking apolipoprotein E. *Science*, 258(5081), 468-71.
- <sup>91</sup> Ishibashi S, Goldstein JL, Brown MS, Herz J, Burns DK. (1994). Massive xanthomatosis and atherosclerosis in cholesterol-fed low density lipoprotein receptor-negative mice. *J Clin Invest.*, *93*(5), 1885-93.
- <sup>92</sup> Gu L, Okada Y, Clinton SK, Gerard C, Sukhova GK, Libby P, *et al.* (1998). Absence of monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 reduces atherosclerosis in low density lipoprotein receptor-deficient mice. *Mol Cell.*, 2(2), 275-81.
- <sup>93</sup> Brånén L, Hovgaard L, Nitulescu M, Bengtsson E, Nilsson J, Jovinge S. (2004). Inhibition of tumor necrosis factor-alpha reduces atherosclerosis in apolipoprotein E knockout mice. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.*, 24(11), 2137-42.
- <sup>94</sup> Dinarello CA. (1996). Biologic basis for interleukin-1 in disease. *Blood*. 87(6), 2095-147.
- <sup>95</sup> Elhage R, Maret A, Pieraggi MT, Thiers JC, Arnal JF, Bayard F. (1998).
  Differential effects of interleukin-1 receptor antagonist and tumor necrosis factor binding protein on fatty-streak formation in apolipoprotein E-deficient mice. *Circulation.*, 97(3), 242-4.
- Qiao JH, Tripathi J, Mishra NK, Cai Y, Tripathi S, Wang XP, et al.
  (1997). Role of macrophage colony-stimulating factor in atherosclerosis: studies of osteopetrotic mice. *Am J Pathol.*, *150*(5), 1687-99.
- <sup>97</sup> Lucerna M, Zernecke A, de Nooijer R, de Jager SC, Bot I, van der Lans C, *et al.* (2007). Vascular endothelial growth factor-A induces plaque expansion in ApoE knock-out mice by promoting de novo leukocyte recruitment. *Blood*, 109(1), 122-9.
- <sup>98</sup> Gupta S, Pablo AM, Jiang X, Wang N, Tall AR, Schindler C. (1997). IFNgamma potentiates atherosclerosis in ApoE knock-out mice. *J Clin Invest.*, *99*(11), 2752-61.

<sup>99</sup> Brown, T.J., Lioubin, M.N., Marquardt, H. (1987). Purification and characterization of cytostatic lymphokines produced by activated human T lymphocytes. Synergistic antiproliferative activity of transforming growth factor beta 1, interferon-gamma, and oncostatin M for human melanoma cells. *Journal of Immunology*, *139*(9), 2977-83.

- Malik, N., Kallestad, J.C., Gunderson, N.L., Austin, S.D., Neubauer,
  M.G., Ochs, V., *et al.* (1989) Molecular cloning, sequence analysis, and
  functional expression of a novel growth regulator, oncostatin M.
  *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, *9*, 2847–2853.
- <sup>101</sup> Tamura S, Morikawa Y, Miyajima A, Senba E. (2002). Expression of oncostatin M in hematopoietic organs. *Dev Dyn.*, 225(3), 327-31.
- <sup>102</sup> Salamon P, Shoham NG, Puxeddu I, Paitan Y, Levi-Schaffer F, *et al.* (2008). Human mast cells release oncostatin M on contact with activated T cells: possible biologic relevance. *J Allergy Clin Immunol.*, *121*(2), 448-455.
- <sup>103</sup> Suda T, Chida K, Todate A, Ide K, Asada K, Nakamura Y, *et al.* (2002). Oncostatin M production by human dendritic cells in response to bacterial products. *Cytokine*, *17*(6), 335-40.
- <sup>104</sup> Grenier A, Dehoux M, Boutten A, Arce-Vicioso M, Durand G, Gougerot-Pocidalo MA, *et al.* (1999). Oncostatin M production and regulation by human polymorphonuclear neutrophils. *Blood*, *93*(4)1413-21.
- <sup>105</sup> Rose TM, Lagrou MJ, Fransson I, Werelius B, Delattre O, Thomas G, *et al.* (1993). The genes for oncostatin M (OSM) and leukemia inhibitory factor (LIF) are tightly linked on human chromosome 22. *Genomics*, *17*(1), 136-40.
- <sup>106</sup> Ichihara M, Hara T, Kim H, Murate T, Miyajima A. (1997). Oncostatin M and leukemia inhibitory factor do not use the same functional receptor in mice. *Blood*, *90*(1), 165-73.
- <sup>107</sup> Deller MC, Hudson KR, Ikemizu S, Bravo J, Jones EY, Heath JK. (2000). Crystal structure and functional dissection of the cytostatic cytokine oncostatin M. *Structure*, *8*(8), 863-74.

- <sup>108</sup> Tanaka, M., Miyajima, A. (2003). Oncostatin M, a multifunctional cytokine. *Reviews of Physiology, Biochemistry and Pharmacology, 149*, 39-52.
- <sup>109</sup> Sims NA, Walsh NC. (2010). GP130 cytokines and bone remodelling in health and disease. *BMB Rep.*, *43*(8), 513-23.
- <sup>110</sup> Gearing DP, Comeau MR, Friend DJ, Gimpel SD, Thut CJ, McGourty J, *et al.* (1992). The IL-6 signal transducer, gp130: an oncostatin M receptor and affinity converter for the LIF receptor. *Science*, 255(5050), 1434-7.
- <sup>111</sup> Mosley, B., De Imus, C., Friend, D., Boiani, N., Thoma, B., Park, L.S., *et al.* (1996). Dual oncostatin M (OSM) receptors. Cloning and characterization of an alternative signaling subunit conferring OSM-specific receptor activation. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 271(51), 32635-43.
- <sup>112</sup> Pellegrini S, Dusanter-Fourt I. (1997). The structure, regulation and function of the Janus kinases (JAKs) and the signal transducers and activators of transcription (STATs). *Eur J Biochem.*, 248(3), 615-33.
- <sup>113</sup> Heinrich PC, Behrmann I, Müller-Newen G, Schaper F, Graeve L. (1998). Interleukin-6-type cytokine signalling through the gp130/Jak/STAT pathway. *Biochem J.*, *334* ( Pt 2), 297-314.
- <sup>114</sup> Korzus, E., Nagase, H., Rydell, R., Travis, J. (1997). The Mitogenactivated Protein Kinase and JAK-STAT Signaling Pathways Are Required for an Oncostatin M-responsive Element-mediated Activation of Matrix Metalloproteinase 1 Gene Expression. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 272(2), 1188-96.
- <sup>115</sup> Narazaki M, Witthuhn BA, Yoshida K, Silvennoinen O, Yasukawa K, Ihle JN, *et al.* (1994). Activation of JAK2 kinase mediated by the interleukin 6 signal transducer gp130. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.*, *91*(6), 2285-9.
- <sup>116</sup> Mizuguchi R, Hatakeyama M. (1998). Conditional activation of Janus kinase (JAK) confers factor independence upon interleukin-3-dependent cells. Essential role of Ras in JAK-triggered mitogenesis. *J Biol Chem.*, 273(48), 32297-303.

- <sup>117</sup> Saharinen P, Takaluoma K, Silvennoinen O. (2000). Regulation of the Jak2 tyrosine kinase by its pseudokinase domain. *Mol Cell Biol.*, 20(10), 3387-95.
- <sup>118</sup> Gerhartz, C., Heesel, B., Sasse, J., Hemmann, U., Landgraf, C., Schneider-Mergener, J., *et al.* (1996). Differential activation of acute phase response factor/STAT3 and STAT1 via the cytoplasmic domain of the interleukin 6 signal transducer gp130. I. Definition of a novel phosphotyrosine motif mediating STAT1 activation. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 271(22), 12991-8.
- <sup>119</sup> Hemmann, U., Gerhartz, C., Heesel, B., Sasse, J., Kurapkat, G., Grötzinger, J., *et al.* (1996). Differential activation of acute phase response factor/Stat3 and Stat1 via the cytoplasmic domain of the interleukin 6 signal transducer gp130. II. Src homology SH2 domains define the specificity of stat factor activation. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 271(22), 12999-3007.
- <sup>120</sup> Fritz DK, Kerr C, Tong L, Smyth D, Richards CD. (2006). Oncostatin-M up-regulates VCAM-1 and synergizes with IL-4 in eotaxin expression: involvement of STAT6. *J Immunol.*, *176*(7), 4352-60.
- <sup>121</sup> Schindler C, Darnell JE Jr. (1995). Transcriptional responses to polypeptide ligands: the JAK-STAT pathway. *Annu Rev Biochem.*, 64, 621-51.
- <sup>122</sup> Zhong Z, Wen Z, Darnell JE Jr. (1994). Stat3 and Stat4: members of the family of signal transducers and activators of transcription. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.*, *91*(11), 4806-10.
- <sup>123</sup> Heim MH, Kerr IM, Stark GR, Darnell JE Jr. (1995). Contribution of STAT SH2 groups to specific interferon signaling by the Jak-STAT pathway. *Science*, *267*(5202), 1347-9.
- <sup>124</sup> Quelle FW, Thierfelder W, Witthuhn BA, Tang B, Cohen S, Ihle JN. (1995). Phosphorylation and activation of the DNA binding activity of purified Stat1 by the Janus protein-tyrosine kinases and the epidermal growth factor receptor. *J Biol Chem.*, 270(35), 20775-80.
- <sup>125</sup> Shuai K, Horvath CM, Huang LH, Qureshi SA, Cowburn D, Darnell JE Jr. (1994). Interferon activation of the transcription factor Stat91 involves

dimerization through SH2-phosphotyrosyl peptide interactions. *Cell*, 76(5), 821-8.

- <sup>126</sup> Horvath CM, Wen Z, Darnell JE Jr. (1995). A STAT protein domain that determines DNA sequence recognition suggests a novel DNA-binding domain. *Genes Dev.*, *9*(8), 984-94.
- <sup>127</sup> Schindler U, Wu P, Rothe M, Brasseur M, McKnight SL. (1995).
  Components of a Stat recognition code: evidence for two layers of molecular selectivity. *Immunity*, 2(6), 689-97.
- <sup>128</sup> Seidel HM, Milocco LH, Lamb P, Darnell JE Jr, Stein RB, Rosen J. (1995). Spacing of palindromic half sites as a determinant of selective STAT (signal transducers and activators of transcription) DNA binding and transcriptional activity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.*, 92(7), 3041-5.
- <sup>129</sup> Horvath CM, Stark GR, Kerr IM, Darnell JE Jr. (2004). Interactions between STAT and non-STAT proteins in the interferon-stimulated gene factor 3 transcription complex. *Mol Cell Biol.*, *16*(12), 6957-64.
- <sup>130</sup> Kojima H, Nakajima K, Hirano T. (1996). IL-6-inducible complexes on an IL-6 response element of the junB promoter contain Stat3 and 36 kDa CRE-like site binding protein(s). *Oncogene*, *12*(3), 547-54.
- <sup>131</sup> Schaefer TS, Sanders LK, Nathans D. (1995). Cooperative transcriptional activity of Jun and Stat3 beta, a short form of Stat3. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.*, *92*(20), 9097-101.
- <sup>132</sup> Ram PA, Park SH, Choi HK, Waxman DJ. (1996). Growth hormone activation of Stat 1, Stat 3, and Stat 5 in rat liver. Differential kinetics of hormone desensitization and growth hormone stimulation of both tyrosine phosphorylation and serine/threonine phosphorylation. *J Biol Chem.*, 271(10), 5929-40.
- <sup>133</sup> Zhang X, Blenis J, Li HC, Schindler C, Chen-Kiang S. (1995).
  Requirement of serine phosphorylation for formation of STAT-promoter complexes. *Science*, 267(5206), 1990-4.
- <sup>134</sup> Chen, S.H., Benveniste, E.N. (2004). Oncostatin M: a pleiotropic cytokine in the central nervous system. *Cytokine & Growth Factor Reviews*, *15*(5), 379-91.

- <sup>135</sup> Roux PP, Blenis J. (2004). ERK and p38 MAPK-activated protein kinases: a family of protein kinases with diverse biological functions. *Microbiol Mol Biol Rev.*, 68(2), 320-44.
- <sup>136</sup> Hermanns HM, Radtke S, Schaper F, Heinrich PC, Behrmann I. (2000).
  Non-redundant signal transduction of interleukin-6-type cytokines. The adapter protein Shc is specifically recruited to rhe oncostatin M receptor. J Biol Chem., 275(52), 40742-8.
- <sup>137</sup> Ravichandran KS, Zhou MM, Pratt JC, Harlan JE, Walk SF, Fesik SW, *et al.* (1997). Evidence for a requirement for both phospholipid and phosphotyrosine binding via the Shc phosphotyrosine-binding domain in vivo. *Mol Cell Biol.*, *17*(9), 5540-9.
- <sup>138</sup> Chardin P, Camonis JH, Gale NW, van Aelst L, Schlessinger J, Wigler MH, *et al.* (1993). Human Sos1: a guanine nucleotide exchange factor for Ras that binds to GRB2. *Science*, *260*(5112), 1338-43.
- <sup>139</sup> Wartmann M, Davis RJ. (1994). The native structure of the activated Raf protein kinase is a membrane-bound multi-subunit complex. *J Biol Chem.*, 269(9), 6695-701.
- <sup>140</sup> Zheng CF, Guan KL. (1994). Activation of MEK family kinases requires phosphorylation of two conserved Ser/Thr residues. *EMBO J.*, *13*(5), 1123-31.
- <sup>141</sup> Zheng CF, Guan KL. (1993). Cloning and characterization of two distinct human extracellular signal-regulated kinase activator kinases, MEK1 and MEK2. *J Biol Chem.*, 268(15), 11435-9.
- <sup>142</sup> Kim H, Baumann H. (1999). Dual signaling role of the protein tyrosine phosphatase SHP-2 in regulating expression of acute-phase plasma proteins by interleukin-6 cytokine receptors in hepatic cells. Mol Cell Biol., 19(8):5326-38.
- <sup>143</sup> Waetzig V, Herdegen T. (2005). Context-specific inhibition of JNKs: overcoming the dilemma of protection and damage. *Trends Pharmacol Sci.*, *26*(9), 455-61.
- <sup>144</sup> Lawler S, Fleming Y, Goedert M, Cohen P. (1998). Synergistic activation of SAPK1/JNK1 by two MAP kinase kinases in vitro. *Curr Biol.*, 8(25), 1387-90.

- <sup>145</sup> Enslen H, Brancho DM, Davis RJ. (2000). Molecular determinants that mediate selective activation of p38 MAP kinase isoforms. *EMBO J.*, *19*(6), 1301-11.
- <sup>146</sup> Demyanets, S., *et al.* (2011). Oncostatin M-enhanced vascular endothelial growth factor expression in human vascular smooth muscle cells involves PI3K-, p38 MAPK-, Erk1/2- and STAT1/STAT3-dependent pathways and is attenuated by interferon-g. *Basic Research in Cardiology*, *106*, 217–231.
- <sup>147</sup> Tong L, Smyth D, Kerr C, Catterall J, Richards CD. (2004). Mitogenactivated protein kinases Erk1/2 and p38 are required for maximal regulation of TIMP-1 by oncostatin M in murine fibroblasts. *Cell Signal.*, *16*(10), 1123-32.
- <sup>148</sup> Hohensinner PJ, Kaun C, Rychli K, Niessner A, Pfaffenberger S, Rega G, *et al.* (2009). The inflammatory mediator oncostatin M induces stromal derived factor-1 in human adult cardiac cells. *FASEB J.*, 23(3), 774-82.
- <sup>149</sup> Chang L, Karin M. (2001 )Mammalian MAP kinase signalling cascades. *Nature*, *410*(6824), 37-40.
- <sup>150</sup> Shaulian E, Karin M. (2002). AP-1 as a regulator of cell life and death. *Nat Cell Biol.*, *4*(5), E131-6.
- <sup>151</sup> Kamimura D, Ishihara K, Hirano T. (2003). IL-6 signal transduction and its physiological roles: the signal orchestration model. *Rev Physiol Biochem Pharmacol.*, *149*, 1-38.
- <sup>152</sup> Nishida K, Yoshida Y, Itoh M, Fukada T, Ohtani T, Shirogane T, *et al.* (1999). Gab-family adapter proteins act downstream of cytokine and growth factor receptors and T- and B-cell antigen receptors. *Blood*, *93*(6), 1809-16.
- <sup>153</sup> Collins BJ, Deak M, Arthur JS, Armit LJ, Alessi DR. (2003). In vivo role of the PIF-binding docking site of PDK1 defined by knock-in mutation. *The EMBO Journal*, 22(16), 4202-11.
- <sup>154</sup> Zarling JM, Shoyab M, Marquardt H, Hanson MB, Lioubin MN, Todaro GJ. (1986). Oncostatin M: a growth regulator produced by differentiated histiocytic lymphoma cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.*, *83*(24), 9739-43.

- <sup>155</sup> Yoshimura, A., Ichihara, M., Kinjyo, I., Moriyama, M., Copeland, N.G., Gilbert, D.J., *et al.* (1996). Mouse oncostatin M: an immediate early gene induced by multiple cytokines through the JAK-STAT5 pathway. *The European Molecular Biology Organization Journal*, *15*(5), 1055-63.
- <sup>156</sup> Ma, Y., Streiff, R.J., Liu, J., Spence, M.J., Vestal, R.E. (1999). Cloning and characterization of human oncostatin M promoter. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 27(23), 4649-57.
- <sup>157</sup> Hamilton, A.S., Radka, S.F., Bernstein, L., Gill, P.S., Gonsalves, M., Naemura, J.R., *et al.* (1994). Relationship of serum levels of oncostatin M to AIDS-related and classic Kaposi's sarcoma. *Journal of Acquired Immunodeficiency Syndromes*, 7(4), 410-4.
- <sup>158</sup> Vecchiet, J., Dalessandro, M., Falasca, K., Di Iorio, A., Travasi, F., Zingariello, P., *et al.* (2003). Increased production of oncostatin-M by lymphomononuclear cells from HIV-1-infected patients with neuroAIDS. *Journal of Acquired Immunodeficiency Syndromes*, *32*(4), 464-5.
- <sup>159</sup> Kastl SP, Speidl WS, Kaun C, Katsaros KM, Rega G, Afonyushkin T, *et al.* (2008). In human macrophages the complement component C5a induces the expression of oncostatin M via AP-1 activation. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*, 28(3), 498-503.
- <sup>160</sup> Vasse, M., Paysant, I., Soria, J., Mirshahi, S.S., Vannier, J.P., Soria, C.
  (1996). Down-regulation of fibrinogen biosynthesis by IL-4, IL-10 and IL 13. *British Journal of Haematology*, 93(4), 955-61.
- <sup>161</sup> Richards, C.D., Brown, T.J., Shoyab, M., Baumann, H., Gauldie, J. (1992).
  Recombinant oncostatin M stimulates the production of acute phase proteins in HepG2 cells and rat primary hepatocytes in vitro. *Journal of Immunology*, *148*(6), 1731-6.
- <sup>162</sup> Guillet, C., Fourcin, M., Chevalier, S., Pouplard, A., Gascan, H. (1995).
  ELISA detection of circulating levels of LIF, OSM, and CNTF in septic shock. *Annals of the New York Academy of Science*, *762*, 407-9.
- <sup>163</sup> Hui, W., Bell, M., Carroll, G. (1996). Detection of oncostatin M in synovial fluid from patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*, *56*(3), 184-7.

- <sup>164</sup> Korzus, E., Nagase, H., Rydell, R., Travis, J. (1997). The mitogenactivated protein kinase and JAK-STAT signaling pathways are required for an oncostatin M-responsive element-mediated activation of matrix metalloproteinase 1 gene expression. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 272(2), 1188–1196.
- <sup>165</sup> Li, W.Q. & Zafarullah M. (1998). Oncostatin M up-regulates tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases-3 gene expression in articular chondrocytes via de novo transcription, protein synthesis, and tyrosine kinase- and mitogen-activated protein kinase-dependent mechanisms. *Journal of Immunology*, 161(9), 5000-7.
- <sup>166</sup> Grove, R.I., Eberhardt, C., Abid, S., Mazzucco, C., Liu, J., Kiener, P., *et al.* (1993). Oncostatin M is a mitogen for rabbit vascular smooth muscle cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 90(3), 823-7.
- <sup>167</sup> Wijelath ES, Carlsen B, Cole T, Chen J, Kothari S, Hammond WP. (1997). Oncostatin M induces basic fibroblast growth factor expression in endothelial cells and promotes endothelial cell proliferation, migration and spindle morphology. *J Cell Sci.*, *110* (Pt 7):871-9.
- <sup>168</sup> Modur, V., Feldhaus, M.J., Weyrich A.S., Jicha, D.L., Prescott, S.M., Zimmerman, G.A., *et al.* (1997). Oncostatin M is a proinflammatory mediator. In vivo effects correlate with endothelial cell expression of inflammatory cytokines and adhesion molecules. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 100,158–168.
- <sup>169</sup> Widmer, U., Manogue, K.R., Cerami, A., Sherry, B. (1993). Genomic cloning and promoter analysis of macrophage inflammatory protein (MIP)-2, MIP-1 alpha, and MIP-1 beta, members of the chemokine superfamily of proinflammatory cytokines. *Journal of Immunology*, *150*(11), 4996-5012.
- <sup>170</sup> Smith, D.F., Galkina, E., Ley, K., Huo, Y. (2005). GRO family chemokines are specialized for monocyte arrest from flow. *American Journal of Physiology. Heart and Circulatory Physiology*, 289(5), H1976-84.

- <sup>171</sup> Brown, T.J., Rowe, J.M., Liu, J.W., Shoyab, M. (1991). Regulation of IL-6 expression by oncostatin M. *Journal of Immunology*, *147*(7), 2175-80.
- <sup>172</sup> Van Wagoner, N.J., Choi, C., Repovic, P., Benveniste, E.N. (2000).
  Oncostatin M regulation of interleukin-6 expression in astrocytes: biphasic regulation involving the mitogen-activated protein kinases ERK1/2 and p38. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, *75*(2), 563-75.
- <sup>173</sup> Hurst, S.M., McLoughlin, R.M., Monslow, J., Owens, S., Morgan, L., Fuller, G.M., *et al.* (2002). Secretion of oncostatin M by infiltrating neutrophils: regulation of IL-6 and chemokine expression in human mesothelial cells. *Journal of Immunology*, *169*(9), 5244-51.
- <sup>174</sup> Bernard, C., Merval, R., Lebret, M., Delerive, P., Dusanter-Fourt, I., Lehoux, S., *et al.* (1999). Oncostatin M induces interleukin-6 and cyclooxygenase-2 expression in human vascular smooth muscle cells : synergy with interleukin-1beta. *Circulation Research*, 85(12), 1124-31.
- <sup>175</sup> Albasanz-Puig, A., Murray, J., Preusch, M., Coan, D., Namekata, M., Patel, Y., *et al.* (2011). Oncostatin M is expressed in atherosclerotic lesions: A role for Oncostatin M in the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis. *Atherosclerosis*, [Epub ahead of print].
- <sup>176</sup> Bowcock AM, Kidd JR, Lathrop GM, Daneshvar L, May LT, Ray A, *et al.* (1988). The human "interferon-beta 2/hepatocyte stimulating factor/interleukin-6" gene: DNA polymorphism studies and localization to chromosome 7p21. *Genomics*, *3*(1), 8-16.
- <sup>177</sup> Somers W, Stahl M, Seehra JS. (1997). 1.9 A crystal structure of interleukin 6: implications for a novel mode of receptor dimerization and signaling. *EMBO J.*, *16*(5), 989-97.
- <sup>178</sup> May LT, Santhanam U, Tatter SB, Bhardwaj N, Ghrayeb J, Sehgal PB. (1988). Phosphorylation of secreted forms of human beta 2-interferon/hepatocyte stimulating factor/interleukin-6. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.*, 152(3), 1144-50.
- <sup>179</sup> May LT, Ghrayeb J, Santhanam U, Tatter SB, Sthoeger Z, Helfgott DC, *et al.* (1988). Synthesis and secretion of multiple forms of beta 2interferon/B-cell differentiation factor 2/hepatocyte-stimulating factor by human fibroblasts and monocytes. *J Biol Chem.*, 263(16), 7760-6.

- Boulanger, M.J., Chow, D.C., Brevnova, E.E., Garcia, K.C. (2003).
  Hexameric structure and assembly of the interleukin-6/IL-6 alphareceptor/gp130 complex. *Science*, *300*(5628), 2101-4.
- <sup>181</sup> Taga T, Hibi M, Hirata Y, Yamasaki K, Yasukawa K, Matsuda T, *et al.* (1989). Interleukin-6 triggers the association of its receptor with a possible signal transducer, gp130. *Cell*, *58*(3), 573-81.
- <sup>182</sup> Chung CD, Liao J, Liu B, Rao X, Jay P, Berta P, *et al.* (1997). Specific inhibition of Stat3 signal transduction by PIAS3. *Science*, *278*(5344), 1803-5.
- <sup>183</sup> Bharti AC, Donato N, Aggarwal BB. (2003). Curcumin (diferuloylmethane) inhibits constitutive and IL-6-inducible STAT3 phosphorylation in human multiple myeloma cells. *J Immunol.*, *171*(7), 3863-71.
- <sup>184</sup> Horiuchi S, Koyanagi Y, Zhou Y, Miyamoto H, Tanaka Y, Waki M, *et al.* (1994). Soluble interleukin-6 receptors released from T cell or granulocyte/macrophage cell lines and human peripheral blood mononuclear cells are generated through an alternative splicing mechanism. *Eur J Immunol.*, 24(8), 1945-8.
- <sup>185</sup> Matthews V, Schuster B, Schütze S, Bussmeyer I, Ludwig A, Hundhausen C, *et al.* (2003). Cellular cholesterol depletion triggers shedding of the human interleukin-6 receptor by ADAM10 and ADAM17 (TACE). *J Biol Chem.*, 278(40), 38829-39.
- <sup>186</sup> Rose-John S, Heinrich PC. (1994). Soluble receptors for cytokines and growth factors: generation and biological function. *Biochem J.*, *300* (Pt 2), 281-90.
- <sup>187</sup> Kim, S., Iwao, H. (2000). Molecular and cellular mechanisms of angiotensin II-mediated cardiovascular and renal diseases.
  *Pharmacological Reviews*, 52(1), 11-34.
- <sup>188</sup> Han, Y., Runge, M.S., Brasier, A.R. (1999). Angiotensin II induces interleukin-6 transcription in vascular smooth muscle cells through pleiotropic activation of nuclear factor-kappa B transcription factors. *Circulation Research*, 84(6), 695-703.

- <sup>189</sup> Tieu, B.C., Lee, C., Sun, H., Lejeune, W., Recinos, A. 3rd, Ju, X., *et al.* (2009). An adventitial IL-6/MCP1 amplification loop accelerates macrophage-mediated vascular inflammation leading to aortic dissection in mice. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, *119*(12), 3637-51.
- <sup>190</sup> Huber, S.A., Sakkinen, P., Conze, D., Hardin, N., Tracy, R. (1999).
  Interleukin-6 exacerbates early atherosclerosis in mice. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology, 19*(10), 2364-7.
- <sup>191</sup> Saremi, A., Anderson, R.J., Luo, P., Moritz, T.E., Schwenke, D.C., Allison, M., *et al.* (2009). Association between IL-6 and the extent of coronary atherosclerosis in the veterans affairs diabetes trial (VADT). *Atherosclerosis*, 203(2), 610-4.
- <sup>192</sup> Schieffer B, Schieffer E, Hilfiker-Kleiner D, Hilfiker A, Kovanen PT, Kaartinen M, *et al.* (2000). Expression of angiotensin II and interleukin 6 in human coronary atherosclerotic plaques: potential implications for inflammation and plaque instability. *Circulation*, 101(12), 1372-8.
- <sup>193</sup> Romano, M., Sironi, M., Toniatti, C., Polentarutti, N., Fruscella, P.,
  Ghezzi, P., *et al.* (1997). Role of IL-6 and its soluble receptor in induction of chemokines and leukocyte recruitment. *Immunity*, 6(3), 315-25.
- <sup>194</sup> Rott, D., Zhu, J., Zhou, Y.F., Burnett, M.S., Zalles-Ganley, A., Epstein, S.E. (2003). IL-6 is produced by splenocytes derived from CMV-infected mice in response to CMV antigens, and induces MCP-1 production by endothelial cells: a new mechanistic paradigm for infection-induced atherogenesis. *Atherosclerosis*, 170(2), 223-8.
- <sup>195</sup> van der Poll, T., Levi, M., Hack, C.E., ten Cate, H., van Deventer, S.J., Eerenberg, A.J., *et al.* (1994). Elimination of interleukin 6 attenuates coagulation activation in experimental endotoxemia in chimpanzees. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*, *179*(4), 1253-9.
- <sup>196</sup> Laemmli UK. (1970) Cleavage of structural proteins during the assembly of the head of bacteriophage T4. *Nature*, 227(5259), 680-5.
- <sup>197</sup> Towbin H, Staehelin T, Gordon J. (1979). Electrophoretic transfer of proteins from polyacrylamide gels to nitrocellulose sheets: procedure and some applications. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.*, 76(9), 4350-4.

- <sup>198</sup> Fuss IJ, Kanof ME, Smith PD, Zola H. (2009). Isolation of whole mononuclear cells from peripheral blood and cord blood. *Curr Protoc Immunol, Chapter* 7:Unit7.1.
- <sup>199</sup> Riou S, Mees B, Esposito B, Merval R, Vilar J, Stengel D, *et al.* (2007).
  High pressure promotes monocyte adhesion to the vascular wall.
  *Circulation Research*, 100(8), 1226-33.
- <sup>200</sup> Lafontant PJ, Burns AR, Donnachie E, Haudek SB, Smith CW, Entman ML. (2006). Oncostatin M differentially regulates CXC chemokines in mouse cardiac fibroblasts. *American Journal of Physiology. Cell Physiology*, 291(1), C18-26.
- <sup>201</sup> Hol J, Wilhelmsen L, Haraldsen G. (2010). The murine IL-8 homologues KC, MIP-2, and LIX are found in endothelial cytoplasmic granules but not in Weibel-Palade bodies. *J Leukoc Biol.*, 87(3), 501-8.
- <sup>202</sup> Matsumoto M, Kikkawa S, Kohase M, Miyake K, Seya T. (2002).
  Establishment of a monoclonal antibody against human Toll-like receptor 3 that blocks double-stranded RNA-mediated signaling. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.*, 293(5), 1364-9.
- <sup>203</sup> Matsumoto M, Seya T. (2008). TLR3: interferon induction by doublestranded RNA including poly(I:C). *Adv Drug Deliv Rev.*, *60*(7), 805-12.
- Fritz DK, Kerr C, Botelho F, Stampfli M, Richards CD. (2009). Oncostatin M (OSM) primes IL-13- and IL-4-induced eotaxin responses in fibroblasts: regulation of the type-II IL-4 receptor chains IL-4Ralpha and IL-13Ralpha1. *Exp Cell Res.*, 315(20), 3486-99
- <sup>205</sup> Jiang Q, Akashi S, Miyake K, Petty HR. (2000). Lipopolysaccharide induces physical proximity between CD14 and toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4) prior to nuclear translocation of NF-kappa B. *Journal of Immunology*, *165*(7), 3541-4.
- <sup>206</sup> Lloyd-Jones KL, Kelly MM, Kubes P. (2008). Varying importance of soluble and membrane CD14 in endothelial detection of lipopolysaccharide. *Journal of Immunology*, 181(2), 1446-53.

- Frey EA, Miller DS, Jahr TG, Sundan A, Bazil V, Espevik T, *et al.* (1992).
  Soluble CD14 participates in the response of cells to lipopolysaccharide.
  *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, *176*(6), 1665-71.
- <sup>208</sup> Dillon SR, Sprecher C, Hammond A, Bilsborough J, Rosenfeld-Franklin M, *et al.* (2004). Interleukin 31, a cytokine produced by activated T cells, induces dermatitis in mice. *Nat Immunol*, *5*(7), 752-60.
- <sup>209</sup> Darnell JE Jr, Kerr IM, Stark GR. (1994). Jak-STAT pathways and transcriptional activation in response to IFNs and other extracellular signaling proteins. *Science*, *264*(5164), 1415-21.
- <sup>210</sup> Wen Z, Zhong Z, Darnell JE Jr. (1995). Maximal activation of transcription by Stat1 and Stat3 requires both tyrosine and serine phosphorylation. *Cell*, 82(2), 241-50.
- <sup>211</sup> Smyth DC, Kerr C, Richards CD. (2006). Oncostatin M-induced IL-6 expression in murine fibroblasts requires the activation of protein kinase Cdelta. *Journal of Immunology*, *177*(12), 8740-7.
- <sup>212</sup> Chen LF, Greene WC. (2004). Shaping the nuclear action of NF-kappaB. *Nature Reviews. Molecular Cell Biology* 5(5):392-401.
- <sup>213</sup> Stary HC, Chandler AB, Glagov S, Guyton JR, Insull W Jr, Rosenfeld ME, *et al.* A definition of initial, fatty streak, and intermediate lesions of atherosclerosis. A report from the Committee on Vascular Lesions of the Council on Arteriosclerosis, American Heart Association. *Circulation*, 89(5), 2462-78.
- <sup>214</sup> Davies MJ, Gordon JL, Gearing AJ, Pigott R, Woolf N, Katz D, *et al.* (1993). The expression of the adhesion molecules ICAM-1, VCAM-1, PECAM, and E-selectin in human atherosclerosis. *J Pathol.*, *171*(3), 223-9.
- <sup>215</sup> Reape, T.J., Groot, P.H. (1999). Chemokines and atherosclerosis. *Atherosclerosis*, *147*(2), 213-25.
- <sup>216</sup> Galis ZS, Sukhova GK, Lark MW, Libby P. (1994). Increased expression of matrix metalloproteinases and matrix degrading activity in vulnerable regions of human atherosclerotic plaques. *J Clin Invest.*, *94*(6), 2493-503.

- <sup>217</sup> Takeda K, Akira S. (2005). Toll-like receptors in innate immunity. *Int Immunol.*, *17*(1), 1-14.
- <sup>218</sup> Mukhopadhyay S, Hoidal JR, Mukherjee TK. (2006). Role of TNFalpha in pulmonary pathophysiology. *Respir Res.*, *7*, 125.
- <sup>219</sup> Trinchieri G. (1995). Interleukin-12: a proinflammatory cytokine with immunoregulatory functions that bridge innate resistance and antigen-specific adaptive immunity. *Annu Rev Immunol.*, *13*, 251-76.
- <sup>220</sup> Mozaffarian A, Brewer AW, Trueblood ES, Luzina IG, Todd NW, Atamas SP, *et al.* (2008). Mechanisms of oncostatin M-induced pulmonary inflammation and fibrosis. *J Immunol.*, *181*(10), 7243-53.
- <sup>221</sup> Simpson JL, Baines KJ, Boyle MJ, Scott RJ, Gibson PG. (2009).
  Oncostatin M (OSM) is increased in asthma with incompletely reversible airflow obstruction. *Exp Lung Res.*, 35(9), 781-94.
- <sup>222</sup> Hui W, Cawston T, Rowan AD. (2003). Transforming growth factor beta 1 and insulin-like growth factor 1 block collagen degradation induced by oncostatin M in combination with tumour necrosis factor alpha from bovine cartilage. *Ann Rheum Dis.*, 62(2), 172-4.
- <sup>223</sup> Rowan AD, Koshy PJ, Shingleton WD, Degnan BA, Heath JK, Vernallis AB, *et al.* (2001). Synergistic effects of glycoprotein 130 binding cytokines in combination with interleukin-1 on cartilage collagen breakdown. *Arthritis Rheum.*, 44(7), 1620-32.
- Koshy PJ, Henderson N, Logan C, Life PF, Cawston TE, Rowan AD. (2002). Interleukin 17 induces cartilage collagen breakdown: novel synergistic effects in combination with proinflammatory cytokines. *Ann Rheum Dis.*, 61(8), 704-13.
- Rowan AD, Hui W, Cawston TE, Richards CD. (2003). Adenoviral gene transfer of interleukin-1 in combination with oncostatin M induces significant joint damage in a murine model. *Am J Pathol.*, *162*(6), 1975-84.
- Kastl SP, Speidl WS, Katsaros KM, Kaun C, Rega G, Assadian A, *et al.* (2009). Thrombin induces the expression of oncostatin M via AP-1 activation in human macrophages: a link between coagulation and inflammation. *Blood*, 114(13), 2812-8.
- <sup>227</sup> Kotloff RM, Little J, Elias JA. (1990). Human alveolar macrophage and blood monocyte interleukin-6 production. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol.*, *3*(5), 497-505.
- <sup>228</sup> Jirik FR, Podor TJ, Hirano T, Kishimoto T, Loskutoff DJ, *et al.* (1989). Bacterial lipopolysaccharide and inflammatory mediators augment IL-6 secretion by human endothelial cells. *J Immunol.*, *142*(1), 144-7.
- <sup>229</sup> Sweet MJ, Hume DA. (1996). Endotoxin signal transduction in macrophages. *J Leukoc Biol.*, *60*(1), 8-26.
- <sup>230</sup> Spooren A, Kooijman R, Lintermans B, Van Craenenbroeck K, Vermeulen L, Haegeman G, *et al.* (2010). Cooperation of NFkappaB and CREB to induce synergistic IL-6 expression in astrocytes. *Cell Signal.*, 22(5), 871-81.
- <sup>231</sup> Shiama N. (1997). The p300/CBP family: integrating signals with transcription factors and chromatin. *Trends Cell Biol.*, 7(6), 230-6.
- <sup>232</sup> Hiroi M, Ohmori Y. (2003). The transcriptional coactivator CREB-binding protein cooperates with STAT1 and NF-kappa B for synergistic transcriptional activation of the CXC ligand 9/monokine induced by interferon-gamma gene. *J Biol Chem.*, 278(1), 651-60.
- <sup>233</sup> Dendorfer U, Oettgen P, Libermann TA. (1994). Multiple regulatory elements in the interleukin-6 gene mediate induction by prostaglandins, cyclic AMP, and lipopolysaccharide. *Mol Cell Biol.*, *14*(7), 4443-54.
- <sup>234</sup> Lalla E, Lamster IB, Hofmann MA, Bucciarelli L, Jerud AP, Tucker S, *et al.* (2003). Oral infection with a periodontal pathogen accelerates early atherosclerosis in apolipoprotein E-null mice. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.*, *23*(8), 1405-11.
- <sup>235</sup> Song L, Schindler C. (2004). IL-6 and the acute phase response in murine atherosclerosis. *Atherosclerosis*, *177*(1), 43-51.
- Leung DW, Cachianes G, Kuang WJ, Goeddel DV, Ferrara N. (1989).
  Vascular endothelial growth factor is a secreted angiogenic mitogen.
  Science, 246(4935), 1306-9.

- <sup>237</sup> Nagy JA, Vasile E, Feng D, Sundberg C, Brown LF, Detmar MJ, *et al.* (2002). Vascular permeability factor/vascular endothelial growth factor induces lymphangiogenesis as well as angiogenesis. *J Exp Med.*, 196(11), 1497-506.
- <sup>238</sup> Birk DM, Barbato J, Mureebe L, Chaer RA. (2009). Current insights on the biology and clinical aspects of VEGF regulation. *Vasc Endovascular Surg.*, *42*(6), 517-30.
- <sup>239</sup> Shen H, Clauss M, Ryan J, Schmidt AM, Tijburg P, Borden L, *et al.* (1993). Characterization of vascular permeability factor/vascular endothelial growth factor receptors on mononuclear phagocytes. *Blood*, *81*(10), 2767-73.
- <sup>240</sup> Faffe DS, Flynt L, Mellema M, Whitehead TR, Bourgeois K, *et al.* (2005). Oncostatin M causes VEGF release from human airway smooth muscle: synergy with IL-1beta. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol.*, 288(6), L1040-8.
- <sup>241</sup> Ramanathan M, Pinhal-Enfield G, Hao I, Leibovich SJ. (2007). Synergistic up-regulation of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) expression in macrophages by adenosine A2A receptor agonists and endotoxin involves transcriptional regulation via the hypoxia response element in the VEGF promoter. Mol Biol Cell., 18(1), 14-23.
- <sup>242</sup> Martin D, Galisteo R, Gutkind JS. (2009). CXCL8/IL8 stimulates vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) expression and the autocrine activation of VEGFR2 in endothelial cells by activating NFkappaB through the CBM (Carma3/Bcl10/Malt1) complex. J Biol Chem., 284(10), 6038-42
- <sup>243</sup> Minich WB, Balasta ML, Goss DJ, Rhoads RE. (1994). Chromatographic resolution of in vivo phosphorylated and nonphosphorylated eukaryotic translation initiation factor eIF-4E: increased cap affinity of the phosphorylated form. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.*, *91*(16), 7668-72.
- <sup>244</sup> De Benedetti A, Rhoads RE. (1990). Overexpression of eukaryotic protein synthesis initiation factor 4E in HeLa cells results in aberrant growth and morphology. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A., 87(21), 8212-6.
- <sup>245</sup> Lang CH, Frost RA. (2005). Endotoxin disrupts the leucine-signaling pathway involving phosphorylation of mTOR, 4E-BP1, and S6K1 in skeletal muscle. *J Cell Physiol.*, 203(1), 144-55.

- <sup>246</sup> Inoue M, Itoh H, Ueda M, Naruko T, Kojima A, Komatsu R, *et al.* (1998). Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) expression in human coronary atherosclerotic lesions: possible pathophysiological significance of VEGF in progression of atherosclerosis. *Circulation, 98*(20), 2108-16.
- <sup>247</sup> Celletti FL, Waugh JM, Amabile PG, Brendolan A, Hilfiker PR, Dake MD. (2001). Vascular endothelial growth factor enhances atherosclerotic plaque progression. *Nat Med.*, 7(4), 425-9.
- <sup>248</sup> O'Brien KD, McDonald TO, Chait A, Allen MD, Alpers CE. (1996). Neovascular expression of E-selectin, intercellular adhesion molecule-1, and vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 in human atherosclerosis and their relation to intimal leukocyte content. *Circulation*, *93*(4), 672-82.
- <sup>249</sup> Moulton KS, Vakili K, Zurakowski D, Soliman M, Butterfield C, Sylvin E, *et al.* (2003). Inhibition of plaque neovascularization reduces macrophage accumulation and progression of advanced atherosclerosis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.*, *100*(8), 4736-41.
- <sup>250</sup> Dunmore BJ, McCarthy MJ, Naylor AR, Brindle NP. (2007). Carotid plaque instability and ischemic symptoms are linked to immaturity of microvessels within plaques. *J Vasc Surg.*, *45*(1), 155-9.
- <sup>251</sup> Cochran BH, Reffel AC, Stiles CD. (1983). Molecular cloning of gene sequences regulated by platelet-derived growth factor. *Cell*, *33*(3), 939-47.
- <sup>252</sup> Heinrich JN, O'Rourke EC, Chen L, Gray H, Dorfman KS, *et al.* (2004).
  Biological activity of the growth factor-induced cytokine N51: structure-function analysis using N51/Interleukin-8 chimeric molecules. *Mol Cell Biol.*, 14(5), 2849-61.
- <sup>253</sup> McColl SR, Clark-Lewis I. (1999). Inhibition of Murine Neutrophil Recruitment In Vivo by CXC Chemokine Receptor Antagonists. J Immunol., 163(5), 2829-35.
- <sup>254</sup> Introna M, Bast RC Jr, Tannenbaum CS, Hamilton TA, Adams DO. (1987). The effect of LPS on expression of the early "competence" genes JE and KC in murine peritoneal macrophages. J Immunol., 138(11), 3891-6.

- <sup>255</sup> Shen XY, Hamilton TA, DiCorleto PE. (1989). Lipopolysaccharideinduced expression of the competence gene KC in vascular endothelial cells is mediated through protein kinase C. *J Cell Physiol.*, *140*(1), 44-51.
- <sup>256</sup> Ohmori Y, Hamilton TA. (1994). IFN-gamma selectively inhibits lipopolysaccharide-inducible JE/monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 and KC/GRO/melanoma growth-stimulating activity gene expression in mouse peritoneal macrophages. *J Immunol.*, *153*(5), 2204-12.
- <sup>257</sup> Boisvert WA, Santiago R, Curtiss LK, Terkeltaub RA. (1998). A leukocyte homologue of the IL-8 receptor CXCR-2 mediates the accumulation of macrophages in atherosclerotic lesions of LDL receptordeficient mice. *J Clin Invest.*, *101*(2), 353-63.
- <sup>258</sup> Ohmori Y, Fukumoto S, Hamilton TA. (1995). Two structurally distinct kappa B sequence motifs cooperatively control LPS-induced KC gene transcription in mouse macrophages. J Immunol., 155(7), 3593-600.
- <sup>259</sup> Tekamp-Olson P, Gallegos C, Bauer D, McClain J, Sherry B, Fabre M, *et al.* (1990). Cloning and characterization of cDNAs for murine macrophage inflammatory protein 2 and its human homologues. *J Exp Med.*, *172*(3), 911-9.
- <sup>260</sup> Wolpe SD, Sherry B, Juers D, Davatelis G, Yurt RW, Cerami A. (1989).
  Identification and characterization of macrophage inflammatory protein 2.
  *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.*, 86(2), 612-6.
- <sup>261</sup> Waugh DJ, Wilson C. (2008). The interleukin-8 pathway in cancer. *Clin Cancer Res.*, *14*(21), 6735-41.
- <sup>262</sup> Kunsch C, Lang RK, Rosen CA, Shannon MF. (1994). Synergistic transcriptional activation of the IL-8 gene by NF-kappa B p65 (RelA) and NF-IL-6. *J Immunol.*, *153*(1), 153-64.
- <sup>263</sup> Liu Y, Hultén LM, Wiklund O. (1997). Macrophages isolated from human atherosclerotic plaques produce IL-8, and oxysterols may have a regulatory function for IL-8 production. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.*, 17(2), 317-23.
- <sup>264</sup> Simonini A, Moscucci M, Muller DW, Bates ER, Pagani FD, *et al.* (2000).
  IL-8 is an angiogenic factor in human coronary atherectomy tissue.
  *Circulation*, 101(13), 1519-26.

- <sup>265</sup> Gerszten RE, Garcia-Zepeda EA, Lim YC, Yoshida M, Ding HA, *et al.* (1999). MCP-1 and IL-8 trigger firm adhesion of monocytes to vascular endothelium under flow conditions. *Nature*, *398*(6729)718-23.
- <sup>266</sup> Hastings NE, Feaver RE, Lee MY, Wamhoff BR, Blackman BR. (2009).
  Human IL-8 regulates smooth muscle cell VCAM-1 expression in response to endothelial cells exposed to atheroprone flow. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.*, 29(5), 725-31.
- <sup>267</sup> Kim SH, Kim DH, Lavender P, Seo JH, Kim YS, Park JS, *et al.* (2009).
  Repression of TNF-alpha-induced IL-8 expression by the glucocorticoid receptor-beta involves inhibition of histone H4 acetylation. *Exp Mol Med.*, *41*(5), 297-306.
- <sup>268</sup> Young DA, Lakey RL, Pennington CJ, Jones D, Kevorkian L, Edwards DR, *et al.* (2005). Histone deacetylase inhibitors modulate metalloproteinase gene expression in chondrocytes and block cartilage resorption. *Arthritis Res Ther.*, 7(3), R503-12.
- <sup>269</sup> Richards CD, Langdon C, Botelho F, Brown TJ, Agro A. (1996).
  Oncostatin M inhibits IL-1-induced expression of IL-8 and granulocytemacrophage colony-stimulating factor by synovial and lung fibroblasts. J Immunol., 156(1), 343-9.
- <sup>270</sup> Shaw G, Kamen R. (1986). Pillars Article: A Conserved AU Sequence from the 3' Untranslated Region of GM-CSF mRNA MediatesSelective mRNA Degradation. *Cell*, 46, 659-667.
- <sup>271</sup> Soehnlein O. (2012). Multiple roles for neutrophils in atherosclerosis. *Circ Res.*, *110*(6), 875-88.
- Koch AE, Polverini PJ, Kunkel SL, Harlow LA, DiPietro LA, *et al.* (1992). Interleukin-8 as a macrophage-derived mediator of angiogenesis.
  *Science*, 258(5089), 1798-801.
- <sup>273</sup> Gong JH, Clark-Lewis I. (1995). Antagonists of monocyte chemoattractant protein 1 identified by modification of functionally critical NH2-terminal residues. *J Exp Med.*, *181*(2), 631-40.
- <sup>274</sup> Matsushima K, Larsen CG, DuBois GC, Oppenheim JJ. (1989). Purification and characterization of a novel monocyte chemotactic and

activating factor produced by a human myelomonocytic cell line. *J Exp Med.*, *169*(4), 1485-90.

- <sup>275</sup> Yadav A, Saini V, Arora S. (2010). MCP-1: chemoattractant with a role beyond immunity: a review. *Clin Chim Acta.*, *411*(21-22), 1570-9.
- Ylä-Herttuala S, Lipton BA, Rosenfeld ME, Särkioja T, Yoshimura T, Leonard EJ, *et al.* (1991). Expression of monocyte chemoattractant protein 1 in macrophage-rich areas of human and rabbit atherosclerotic lesions. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.*, 88(12), 5252-6.
- <sup>277</sup> Kuziel WA, Morgan SJ, Dawson TC, Griffin S, Smithies O, Ley K, *et al.* (1997). Severe reduction in leukocyte adhesion and monocyte extravasation in mice deficient in CC chemokine receptor 2. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.*, 94(22), 12053-8.
- <sup>278</sup> Gu L, Okada Y, Clinton SK, Gerard C, Sukhova GK, Libby P, *et al.* (1998). Absence of monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 reduces atherosclerosis in low density lipoprotein receptor-deficient mice. *Mol Cell.*, 2(2), 275-81.
- <sup>279</sup> Boring L, Gosling J, Cleary M, Charo IF. (1998). Decreased lesion formation in CCR2-/- mice reveals a role for chemokines in the initiation of atherosclerosis. *Nature*, *394*(6696), 894-7.
- <sup>280</sup> Lin SK, Kok SH, Yeh FT, Kuo MY, Lin CC, Wang CC, *et al.* (2004). MEK/ERK and signal transducer and activator of transcription signaling pathways modulate oncostatin M-stimulated CCL2 expression in human osteoblasts through a common transcription factor. *Arthritis Rheum.*, 50(3), 785-93.
- <sup>281</sup> Goebeler M, Gillitzer R, Kilian K, Utzel K, Bröcker EB, Rapp UR, *et al.* (2001). Multiple signaling pathways regulate NF-kappaB-dependent transcription of the monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 gene in primary endothelial cells. *Blood*, *97*(1), 46-55.
- <sup>282</sup> Giraud S, Bienvenu F, Avril S, Gascan H, Heery DM, Coqueret O. (2002). Functional interaction of STAT3 transcription factor with the coactivator NcoA/SRC1a. J Biol Chem., 277(10), 8004-11.
- <sup>283</sup> Sheppard KA, Phelps KM, Williams AJ, Thanos D, Glass CK, Rosenfeld MG, *et al.* (1998). Nuclear integration of glucocorticoid receptor and

nuclear factor-kappaB signaling by CREB-binding protein and steroid receptor coactivator-1. *J Biol Chem.*, 273(45), 29291-4.

- <sup>284</sup> Lee SK, Kim HJ, Na SY, Kim TS, Choi HS, Im SY, *et al.* (1998). Steroid receptor coactivator-1 coactivates activating protein-1-mediated transactivations through interaction with the c-Jun and c-Fos subunits. *J Biol Chem.*, 273(27), 16651-4.
- <sup>285</sup> Litterst CM, Pfitzner E. (2001). Transcriptional activation by STAT6 requires the direct interaction with NCoA-1. *J Biol Chem.*, 276(49), 45713-21.
- <sup>286</sup> Aung HT, Schroder K, Himes SR, Brion K, van Zuylen W, Trieu A, *et al.* (2006). LPS regulates proinflammatory gene expression in macrophages by altering histone deacetylase expression. *FASEB J.*, 20(9), 1315-27.
- <sup>287</sup> Shalom-Barak T, Quach J, Lotz M. (1998). Interleukin-17-induced gene expression in articular chondrocytes is associated with activation of mitogen-activated protein kinases and NF-kappaB. *J Biol Chem.*, 273(42), 27467-73.
- <sup>288</sup> Goebeler M, Kilian K, Gillitzer R, Kunz M, Yoshimura T, Bröcker EB, *et al.* (1999). The MKK6/p38 stress kinase cascade is critical for tumor necrosis factor-alpha-induced expression of monocyte-chemoattractant protein-1 in endothelial cells. *Blood*, *93*(3), 857-65.
- <sup>289</sup> Cho ML, Jung YO, Moon YM, Min SY, Yoon CH, Lee SH, *et al.* (2006). Interleukin-18 induces the production of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) in rheumatoid arthritis synovial fibroblasts via AP-1dependent pathways. *Immunol Lett.*, *103*(2), 159-66.
- <sup>290</sup> Rose TM, Bruce AG. (1991). Oncostatin M is a member of a cytokine family that includes leukemia-inhibitory factor, granulocyte colony-stimulating factor, and interleukin 6. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.*, 88(19), 8641-5.
- <sup>291</sup> Edfeldt K, Swedenborg J, Hansson GK, Yan ZQ. (2002). Expression of toll-like receptors in human atherosclerotic lesions: a possible pathway for plaque activation. *Circulation*, 105(10), 1158-61.

- <sup>292</sup> Bauters C, Marotte F, Hamon M, Oliviéro P, Farhadian F, Robert V, *et al.* (1995). Accumulation of fetal fibronectin mRNAs after balloon denudation of rabbit arteries. Circulation. 1995 Aug 15;92(4):904-11.
- Okamura Y, Watari M, Jerud ES, Young DW, Ishizaka ST, Rose J, *et al.* (2001). The extra domain A of fibronectin activates Toll-like receptor 4. J *Biol Chem.*, 276(13), 10229-33.
- <sup>294</sup> Ohashi K, Burkart V, Flohé S, Kolb H. (2000). Cutting edge: heat shock protein 60 is a putative endogenous ligand of the toll-like receptor-4 complex. *J Immunol.*, *164*(2), 558-61.
- <sup>295</sup> Kleindienst R, Xu Q, Willeit J, Waldenberger FR, Weimann S, *et al.* (1993). Immunology of atherosclerosis. Demonstration of heat shock protein 60 expression and T lymphocytes bearing alpha/beta or gamma/delta receptor in human atherosclerotic lesions. *Am J Pathol.*, *142*(6), 1927-37.
- <sup>296</sup> Vink A, Pasterkamp G, Poppen M, Schoneveld AH, de Kleijn DP, Roholl PJ, *et al.* (2001). The adventitia of atherosclerotic coronary arteries frequently contains Chlamydia pneumoniae. *Atherosclerosis.*, *157*(1), 117-22.
- <sup>297</sup> Heo SK, Yun HJ, Noh EK, Park WH, Park SD. (2008). LPS induces inflammatory responses in human aortic vascular smooth muscle cells via Toll-like receptor 4 expression and nitric oxide production. *Immunol Lett.*, *120*(1-2), 57-64.
- <sup>298</sup> Andonegui G, Goyert SM, Kubes P. (2002). Lipopolysaccharide-induced leukocyte-endothelial cell interactions: a role for CD14 versus toll-like receptor 4 within microvessels. *J Immunol.*, *169*(4), 2111-9.
- <sup>299</sup> Nishibe T, Parry G, Ishida A, Aziz S, Murray J, Patel Y, *et al.* (2001).
  Oncostatin M promotes biphasic tissue factor expression in smooth muscle cells: evidence for Erk-1/2 activation. *Blood*, 97(3), 692-9.